ROLE OF GLI3 DURING INTRAMEMBRANOUS CALVARIAL BONE DEVELOPMENT

Lotta Veistinen

Orthodontics Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Diseases Clinicum Faculty of Medicine University of Helsinki

and

Doctoral Programme in Oral Sciences University of Helsinki

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Helsinki for public examination, in Lecture Hall 2 at Biomedicum Helsinki 1 (Haartmaninkatu 8) on 5th June, 2015 at 12 noon.

HELSINKI 2015

Supervised by:	Professor David Rice Orthodontics, Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Diseases
	University of Helsinki, Finland
Advisory committee:	Professor Irma Thesleff University of Helsinki, Finland
	and
	PhD Tiina Immonen University of Helsinki, Finland
Reviewers:	Docent Satu Kuure University of Helsinki, Finland
	and
	PhD Tiina Immonen University of Helsinki, Finland
Opponent:	Professor Martyn Cobourne King's College London, UK
Custodian:	Professor David Rice Orthodontics, Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Diseases University of Helsinki, Finland

ISBN 978-951-51-1207-1 (paperback) ISBN 978-951-51-1208-8 (PDF) ISSN 2342-3161 (print) ISSN 2342-317X (online) Press: Hansaprint, Vantaa 2015

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	5
ABBREVIATIONS	6
ABSTRACT	8
1. INTRODUCTION	9
2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	10
2.1 Calvarial development	10
2.1.1 Anatomy and origin	10
2.1.2 Skeletal patterning of the calvaria	12
2.1.3 Osteoblast differentiation and bone formation	13
2.1.4 Suture development	15
2.1.5 Abnormalities in calvarial development	16
2.1.6 Molecular regulation of calvarial development	18
2.1.7 Regulation of calvarial development by the brain, the meninges and the dura mater .	24
2.2 Hedgehog signalling	25
2.2.1 Hh signalling pathway	27
2.2.2 Role of Hh signalling during calvarial development	29
2.2.3 Role of Hh signalling during endochondral ossification	31
2.3 Fibroblast growth factor signalling	33
2.3.1 Role of Fgf signalling in calvarial development	34
3. AIMS OF THE STUDY	37
4. MATERIALS AND METHODS	38
4.1 Mating and genotyping	38
4.2 Tissue culture and bead implantation assays	38
4.3 Histological analyses	38
4.4 Skeletal staining	39
4.5 BrdU incorporation	39
4.6 In situ hybridisation	40
4.7 Protein isolation and immunoblotting	41
4.8 Immunohistochemistry	41
4.9 Calvarial osteoblasts and siRNA treatment	42
4.10 Statistical analyses	42
5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	44
5.1 Expression of Hh signalling pathway members in the Wt mouse calvaria (I, IV, V)	44
5.2 Loss of <i>Gli3</i> causes craniosynostosis in mice (I, II, IV, V)	45
5.2.1 Gli3 affects both proliferation and differentiation of osteoblasts (I, II, IV)	46
5.2.2 Abnormal cartilage formation in <i>Gli3</i> ^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice (I, IV)	47
5.2.3 Abnormal brain morphology of <i>Gli3</i> ^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice (II)	47
5.3 Interaction of Gli3 and Fgf signalling during calvarial development (I, III)	48

5.3.1 Role of Fgf signalling pathway in the calvaria (III)4	9
5.3.2 Fgf2 rescues craniosynostosis in the <i>Gli3</i> ^{Xt-J/Xt-J} calvaria (I)4	9
5.4 Genetically reducing <i>Runx2</i> expression from <i>Gli3</i> ^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice prevents premature suture fusion (IV)	19
5.4.1 Gli3 acts as a gatekeeper to control the differentiation of osteoprogenitors by regulating Bmp signalling cascade (IV)	50
5.5 Evidence that Gli3R – Runx2 – Ihh –feedback loop controls intramembranous ossification of calvarial bones (V)	51
5.5.1 Genetically reducing the dose of <i>Ihh</i> does not alter the <i>Gli3</i> ^{Xt-J/Xt-J} calvarial phenotype (V)	51
5.5.2 Gli3R regulates osteogenic fate at the periphery of the osteogenic front (IV, V)5	52
5.5.3 Runx2 is able to activate <i>Ihh</i> expression in the calvaria (V)	54
6. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	5
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	57
REFERENCES	8

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original articles, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- Rice DP, Connor EC, Veltmaat JM, Lana-Elola E, Veistinen L, Tanimoto Y, Bellusci S, Rice R (2010). *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice exhibit lambdoid suture craniosynostosis which results from altered osteoprogenitor proliferation and differentiation. *Human Molecular Genetics*. 19:3457-3467.
- **II** Veistinen L, Takatalo M, Tanimoto Y, Kesper DA, Vortkamp A, Rice DP (2012). Loss-offunction of *Gli3* in mice causes abnormal frontal bone morphology and premature synostosis of the interfrontal suture. *Frontiers in Physiology*. 3:121.
- **III** Veistinen L, Åberg T, Rice DP (2009). Convergent signalling through Fgfr2 regulates divergent craniofacial morphogenesis. *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part B: Molecular and Developmental Evolution*. 312B:351-360.
- **IV** Tanimoto Y, **Veistinen L**, Alakurtti K, Takatalo M, Rice DP (2012). Prevention of premature fusion of calvarial suture in *GLI-Kruppel family member 3 (Gli3)*-deficient mice by removing one allele of *Runt-related transcription factor 2 (Runx2)*. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 287:21429-21438.
- V Veistinen L, Mustonen T, Takatalo M, Tanimoto Y, Kesper DA, Vortkamp A, Rice DP. Gli3 acts as a gatekeeper in a Runx2-Ihh regulatory loop to control osteoprogenitor development in intramembranous bone condensations. Manuscript.

The original articles are reprinted with the kind permission of their copyright holders.

ABBREVIATIONS

А	Activator
AER	Apical ectodermal ridge
AP	Anterior-posterior
BAC	Bacterial artificial chromosome
bHLH	basic Helix-Loop-Helix
Bmp	Bone morphogenetic protein
Boc	Brother of Cdo
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
Cbfβ	Core binding factor beta
Cdo	CAM-related/downregulated by oncogenes
Ck1a	Casein kinase 1 alpha
CNC	Cranial neural crest
CNS	Central nervous system
Col1a1	Alpha-1 type I collagen
Dhh	Desert hedgehog
Disp	Dispatched
Dll	Delta-like
Dlx	Vertebrate homologue of Drosophila distal-less (Dll) gene
DMEM	Dulbecco's minimal essential medium
Е	Embryonic day
ECM	Extracellular matrix
En1	Engrailed 1
ENU	N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea
Eph	Ephrin receptor
EphA4	Ephrin type-A receptor 4
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
ERK	Extracellular-signal-regulated kinase
Fgf	Fibroblast growth factor
Fgfr	Fibroblast growth factor receptor
FL	Full-length
Fox	Forkhead box
Fuz	Fuzzy
Gas1	Growth arrest-specific 1
GCPS	Greig cephalopolysyndactyly syndrome
Gdf	Growth and differentiation factor
Gli	GLI-Kruppel family member
Gsk3ß	Glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta
Hh	Hedgehog
Hin1	Hedgehog interacting protein 1
Ihen	Integrin-binding sialoprotein
IET	Intraflagellar transport
Ibh	Indian hedgebog
Inn Ing1	Indian neugenog
Jagi Vif	Jaggeu I Kinasin family momber
MSC	iviesenchymai stem cell

Msx	Vertebrate homologue of <i>Drosophila</i> muscle segment (<i>Msh</i>) gene
NBCCS	Nevoid basal cell carcinoma syndrome
NCAM	Neural cell adhesion molecule
Oc	Osteocalcin
OF	Osteogenic front
Op	Osteopontin
Osx	Osterix
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
PHS	Pallister-Hall syndrome
РКА	Protein kinase A
PKC	Protein kinase C
PM	Paraxial mesoderm
Ptch	Patched
PTHrP	Parathyroid hormone related protein
R	Repressor
Rab23	Ras-associated protein 23
Runx2	Runt domain-containing transcription factor 2
Satb2	Special AT-rich sequence-binding protein 2
Shh	Sonic hedgehog
Ski	Skinny hedgehog
Smo	Smoothened
Spop	Speckle-type POZ protein
Sufu	Suppressor of fused
Tgfβ	Transforming growth factor beta
Tgfbr	Transforming growth factor beta receptor
Wnt	Vertebrate homologue of the Drosophila Wingless gene
Wt	Wild-type
ZPA	Zone of polarising activity

Gene names are stated in *italics* and protein names in roman. Mouse genes or proteins are in lower case letters and human in upper case letters.

ABSTRACT

The flat bones of the skull, the calvarial bones, develop by intramembranous ossification during which mesenchymal cells first condense and subsequently differentiate into osteoblasts. Sutures separate the calvarial bones and facilitate the synchronized growth of the underlying brain and the calvaria.

Hedgehog (Hh) signalling has an indisputable role in craniofacial development as well as during endochondral ossification. Yet, little is known about its function during intramembranous ossification of the calvarial bones. GLI-Kruppel family member 3 (Gli3) is a zinc-finger transcription factor that mediates Hh signalling. In the absence of Hh ligand Gli3 is proteolytically cleaved into a repressor that inhibits transcription of Hh target genes. Mutations in *GLI3* cause Greig cephalopolysyndactyly syndrome in humans, in which an infrequent, but significant feature is premature fusion of the metopic suture (interfrontal suture in mice). We have used *Gli3* loss-of-function mouse (*Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J}) as a model to investigate the effects of aberrant Hh signalling during calvarial development.

In my thesis I describe how loss of *Gli3* causes craniosynostosis of the lambdoid as well as interfrontal sutures in mice. Elevated proliferation and ectopic differentiation of osteoprogenitors underlies this phenomenon. We were able to rescue craniosynostosis in these mice by two mechanisms. Firstly, by elevating fibroblast growth factor (Fgf) signalling in the suture prior to its fusion by imbedding Fgf2 soaked beads in tissue culture. This induced *Twist1* expression, which inhibits function of ectopically expressed *Runx2*. Secondly, craniosynostosis was prevented by genetically reducing *Runx2* activity by generating *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J};*Runx2*^{+/-} mice, which normalized elevated levels of Bmp signalling in the affected sutures. We also put forward a model of how Hh signalling helps to maintain the integrity of bone margins during calvarial development. The repressor isoform of Gli3 inhibits Runx2 activity in the early osteoprogenitor cells. Runx2, on the other hand, activates *Ihh* expression in the mature osteoblasts, which then induces osteogenesis by inhibiting the function of Gli3 repressor.

Our findings indicate that Gli3 and Hh signalling have an important role in mediating the location of osteoblast differentiation and the speed of bone formation in the developing calvaria. Uncovering the cellular and molecular mechanisms that underlie normal calvarial development, as well as pathological processes, is a vital step in developing treatment strategies for patients with craniosynostosis.

1. INTRODUCTION

The calvarial bones, the flat bones of the skull, provide vital protection to the brain. They differ from the axial and appendicular skeleton in many ways. Calvarial bones develop mainly by intramembranous ossification and sutures that separate these bones are fibrous joints, which are a unique feature of the skull. Calvarial development occurs mainly during embryogenesis and is carefully synchronized with the development of the neighbouring tissues. Sutures are important sites of calvarial bone growth. In a condition called craniosynostosis sutures fuse prematurely and bone growth terminates at the site of the fusion. Craniosynostosis has fundamental consequences from early stages of a child's life resulting in uncoordinated compensatory craniofacial development including deformity of the calvaria, orbits and the face. Without prompt treatment, obliterated suture also causes neurological symptoms. To date treatment options are limited, involving major surgery, and often, repeated operations during growth. Craniosynostosis occurs in 1/2500 live-births, but aetiology is revealed in only fraction of the cases. It is thus essential to reveal the basic mechanisms of normal development as well as of pathological situations in order to develop more elaborate treatment options.

Hedgehog (Hh) signalling pathway has a vital role in development as well as tumorigenesis. Mounting evidence suggests that Hh signalling pathway has a role in calvarial development, and ultimately in maintaining suture patency, as mutations in several Hh pathway members cause craniosynostosis in humans and in mice. Only preliminary data, however, exists on how Hh signalling pathway functions during calvarial morphogenesis.

The ultimate aim of this thesis was to unravel the role of Hh signalling during calvarial development. We used mouse as a model to study the function of the Hh mediator, GLI-Kruppel family member 3 (Gli3), and the Hh ligand, Indian hedgehog (Ihh), in calvarial development. We also investigated interaction of Gli3 and Runt domain-containing transcription factor 2 (Runx2) and we studied interaction of Gli3 with other signalling pathways: fibroblast growth factor (Fgf) signalling and bone morphogenetic protein (Bmp) signalling.

The following literature review entails the current understanding of embryonic calvarial development focussing on the intramembranous bones, following an overview of the key signalling pathways and transcription factors known to regulate calvarial development. The Hh signalling pathway and Fgf signalling pathway are reviewed in more detail. The role of Hh signalling during limb development is also covered as compared to the intramembranous ossification the role of Hh signalling during during endochondral ossification is well known. As this thesis is based solely on findings obtained from mouse experiments all data presented will handle mice unless stated otherwise.

2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1 Calvarial development

The mammalian skull is made up of the neurocranium, which encapsulates and protects the brain, and the viscerocranium, which forms the face, enabling feeding and breathing functions. The neurocranium is composed of the superficial skull vault (calvaria) and the cranial base below the brain, which permits the passage of nerves and blood vessels. Calvaria is constructed from several flat bones, which are separated by the sutures. Bone growth occurs at these sutures, in the margins of the bones, facilitating synchronised growth with the underlying brain.

2.1.1 Anatomy and origin

Mammalian calvaria is mainly made up of five bones (Figure 1A). The paired frontal bones are anteriorly and are apically separated by the interfrontal suture (called metopic suture in humans). The coronal suture separates frontal bones from the parietal bones laterally. The sagittal suture lies between the pair of parietal bones apically. The single interparietal bone is situated posteriorly to the parietal bones, separated bilaterally by the lambdoid sutures. The intramembranous interparietal bone later fuses with the supraoccipital bone, which is formed by endochondral ossification, to form the posterior wall of the calvaria. In humans, the squamous part of the occipital bone represents the intramembranous interparietal bone, which fuses early with the supraoccipital bone forming the occipital bone. The squamous part of the temporal bone (squamosal) and the greater wing of the sphenoid bone (alisphenoid) also contribute to the lateral walls of the skull vault.

The majority of the calvarial bones are formed by intramembranous ossification between the dermal mesenchyme and the meninges, which separate the calvaria from the brain. The outermost meningeal layer is the dura mater made of dense fibrous tissue. External periosteal layer of the dura mater, the pericranium, is the endosteum covering the internal surface of the calvaria. It is continuous with the fibrous tissue in the calvarial sutures.

Calvarial bones develop from mesenchymal cells, which are derived from two distinct cell populations: the cranial neural crest (CNC) and the cephalic paraxial mesoderm (PM) (Figure 1B) (Couly et al., 1993; Jiang et al., 2002). Neural crest cells are a multipotent population of migratory cells, which form at the boundary between neural plate and non-neural ectoderm along the anterior-posterior (AP) length of the developing embryo during neurulation. PM is part of the mesoderm layer formed during gastrulation.

The frontal bones develop from the CNC, while the parietal bones are derived from the PM. The interparietal bone is a composite, its central portion being derived from the CNC and the lateral portions from the PM. The neural crest-mesoderm boundary lies between the frontal bone and the coronal suture, the coronal suture originating from the PM. The interfrontal and sagittal suture mesenchyme is derived from the CNC, while the lambdoid suture mesenchyme is derivative of the PM (Yoshida et al., 2008).



Figure 1. A) Schematic view of the anatomy of the human (top) and mouse (below) calvaria. af, anterior fontanelle; cs, coronal suture; f, frontal bone; gs, greater wing of sphenoid bone; if, interfrontal suture; ip, interparietal bone; ls, lambdoid suture; ms, metopic suture (interfrontal); n, nasal bone; o, occipital bone; p, parietal bone; pf, posterior fontanelle; so, supraoccipital bone; sqo, squamous part of occipital bone; ss, sagittal suture; st, squamous part of temporal bone.

B) Schematic view depicting the origin of calvarial bones in mice. CNC, cranial neural crest; PM, paraxial mesoderm.

2.1.2 Skeletal patterning of the calvaria

Calvarial bone development involves several phases: skeletal patterning and initial ossification of the bone anlages, followed by secondary growth of the bones at the bone margins as well as modelling and remodelling of the bones. During skeletal patterning, mesenchymal cells of CNC and PM origin first migrate to the frontonasal region by embryonic day (E) 9.5, where they form skeletogenic mesenchyme condensations. Most research on calvarial development has focused on the frontal and parietal bones. Their development is initiated at the supraorbital ridge where CNC and PM cells form rostral and caudal domains, respectively, between E10.5 and E11.5. From here, mesenchymal cells form skeletogenic mesenchyme condensations. Frontal bone precursors first move in caudal-to-rostral direction at E11.5 – E12.5 followed by apical migration at E13.5 (Yoshida et al., 2008).

Development of the interparietal bone remains ambiguous. In mammals, interparietal is formed from two pairs of ossification centres; the CNC derived medial pair and the PM derived lateral pair that fuse to form a single bone (Koyabu et al., 2012). CNC cells that contribute the interparietal bone migrate from the rostral hindbrain at E9.5 and localise to the surface ectoderm at E10.5. At E13.5 CNC cells are detected in the osteogenic mesenchyme, between the dermal and meningeal layers at the level of the cerebellum (Jiang et al., 2002; Yoshida et al., 2008).

CNC cells that form the calvarial structures arise at the cephalic region of the forebrain, the rostral midbrain and the hindbrain. They undergo epithelial-mesenchymal transition and subsequently migrate ventrally to colonize the frontonasal region. But what determines calvarial bone shape and location remains largely unknown. Hox homeodomain family of transcription factors that are vital regulators of skeletal patterning along the AP axis of the embryo are not expressed in the calvaria (Kmita and Duboule, 2003). On the contrary, ectopic expression of *Hoxa2* in the calvaria of avian embryo has been shown to inhibit calvarial bone development (Creuzet et al., 2002). There is evidence that some neural crest cells are precommitted to a specific lineage before the onset of migration, but majority differentiate as a result of the signals that they encounter during migration (Krispin et al., 2010; McKinney et al., 2013). Although during skeletogenesis of many craniofacial bones epithelial-mesenchymal interaction initiates condensation formation (Tyler and Hall, 1977; Hall, 1981; Tyler, 1983), there is no evidence to date of this phenomenon occurring in the calvaria. Signals from the dura mater are, however, known to influence calvarial bone development (Greenwald et al., 2000a; Greenwald et al., 2000b).

Factors that influence specifically calvarial bone condensation formation are yet unidentified to a large extent. Most data concerning condensations are obtained from the limb or craniofacial skeleton. Location-specific signals initiate condensation formation. Although the source and nature of these signals is largely unknown transforming growth factor β (Tgf β) is able to initiate condensation formation by activating the glycoprotein fibronectin, which in turn regulates neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM). NCAM is also a glycoprotein expressed on the surface of mesenchymal cells and it is important in maintaining the condensation state. Tgf β also stimulates *N-cadherin* expression in mesenchymal cells that recruits cells to the condensations (Chimal-Monroy and Díaz de León, 1999). Condensation grows through cell proliferation. Proliferation is actively downregulated by cell surface proteoglycan receptor, Syndecan-3 that inhibits NCAM by binding to fibronectin and permitting differentiation of the mesenchymal cells. *NCAM* expression is yet again associated with osteoblast differentiation, while its expression must be downregulated during chondrogenesis (reviewed in Hall and Miyake, 2000).

2.1.3 Osteoblast differentiation and bone formation

During the second phase of calvarial bone development the mesenchymal cells of the condensations differentiate into osteoblasts. Differentiation begins at the site of the initial condensation in the supraorbital region, where preosteoblasts are first detected at E12.5 (Rice et al., 2003). From here, the differentiation wave proceeds apically, while growth of the bone anlage continues by proliferation of preosteoblasts. Mineralisation of the bone does not begin until the upgrowth of the bone anlage is complete, at E14.5. It is also initiated at the supraorbital region and proceeds in radial pattern (Ishii et al., 2003; Yoshida et al., 2008).

Once a miniature form of the bone is formed, the growth of the calvarial bones toward each other continues at the sutural margins of the bone rudiments, in the osteogenic fronts (OF) (Figure 2). This marks the third phase of calvarial bone development that also continues postnatally. The undifferentiated cells of the sutural mesenchyme were originally thought to account for the growth of the bones by getting incorporated into the OF after attaining osteoblastic fate. However, evidently only a fraction of cells of the sutural mesenchyme differentiate into osteoblasts (Lana-Elola et al., 2007). Mesenchymal osteogenic precursor cells that form the OFs are also derived from the supraorbital region of the bone rudiment from where they migrate towards the suture mesenchyme until an appropriate stimulus inhibits their progression (Yoshida et al., 2008; Ting et al., 2009; Roybal et al., 2007). It, however, is not clear whether OF is the leading edge of the migrating and proliferating cells of the bone rudiment, or if OF is established by a secondary wave of osteoblast induction and proliferation once the osteogenic mesenchyme has migrated apically (Holmes et al., 2009).



Figure 2. Schematic view of the osteogenic fronts (OF) and the suture. OFs are at the sutural edge of the developing calvarial bones, where active growth of the bone occurs. Mesenchymal stem cells migrate to the leading edge of the osteogenic condensation and begin to differentiate towards mature osteoblasts in the OFs. Mature osteoblasts reside on the surface of the bone. Part of the mature osteoblasts differentiates further into osteocytes or bone lining cells. Osteoclasts participate in modelling and remodelling of the bones. Sutural mesenchymal cells lie between two adjacent calvarial bone margins.

Osteoblasts and chondroblasts are both derived from common mesenchymal precursor cells, which first differentiate into skeletal precursors, characterised by *Sox9* expression (Figure 3) (Akiyama et al., 2005). The chosen differentiation lineage these skeletal precursors follow depends on the given transcriptional signals these precursors receive. Osteoblast differentiation can be divided into three stages: mesenchymal precursor cells, preosteoblasts and osteoblasts. Preosteoblasts are a heterogeneous group of proliferating cells. All preosteoblasts express *Runx2* and at more advanced stage they also express *osterix (Osx;* also known as *Sp7). Osteopontin (Op)* is also expressed by preosteoblasts secrete extracellular matrix (ECM), rich in type I collagen, called osteoid that mineralises through accumulation of hydroxyapatite, which is calcium phosphate. Part of the osteoblasts become trapped within the bone matrix and differentiate into osteocytes, which account for about 95% of cells in the mature bone tissue. Osteocytes regulate bone remodelling in response to both mechanical and hormonal signals. Rest of the osteoblasts either undergo apoptosis or become inactive bone-lining cells (reviewed by Bonewald, 2011).

In addition to osteoblast-mediated bone formation, osteoclasts are critical in remodelling the three-dimensional microarchitecture of the calvarial bones (Takahashi et al., 2002). Osteoclasts are haematopoietically derived cells that resorb bone.



Figure 3. Schematic diagram of osteoblast differentiation. Osteoblasts differentiate from multipotent mesenchymal precursor cells. Mesenchymal cells first differentiate into preosteoblasts, which are a heterogeneous group of proliferating cells before reaching the mature osteoblast stage. Part of the osteoblasts differentiates further into osteocytes. Different factors either stimulate or inhibit osteoblast differentiation at different stages (refer to the text for details).

2.1.3.1 Role of Runx2 in osteoblast differentiation

Runx2 belongs to the Runx-family, consisting of Runx1 – 3, which are master regulators of different cell lineages. These transcription factors form heterodimers with transcriptional co-activator core binding factor β (Cbf β) and bind to a consensus DNA sequence. Runx2 is a master osteogenic transcription factor as it is the most upstream molecule known in osteoblast differentiation and *Runx2* null allele mice show complete lack of osteoblasts (Komori et al., 1997; Otto et al., 1997). Haploinsuficiency of *Runx2* in mice and humans results in delayed closure of the sutures and fontanelles, which is characteristic of cleidocranial dysplasia in humans (Otto et al., 1997; Mundlos et al., 1997). On the contrary, when *Runx2* expression is activated early in the mesenchyme cells at E9.5, not only do calvarial osteoblasts differentiate prematurely, but sutures also fail to form resulting in multiple craniosynostoses (Maeno et al., 2011).

Runx2 is proposed to be the key coordinator of cell lineage specification, proliferation and growth. This is achieved in part by regulation of ribosomal RNA genes and ribosomal biogenesis (Young et al., 2007). Interestingly, Runx2 concomitantly inhibits maturation of osteoblasts, keeping preosteoblasts in a proliferative state and maintaining a supply of preosteoblasts. Unless *Runx2* expression is downregulated before the final stage of osteoblast differentiation, osteopenia results (Liu et al., 2001).

Runx2 is able to induce the expression of major bone matrix protein genes; *alpha-1 type I collagen (Col1a1), Op, integrin-binding sialoprotein (Ibsp)* and *Oc* in preosteoblasts, but Runx2 is not evidently essential for their expression (Komori, 2005). Runx2 regulates Osx, another transcription factor that is required to commit osteoblastic precursors to become osteoblasts and which later regulates terminal osteoblast differentiation (Nakashima et al., 2002). Osteoblasts also fail to differentiate in *Osx* deficient mice. Osx is downstream of Runx2 and *Osx* fails to be expressed in *Runx2* null allele mice, but it is also regulated by Runx2-independent mechanism. Bmp2 is able to stimulate *Osx* expression by activating Dlx5 in the absence of Runx2 in cell culture (Lee et al., 2003b).

Runx2 has two major isoforms, which are activated by individual promoters: Runx2-I (product of the proximal promoter (P2)) and Runx2-II (product of the distal promoter (P1)) (Xiao et al., 1998). The amino acid sequence of Runx2-I is almost identical to that of Runx2-II. The two isoforms share a common 509-amino-acid sequence, but a 5-amino-acid N-terminal sequence of Runx2-I differs from the 19-amino-acid N-terminal sequence of Runx2-II (Stock and Otto, 2005). The effect of this distinct N-terminal amino acid composition on their function in bone development is not well understood. *Runx2-I* is proposed to be involved in the initial commitment step as it is expressed in the sutural mesenchyme and in the preosteoblasts of the OF. *Runx2-II*, on the other hand, is expressed by more mature preosteoblasts that already express *Op* and *Oc*, and by mature osteoblasts. It is, thus, thought to act during later stages of osteoblast differentiation (Park et al., 2001; Choi et al., 2002).

2.1.4 Suture development

Sutures are fibrous joints consisting of mesenchymal cells and fibroblasts between two calvarial bone ends (Figure 2) (Opperman, 2000). Sutures are growth centres and thus need to remain patent. They also facilitate childbirth by allowing reshaping of the head. In mice, the posterior part of the interfrontal suture is the only suture that fuses this occurring during the first month of post-natal life. Other calvarial sutures remain patent (Bradley et al., 1996). In humans, the metopic suture also fuses first. It begins closing during the second year and is fused by 7 years of age. Most human calvarial sutures fuse at the third or fourth decade of life.

Sutures not only differ in fusion timing. They can be broadly divided into two categories depending on the conformation and location of the suture. The sagittal, interfrontal and lambdoid sutures belong to the first group, in which the sutural margins of the adjacent bones face each other. Bones are initially widely separate and the mesenchymal gap between them gradually narrow forming the suture (Morris-Kay and Wilkie, 2005). These sutures overlie interlobar spaces of the brain. The interfrontal and sagittal sutures overlie the midline between the cerebral hemispheres and the olfactory lobes, while the lambdoid suture is superior to the area between the cerebral hemispheres and the cerebral mesenchyme.

The coronal suture represents the second group. The suture morphology differs in that the parietal bone margin overlaps the frontal bone margin. This overlap is present from the initial stage of mesenchymal condensation formation at E9.5 in mice. This neural crest–mesoderm boundary is initially situated over the telencephalon–diencephalon border. However, when cerebral hemispheres grow they extend caudally beneath the suture so that in the final anatomical relationship the suture lies over the cerebral hemisphere (Jiang et al., 2002). The coronal suture is thus not situated over an anatomical landmark of the brain.

Unanswered questions concerning the suture formation still remain. Is the suture formation prepatterned or do signals arising from neighbouring tissues inhibit the suture mesenchyme from ossifying? What governs the location of the sutures? It was previously thought that the suture formation was initiated when two edges of the growing bones approached each other and that sutural mesenchyme had osteoblastic fate. Novel evidence, however, indicates that suture morphogenesis may be traced to a considerably earlier stage of calvarial development (E10.5–12.5 in mice), preceding the expansion of adjacent skeletal rudiments. *Msx1* and *Msx2* are required to be expressed in the CNC from E10.5 onwards to inhibit ossification in a normally non-osteogenic, CNC-derived cell layer and thus prevent heterotopic ossification in the interfrontal suture (Roybal et al., 2010). By fate-mapping studies, Deckelbaum et al. (2012) also showed that mesenchymal cells of the PM origin migrate between E11 and E13.5 from the supraorbital region to form the coronal suture. The terminal fate of this sutural mesenchyme during physiological or pathological suture fusion remains unknown.

It is also noteworthy that sutures are not just passive, mechanical barriers between the bones (Lenton et al., 2005). Coronal suture has recently been proposed to act as a growth centre that actively regulates proliferation and differentiation rate of osteoprogenitors in the OFs (Deckelbaum et al., 2012).

New data indicate that postnatally sutures become an indispensable source of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), which give rise to the periosteum, dura as well as osteoblasts in the calvaria and are vital for tissue turnover and injury repair. Destruction of these MSCs postnatally leads to synostosis of all of the calvarial sutures (Zhao et al., 2015).

2.1.5 Abnormalities in calvarial development

Abnormalities affecting calvarial bone development, discussed below, include premature suture fusion, i.e. craniosynostosis, which is characterised by heterotopic ossification and, on the other hand, delay in suture closure involving reduced ossification.

2.1.5.1 Craniosynostosis

Craniosynostosis is a pathological, heterogeneous condition where one or more of the calvarial sutures fuse prematurely. Fusion may be partial or complete, but never the less, it terminates growth at the site of the fusion leading to asymmetrical growth of the skull as other sutures compensate,

while trying to accommodate the expansion of the underlying brain. Neurological symptoms do, however, develop unless treatment is initiated. Currently, treatment inevitably involves surgical emancipation of the fused suture. The affected suture also tends to re-ossify as it is impossible to eliminate the aberrant process that originally led to synostosis.

The incidence of craniosynostosis is estimated to be 1 in 2000 to 3000 live births, including the syndromic cases, as well as the more common non-syndromic cases (Wilkie and Morriss-Kay, 2001; Lenton et al., 2005). The sagittal suture is most frequently involved (40–55%) followed by the coronal suture (20–25%) and the metopic suture (5–15%). The lambdoid synostosis is rare (0–5%), even the multiple suture synostosis is more common (5–15%) (Cohen and MacLean, 2000; Rice, 2008a).

The aetiology of the non-sydromic craniosynostosis remains poorly understood, although they account for about 70% of the cases. Mutations in *EphrinA4 (EFNA4)*, *Fibroblast growth factor receptors 1, -2 and -3 (FGFR1, -2, -3)* and *TWIST1* have been associated with non-syndromic craniosynostosis (Merrill et al., 2006; Lattanzi et al., 2012). Craniosynostosis is a clinical feature of at least 150 syndromes. Mutations in *FGFR1, -2, -3, TWIST1, EphrinB1 (EFNB1)*, *Msh homeobox 2* (*MSX2*) and *RAS-associated protein 23 (RAB23)* unequivocally cause craniosynostosis (Passos-Bueno et al., 2008). *Fibrillin1 (FBN1)* (Sood et al., 1996), *Transforming growth factor* β *receptor type I and II (TGFBR1, -2)* (Loeys et al., 2005), *Cytochrome p450 reductase (POR)* (Flück et al., 2004) and *GLI3* (McDonald-McGinn et al., 2010; Hurst et al., 2011) have also been occasionally associated with premature suture fusion, but penetrance has been low. Mutations in these 12 genes account for approximately 30% of the syndromic cases (Cohen and MacLean, 2000; Rice, 2008a; Passos-Bueno et al., 2008). At least another 10% of the syndromic cases are explained by the chromosomal alterations (duplications, deletions, copy number variants etc.) (Passos-Bueno et al., 2008). Genetic analysis of syndromic craniosynostosis has revealed many of the important pathways participating in suture development and closure (Passos-Bueno et al., 2008; Ting et al., 2009).

FGFR-mutations cause most of the syndromic craniosynostoses. They are inherited autosomally dominantly and confer gain-of-function to the mutated receptor. Several de novo *FGFR*-mutations originate exclusively paternally and incidence increases with father's age (Moloney et al., 1996; Glaser et al., 2000). FGFR-related craniosynostoses are discussed in more detail in the chapter 2.3, regarding the Fgf signalling pathway (refer to page 33). Mutations in *TWIST1* and *MSX2* are also autosomally dominantly inherited, while *EFNB1*-mutations, causing craniofrontonasal syndrome, are linked to the X-chromosome and paradoxally affecting mostly females (~95%). Carpenter syndrome, caused by mutations in *RAB23*, is the only autosomally recessive condition.

Non-syndromic craniosynostosis may also be caused by extrinsic factors such as metabolic causes. Vitamin D deficiency and hyperthyroidism, for example, have both been associated with premature suture fusion (McCarthy and Reid, 1980; Hirano et al., 1995). Also some brain malformations, such as, microcephaly and encephalocele, predispose to craniosynostosis.

It is important to distinguish deformational plagiocephaly from craniosynostosis. Deformational plagiocephaly refers to asymmetrical head shape caused by repeated pressure to the same area of the head, although sutures remain patent. Intrauterine pressure, muscular torticollis, prematurity and back sleeping have all been associated with abnormal head shape. Experimental studies have revealed that calvarial mesenchymal cells do respond to mechanical strain. Mesenchymal cells express markers of proliferation and differentiation in response to tensile or cyclic loading, while compressive loading favors osteogenesis (Kopher and Mao, 2003; Collins et al., 2005; Vij and Mao, 2006).

2.1.5.2 Delay in suture closure

Another anomaly affecting the calvaria is delayed suture closure, which is an opposite phenomenon to premature suture fusion. Delayed suture closure is a feature of cleidocranial dysplasia, caused by heterozygous loss-of-function mutation in *RUNX2* (Otto et al., 1997; Mundlos et al., 1997). In cleidocranial dysplasia, intramembranous ossification of calvarial as well as clavicle bones is defected. All the calvarial bones are smaller in size and the fontanelles are larger.

Related condition is enlarged parietal foramina, which is an inherited condition caused by mutation in either *MSX2* or *ALX4* (Wilkie et al., 2000; Mavrogiannis et al., 2001). It is characterised by symmetrical and circular enlarged openings in the two parietal bones. The size of the foramen varies, ranging from a few millimetres to several centimetres wide. The condition is due to impaired parietal bone ossification. Parietal foramina are normally seen in parietal bones during the foetal period, but they usually close by the fifth month of pregnancy.

2.1.6 Molecular regulation of calvarial development

There are several signalling molecule families that direct the development of different organs and which are conserved among different species. A signalling family consists of extracellular ligands, cell membrane receptors, intracellular signalling factors, transcription factors, co-factors and antagonists. These molecule families are named after soluble growth factors that control the activities of cells through intercellular communication even over long distances. The growth factor signal binds to its receptor on the cell surface in the recipient cell, which activates an intracellular transduction cascade leading to target gene transcription in the nucleus.

The role of the important growth factor families that regulate calvarial development is described below, apart from Hh and Fgf signalling pathways, which have been dedicated their own chapters owing to their important role in this thesis. Following the growth factor families, important transcription factors in calvarial development are introduced.

2.1.6.1 TGFβ Superfamily signalling pathways

The Tgf β superfamily includes Tgf β s, Bmps, and Growth and differentiation factors (Gdfs) that all mediate calvarial development at multiple stages. These Tgf β superfamily ligands form dimers that bind to heterodimeric receptor complexes that consist of type I and type II receptor subunits with serine/threonine kinase domains. Ligand binding activates type II receptor, which in turn activates the type I receptor by phosphorylation, initiating a Smad-dependent signalling cascade that induces or represses transcriptional activity. These Smad proteins are intracellular mediators of the Tgf β superfamily signalling, which are also phosphorylated upon activation (Whitman 1998; Sakou et al., 1999; Massagué and Chen, 2000). Smads 1, 5 and 8 mediate Bmp signalling, while Smads 2 and 3 mediate Tgf β signalling (Massagué and Chen, 2000; Ross and Hill, 2008). Smads 6 and 7 are inhibitory Smads, with Smad6 regulating Bmp signalling and Smad7 Tgf β signalling (Massagué and Chen, 2000).

Tgf β and Bmps are both involved in the earliest step of ossification, in initiating the skeletogenic condensations. Bmps are associated with growth of the condensations i.e. recruitment of cells, while noggin, an antagonist of Bmps, has an important role in restricting condensation size and duration. In the absence of noggin condensations become hyperplastic. Since neither the initial condensation phase, nor the cell proliferation is affected, it has been proposed that the expansion of the condensation is due to increased recruitment of cells (Hall and Miyake, 2000). Tgf β signalling also plays a vital role in mesenchymal osteoprogenitor maintenance and proliferation during bone development (Derynck and Akhurst, 2007). In the frontal bone anlage it has been shown to control

proliferation by activating Fgf signalling (Sasaki et al., 2006). Conditional inactivation of the receptor Tgfbr2 in the calvarial mesenchyme in mice leads to complete absence of interparietal and parietal bones as well as hypoplastic frontal bones (Spagnoli et al., 2007).

Tgfβ superfamily also participates in determining the osteogenic fate of the condensations. Both Tgfβ1 and Bmp2 stimulate *Runx2* expression and function (Ryoo et al., 2006). Bmp2 specifically regulates *Runx2-II* and *Osx* expression by activating Dlx5 (Lee et al., 2003a; Lee et al., 2003b). It is important to note that neither *Dlx5* nor *Osx* are expressed in the skeletal primordium of *Runx2^{-/-}* mice indicating that Bmp signalling is involved in regulating a later stage of osteoblast differentiation (Ryoo et al., 2006). Bmp and Tgfβ signalling also promote osteoblast differentiation by stimulating the expression of *Msx1*, *Msx2* and *Dlx5* (Bei and Maas, 1998; Sasaki et al., 2006). Overactivation of Bmp signalling, however, directs cells to differentiate toward the chondrogenic lineage, by inducing *Sox9* expression, while inhibiting *Runx2* and *Op* expression (Abzhanov et al., 2007).

Bmp2, *Bmp4* and *Bmp7* are all expressed in the frontal bone rudiment (Kim et al., 1998; Rice et al., 1999). Conditional deletion of *Bmp2*, *Bmp4* and *Bmp7* from the CNC leads to development of very truncated frontal bones (Bonilla-Claudio et al., 2012). Bonilla-Claudio et al. (2012) showed that *special AT-rich sequence-binding protein 2* (*Satb2*) is a direct target of Smad1/5. Satb2 enhances osteoblast lineage development by regulating *Runx2* and *activating transcription factor 4* expression. *Bmp2* is also expressed in the OFs of the calvarial bones where it controls differentiation and proliferative preosteoblasts in the OF into more mature osteoblasts in the mineralizing bone involves a reduction in phosphorylated Smad1/5/8, which indicates decreased Bmp signalling (Ting et al., 2009). On the other hand, conditional inactivation of *Tgfbr2* from the CNC cells has indicated that Tgfβ signalling is required for the terminal osteoblast differentiation in the frontal bones (Sasaki et al., 2006).

All members of the Tgf β superfamily have been implicated in calvarial suture closure. Bmp2, Bmp4 and Bmp7 have been proposed to promote suture fusion by activating their downstream targets Dlx5 and Msx2 (Holleville et al., 2003; Rice et al., 2003). Recent evidence has shown that enhanced Bmp signalling through the Bmp type IA receptor in the CNC causes craniosynostosis of the interfrontal suture in mice (Komatsu et al., 2013).

The antagonist *Noggin* is expressed in the sutural mesenchyme of patent sutures enforcing suture patency by blocking the positive-feed-back loop of Runx2-induced Bmp2 stimulating *Runx2* expression. Noggin is downregulated by Fgf signalling during suture fusion (Warren et al., 2003). Noggin can also bind to Gdf6 and inhibit its signalling ability (Chang and Hemmati-Brivanlou, 1999). Gdf6 participates in coronal suture development, as in *Gdf6* null allele mice, coronal suture is not established, the primordia of frontal and parietal bones being fused already before the onset of ossification (Clendenning and Mortlock, 2012; Settle et al., 2003). The function of *Gdf6* is not yet fully revealed, but it is known that it is expressed in the frontal bone primordia.

Gain-of-function mutations in the $TGF\beta$ receptors TGFBR1 and TGFBR2 in humans cause Loeys-Dietz syndrome, an autosomal dominant aortic aneurysm syndrome, of which many patients have craniosynostosis (Roth et al., 1997; Loeys et al., 2005). These mutations evidently increase cellular response to TGF β . Increased Tgf β signalling has also been associated with posterior interfrontal suture fusion in rodents and downregulation of Tgf β signalling is required for suture patency (Opperman et al., 1993; Opperman et al., 1995). Smad7 maintains suture patency by downregulating Tgf β signalling by inhibiting Smad2/3 activation (Zhou et al., 2014). Tgf β signalling has also been suggested to regulate suture closure through the Erk-MAPK pathway. Opperman et al. were able to hinder $Tgf\beta2$ -induced suture closure by an Erk kinase inhibitor, which blocked Erk1/2 function (Opperman et al., 2006).

2.1.6.2 Canonical Wnt signalling pathway

Three wingless-type MMTV integration site (Wnt) signalling pathways have been characterised: the canonical Wnt pathway, the non-canonical planar cell polarity pathway, and the non-canonical Wnt/calcium pathway. The canonical Wnt pathway utilises β -catenin through which it regulates gene transcription, while the non-canonical planar cell polarity pathway, which controls the cytoskeleton and the non-canonical Wnt/calcium pathway that regulates calcium inside the cell, are both β -catenin independent pathways (reviewed by Nusse, 2012).

The canonical Wnt signalling pathway is activated by the binding of the Wnt-protein ligand to a transmembrane receptor called Frizzled to activate intracellular cascade that is transduced by unphosphorylated β -catenin. β -catenin is stabilised and enters the nucleus where it binds to Tcf/Lef transcription factors to activate the expression of Wnt-target genes. In the absence of Wnt-ligands, β catenin is phosphorylated and degraded by a destruction complex, which includes axin, adenomatosis polyposis coli, protein phosphatase 2A, glycogen synthase kinase 3 (Gsk3), and casein kinase 1 α (Ck1 α). Activated Frizzled receptor interacts with another transmembrane protein, LRP, which in turn binds to axin and thus restricts the function of the destruction complex (Logan and Nusse, 2004; Moon et al., 2004; MacDonald et al., 2009).

Canonical Wnt signalling has an important role in calvaria development from initial stage onwards as conditional deletion of β -catenin from neural crest cells results in a complete loss of calvarial bones and dramatic brain malformation indicating that β -catenin has a role in neural crest cell survival and/or differentiation (Brault et al., 2001).

In mesenchymal condensations Wnt/ β -catenin signalling is required to determine osteoblastic fate. When β -catenin is absent from the condensations cells that normally differentiate into dermis and calvarial bones acquire cartilaginous fate (Day et al., 2005; Tran et al., 2010). Normally β -catenin represses chondrogenesis by activating *Twist1* expression in the calvarial mesenchymal condensations, which in turn inhibits *Sox9* expression (Goodnough et al., 2012). Although there is evidence that Wnt/ β -catenin signalling is able to stimulate *Runx2* expression, it is not obligatory for *Runx2* expression. When β -catenin is conditionally deleted in the head from E11.5-12.5, *Runx2* is expressed, although mesenchymal cells fail to differentiate further into functional osteoblasts (Gaur et al., 2005; Tran et al., 2010). β -catenin also promotes proliferation of osteoprogenitors by activating cyclin D (Mirando et al., 2010).

On the other hand, high levels of Wnt/ β -catenin signalling evidently inhibit ossification of embryonic calvarial mesenchyme. During posterior interfrontal suture closure, which occurs by endochondral ossification, there is a sharp decrease in canonical Wnt signalling and this decrease is not detected in the patent sagittal suture (Quarto et al., 2010). Endochondral ossification is proposed to be initiated by decrease in *Twist1* expression due to downregulation of Wnt signalling leading to chondrogenesis (Behr et al., 2010).

Axin2 is a transcriptional target of Wnt signalling and also functions as an inhibitor of Wnt signalling, among others. The role of Axin2 in calvarial development is controversial. It is expressed in CNC cells, in the OFs and in the sutural mesenchyme. It has been shown to repress osteoprogenitor proliferation and osteoblast differentiation (Yu et al., 2005). Deletion of *Axin2* in mice causes premature fusion of the interfrontal suture at an early postnatal stage, evidently due to elevated Bmp signalling, which in turn controls β -catenin activity (Yu et al., 2005; Liu et al., 2007). To support this, feedback regulation has also been shown to exist between Runx2 and Axin2 as in mesenchymal progenitor cells Axin2 inhibits Wnt/ β -catenin signalling, and thus inhibits Wnt/ β -catenin mediated *Runx2* activation. Runx2, on the other hand, represses *Axin2* transcription during early stages of osteoprogenitor cell commitment (McGee-Lawrence et al., 2013). There is, however, novel and contradicting evidence to show that *Axin2* deletion has an opposite effect on frontal bone

development leading to a delay in ossification and absence of posterior interfrontal suture fusion (Behr et al., 2013).

Wnt5a is a Wnt-ligand that is able to inhibit as well as activate Wnt/β -catenin signalling depending on the location and timing. *Wnt5a* overexpression in mice causes induction of Wnt/ β -catenin signalling in the meninges, which has been proposed to cause reduced calvarial ossification at E18.5 (van Amerongen et al., 2012).

In more mature bone, canonical Wnt signalling has been shown to affect bone homeostasis and influence bone mass by activating osteoblasts and inhibiting osteoclasts (Glass et al., 2005). Disruption of β -catenin signalling in osteoblasts causes osteopenia and increased numbers of osteoclasts in postnatal mice (Holmen et al., 2005).

2.1.6.3 Notch signalling pathway

The mammalian notch signalling pathway consists of four single-pass transmembrane receptors (Notch1-4) and five canonical ligands: Jagged 1 (Jag1), Jag2, Delta-like 1 (Dll1), Dll3 and Dll4. Notch ligands are also transmembrane proteins and so the receptor activation requires direct cell-to-cell contact. Ligand binding activates the receptor and an intracellular part of the receptor is cleaved off and translocated to the nucleus, where it binds to the DNA-binding protein CBF1/Suppressor of Hairless/LAG-1 and activates the transcription of Notch target genes (reviewed in Andersson et al., 2011).

Notch signalling has a vital role during development in boundary formation and cell fate determination. Increased activation of Notch pathway in the neural crest cells in mice (Wnt1Cre;Rosa(Notch)) causes abnormal and deficient neural crest cell migration leading to severe craniofacial malformations including exencephaly (Mead and Yutzey, 2012).

Notch signalling also contributes to coronal suture formation as disruption of notch ligand, *Jag1*, in mice and in humans (Alagille syndrome) alike, causes craniosynostosis of the coronal suture (Yen et al., 2010; Kamath et al., 2002). Deletion of *Jag1* from the PM-cells of the coronal suture, where it is normally expressed, alters the identity of the sutural mesenchymal cells from E12.5 onwards and disrupts the boundary between osteogenic and non-osteogenic cells. *Notch2* expression and Notch signalling activity were concomitantly increased in the sutural mesenchyme. Yen et al. revealed that Jag1 and Notch2 are both downstream effectors of Twist1 in the developing coronal suture (Yen et al., 2010).

Notch signalling also affects calvarial osteogenic cells by keeping them in the proliferating preosteoblast state, restricting further differentiation prior to Osx activation (Hilton et al., 2008). Decreased proliferation has been proposed to cause widened interfrontal suture and reduced frontal bone formation at E18.5 in mice that lack Notch signalling from the neural crest cells (Wnt1Cre;RBP-J(f/f)) (Mead and Yutzey et al., 2012).

2.1.6.4 Eph-ephrin signalling pathway

Ephrin receptors (ephs) are receptor tyrosine kinases, which are activated by ephrin ligands. Both Ephs and ephrin ligands are transmembrane proteins that require direct cell-cell communication for signal transduction. Ephs have a unique capacity of bidirectional signalling that affect both receptorand ephrin-expressing cells (reviewed in Lisabeth et al., 2013). Eph-ephrin signalling is a critical regulator of embryonic development including axon guidance, formation of tissue boundaries, cell migration, and segmentation.

Anti-adhesive interaction, where eph repulses the ephrin ligand, is proposed to play a significant role in restricting cell mixing across boundaries (Poliakov et al., 2004). Indeed, deletion of *ephrin type-A receptor 4 (EphA4)* in mice causes premature fusion of the coronal suture (Merrill et al., 2006; Ting et al., 2009). Likewise, mutations in ephrin ligands: *EFNA4* and *EFNB1*

(Craniofrontonasal syndrome), are known to cause craniosynostosis of the coronal suture in humans (Twigg et al., 2004; Wieland et al., 2004; Merrill et al., 2006).

Eph-ephrin signalling functions downstream of Twist1 and Msx2 to regulate the apical migration of osteoprogenitor cells from the frontal and parietal bone primordia in the supraorbital ridge to the leading margins of the developing bones. Concomitantly it inhibits these osteoprogenitor cells from entering the coronal suture (Merrill et al., 2006; Ting et al., 2009).

2.1.6.5 Twist1

Twist1, basic Helix-loop-Helix (bHLH) transcription factor, is a critical regulator of calvarial development. *Twist1*-null allele mice die by E11.5 exhibiting major craniofacial defects (Chen and Behringer, 1995). Twist1 is required for early migration and survival of cranial mesenchyme and for proper osteogenic differentiation of both PM and CNC cells, as well as for reciprocal tissue interaction. Conditional deletion of *Twist1* from CNC causes complete failure of the frontal and supraoccipital bones to develop, and only remnants of the parietal and interparietal bones are formed (Bildsoe et al., 2009). Likewise, conditional deletion of *Twist1* from PM leads to absence of parietal and interparietal bones, but also the size of frontal bones is severely reduced. Twist1 was also found to maintain cells derived from PM in a mesenchymal progenitor state and to inhibit transition of these cells to an epithelial architecture (Bildsoe et al., 2013).

Twist1 has a critical role in maintaining boundaries between osteogenic and non-osteogenic compartments in the calvaria (Ting et al., 2009). *Twist1*-heterozygous mice (*Twist1*^{+/-}) present a postnatally occurring synostosis of the coronal suture, as well as the lambdoid suture associated with enlarged interparietal bone (Bourgeois et al., 1998; Carver et al., 2002; Ting et al., 2009). *Twist1* is expressed from E9.5 onwards in the calvarial mesenchyme to control intramembranous bone progenitor specification. Twist1 inhibits Runx2 function by interacting with its binding domain. Osteoblast differentiation in the mesenchymal condensations is not initiated until E13 when *Twist1* expression is decreased. The calvarial defects in *Twist1*^{+/-} mice may be in part explained by the genetic interaction of *Twist1* and *Runx2* as in *Twist1*^{+/-};*Runx2*^{+/-} mice the calvarial development is normalized (Bialek et al., 2004).

Twist1^{+/-} mouse models the Saethre-Chotzen syndrome, which is caused by loss-of-function mutations in *TWIST1* and features a coronal synostosis (El Ghouzzi et al., 1997; Howard et al., 1997). Most research has thus focussed on the coronal suture, where *Twist1* is expressed in the sutural mesenchyme and in the OFs of the frontal and parietal bones (Rice et al., 2000; Johnson et al., 2000). The 'Twist box' that controls Runx2 function does not explain coronal craniosynostosis in Saethre–Chotzen syndrome patients as *TWIST1* missense mutations cluster in the bHLH region of the protein only (Morris-Kay and Wilkie, 2005). Twist1 has been shown to be vital in maintaining the neural-crest mesoderm boundary during coronal suture development. In *Twist1*^{+/-} mice, neural crest cells cross the boundary into the mesoderm domain of the coronal suture (Merrill et al., 2006). Twist1 controls the guidance of migratory osteogenic mesenchymal cells to the leading margin of the frontal and parietal bones and excludes osteogenic cells from the coronal suture by activating Notch signalling (Jag1) and Eph-ephrin signalling (EphA4) (Merrill et al., 2006; Ting et al., 2009; Yen et al., 2010).

Twist1 also regulates suture organisation and osteoblast differentiation in the OFs by controlling Fgf signalling. It does this by forming functional homodimers as well as heterodimers with bHLH E-proteins, which are ubiquitously present. These dimers have distinct activities and regulate the expression of different sets of genes. Homodimers are present in the OFs, where they upregulate Fgfr2 expression, while heterodimers exist in the sutural mesenchyme to downregulate Fgfr2 expression (Connerney et al., 2006; Connerney et al., 2008).

2.1.6.6 Msx1 and Msx2

Homeobox genes Msx1 and Msx2 encode transcriptional regulators that participate in calvarial development from E9.5 onwards in mice. Msx1 and Msx2 are both expressed in the CNC-derived frontal bone anlage from E10.5, while only Msx2 is detected in the developing parietal bone at E12.5, once the osteoblast differentiation is already initiated (Kim et al., 1998; Han et al., 2007).

Loss-of-function mutations in *MSX2* cause enlarged parietal foramina in humans (Wilkie et al., 2000). Likewise, *Msx2* null allele mice have a large ossification defect in the frontal bones (Satokata et al., 2000). In mice that lack both *Msx1* and *Msx2* all calvarial bones fail to form (Satokata et al., 2000; Han et al., 2007). *Msx-*genes act in parallel pathways with Twist1 to control the proliferation and differentiation of the CNC-derived mesenchyme that forms the frontal bones (Ishii et al., 2003; Han et al., 2007). The parietal bone defect is postulated to be a result of compromised CNC-derived meninges (Han et al., 2007).

Msx-genes control the initial step of osteoblast lineage specification in frontal bone primordium, but later on they inhibit the terminal differentiation keeping preosteoblasts in a proliferating state (Dodig et al., 1999; Hu et al., 2001). In the absence of both *Msx1* and *Msx2*, *Runx2* fails to be expressed in the frontal bone condensation (Han et al., 2007). Msx2, on the other hand, has been shown to suppress the promoter of *Runx2-II* (Lee et al., 2005; Kawane et al., 2014). There is also evidence that *Msx*-genes control *Dlx5* expression; Msx2 has been shown to inhibit *Dlx5* expression, while Msx1 is required for *Dlx5* expression in the developing frontal bone anlage (Lee et al., 2005; Chung et al., 2010). *Msx2* is also evidently a downstream target of Bmp2, while Msx1 is activated by both Bmp and Fgf signalling (Kim et al., 1998; Kim et al., 2004; Choi et al., 2005).

Msx-genes also contribute to suture development as overexpression of *Msx2* in mice causes craniosynostosis of the coronal and sagittal sutures, which mimics the human condition, Boston-type craniosynostosis, caused by activating mutation in *MSX2* (Liu et al., 1995). These mice exhibit an increased number of proliferating preosteoblasts in the OFs at the early postnatal stage (Liu et al., 1999). Msx2 also functions downstream of Twist1 to control Eph-ephrin signalling in coronal suture development to maintain the neural crest-mesoderm boundary between frontal and parietal bones (Merrill et al., 2006). Together they control the guidance of migratory osteogenic cells to the leading margin of the frontal and parietal bones.

Interestingly, Msx1 and Msx2 function early during calvaria development to supress osteogenic program in the interfrontal suture. When *Msx1* and *Msx2* are conditionally deleted only from the CNC from E9.5 or E10.5 onwards, frontal and parietal bones do develop, but frontal bone morphology is defected and heterotopic ossification is present in the interfrontal suture. Roybal et al. showed that *Msx*-genes are required to supress ossification in a normally non-osteogenic, CNC-derived cell layer within which the frontal bone anlages grow. This heterotopic ossification was associated with increased Bmp signalling (Roybal et al., 2010).

2.1.6.7 DIx3, DIx5 and DIx6

Distal-less homeobox (*Dlx*) genes encode transcription factors that control development of the appendages of the main body axis. *Dlx*-genes function in specifying the differential fates of the CNC cells and govern epithelial-mesenchymal interactions (Morasso et al., 1995; Bendall and Abate-Shen, 2000). Consequently they are important regulators of the branchial arch patterning (Depew et al., 2005).

Out of the six *Dlx*-genes *Dlx3*, 5 and 6 are known to contribute to calvarial development. *Dlx5* is expressed in CNC-derived calvarial mesenchymal cells already before the onset of calvarial ossification (Holleville et al., 2003). Calvarial ossification is delayed in *Dlx5* null allele mice (Depew et al., 1999; Acampora et al., 1999). Dlx5 most likely has redundant functions with Dlx6 during calvarial bone patterning as $Dlx5^{-/-}$; $Dlx6^{-/-}$ compound mutant mice lack all calvarial bones (Depew et al., 2002; Merlo et al., 2002; Robledo et al., 2002).

Dlx-genes are vital regulators of osteoblast differentiation. Dlx3 functions in early stages of osteoblast maturation, while Dlx5 is associated with more mature osteoblasts. *Dlx5* is expressed in cells that are undergoing differentiation in the OFs of calvarial bones, where it specifically activates the expression of *Runx2-II* by directly binding to the distal *Runx2* (P1) promoter (Lee et al., 2005; Kawane et al., 2014). Dlx3 and -5 are both targets of Bmp2 signalling (Holleville et al., 2003). Although Bmp2/Dlx5-pathway is not the initial inducer of *Runx2* expression, as there is normal *Runx2* expression in *Dlx5^{-/-}* mutant mice, Dlx5 is capable of activating Runx2 target genes in the absence of *Runx2* (Choi et al., 2005; Hassan et al., 2006). Dlx5 also promotes maturation of osteoblasts by regulating *Oc* expression (Ryoo et al., 1997; Newberry et al., 1998; Depew et al., 1999).

2.1.6.8 En1

Homeodomain-containing transcription factor Engrailed 1 (En1) regulates several developmental processes, such as dorsoventral patterning of the limb, mid-hindbrain specification as well as skeletal development (Loomis et al., 1996; Wurst et al., 1994). En1 has a dual role during calvarial development. During early stage it regulates coronal suture formation by positioning and maintaining the PM/CNC boundary. *En1* expression is initiated in the calvarial osteogenic mesenchyme at E11.5, following the establishment of supraorbital regulatory centre across the PM/CNC lineage boundary. Evidence suggests that En1 restricts the invasion of CNC cells into the PM derived parietal bone and the coronal suture by regulating early *Msx2* and *Twist1* expression (Deckelbaum et al., 2012).

Later on, En1 promotes calvarial osteoblast differentiation and proliferation by activating Fgfr2 signalling in the bone anlage. In the suture progenitors it, in turn, prevents ossification by inhibiting Fgfr2 signalling (Deckelbaum et al., 2005; Deckelbaum et al., 2012).

2.1.6.9 Foxc1

Foxc1 is a forkhead box transcription factor that controls the differentiation of osteogenic precursor cells and is required for the apical growth phase during calvarial bone development. In *Foxc1*^{-/-} mutant mice only rudimentary calvarial bones form at the sites of initial mesenchymal cell condensations. Foxc1 has been shown to regulate Bmp-mediated induction of *Alx4* and *Msx2* expression. Reduction of *Alx4* and *Msx2* expression in *Foxc1*^{-/-} mutant mice leads to decreased osteoprogenitor cell proliferation (Rice R. et al., 2003). Sun et al. have recently shown that Foxc1 restricts differentiation of osteogenic precursors to the frontal bone primordium, where Bmp signalling is active. Foxc1 limits *Msx2* expression to this osteogenic zone by setting a transcriptional threshold for the Bmp-dependent *Msx2* activation (Sun et al., 2013). There is also evidence that *Msx2* is a direct target of Foxc1 during early stages of osteoblast differentiation (Mirzayans et al., 2012). *Foxc1* expression, on the other hand, is regulated by Fgf2, which indicates that Foxc1 has a role in integrating Bmp and Fgf signalling pathways during calvarial development (Rice et al., 2005).

2.1.7 Regulation of calvarial development by the brain, the meninges and the dura mater

Despite the rapid evolution of the vertebrate head, the brain and the calvaria have retained a tight fit (Nieman et al., 2012). The brain and skull morphogenesis are inevitably linked through coordinated integration of signalling pathways, but the processes remain unknown to a large extent. Signalling that regulates certain tissue can evidently have direct influence also on other tissues. Sympathetic

nervous system, for example, has been shown to inhibit proliferation of preosteoblasts (Karsenty and Wagner, 2002).

Mounting evidence now supports the original functional matrix theory by Moss (Moss, 1962), which states that the growing brain produces mechanical pressure on the developing calvarial bones, which causes morphological remodelling of the bones to reduce the strain by mirroring the shape of the brain (Henderson et al., 2005). Mechanical forces deform the cell membrane and cytoskeleton, which have an effect on cell signalling, cell differentiation, and cell proliferation (Mao and Nah, 2004). ECM and the cytoskeleton also communicate (Ingber, 2003; Temiyasathit and Jacobs, 2010). Application of strain to preosteoblasts has been shown to activate Wnt signalling pathway by causing accumulation of β -catenin in the cell cytoplasm and nucleus (Case et al., 2008).

The meninges connect the brain and the calvarial surfaces, and it is capable of transmitting signals, but the nature and mechanisms of communication that underlie their interaction remain elusive. The meninges may serve as a scaffold on which the calvarial bone condensations take shape as brain and bone follow their own developmental programs (Richtsmeier and Flaherty, 2013). Initiation of apical growth of the frontal and parietal bones and differentiation of meningeal precursors begin at the same time and progress jointly toward the apex of the head. In *Foxc1* null allele mice failure of the apical growth of the bone primordia is associated with disrupted meningeal development, which begins correctly, but mature meninges fail to form. This indicates that the early development of meninges and the calvarial bones are closely linked (Vivatbutsiri et al., 2008).

The composition of the dura mater varies regionally and it has age specific functions (Warren et al., 2003; Loeys et al., 2005). Especially immature dura mater secretes many osteogenic growth factors, cytokines and ECM molecules, which are vital for ossification of calvarial bones (Greenwald et al., 2000a; Greenwald et al., 2000b). Inductive stimulus from the dura mater is also required during suture formation before the suture is able to maintain patency independent of the surrounding tissues (Opperman, 2000). The dura mater has also been shown to influence fusion of the posterior frontal suture in rats (Opperman et al., 1993; Roth et al., 1996; Levine et al., 1998).

Tgf β signalling originating from the dura mater has been shown to have many roles during calvarial development. Tgf β signalling regulates suture morphogenesis by controlling cell numbers within the sutural mesenchyme and OFs. Disruption of Tgf β signalling from the CNC severely impairs cell proliferation in the dura mater, resulting in calvaria agenesis. Ossification of the parietal bone also requires interaction with the CNC derived meninges (Jiang et al., 2002). CNC derived dura mater may induct the frontal and parietal bone formation (Ito et al., 2003).

The role of the dura mater has also been investigated in Apert syndrome mouse models with mixed findings. Dural cells transfected with the $Fgfr2^{P253R}$ allele were shown to promote ossification of the co-cultured osteoblasts (Ang et al., 2010). On the other hand, occurrence of Apert mutation (S252W) solely in the dura mater is unable to induce osteogenic fusion of the coronal suture in mice (Holmes and Basilico, 2012).

The mutations that lead to craniosynostosis have also been shown to affect interactions between genes and regulatory networks that communicate during head development. Same genes participate in brain and calvaria development. In the *FGFR*-related craniosynostosis syndromes, for example, evidently both the brain and the calvaria are primarily affected. Expression of *Fgfr1* and -2 has been shown to determine brain size (Stevens et al., 2010).

2.2 Hedgehog signalling

The Hh pathway has a crucial role in development, as well as in tumorigenesis. Three Hh ligands have been identified in mammals; Sonic (Shh), Indian (Ihh) and Desert (Dhh) hedgehog, which differ

primarily in tissue distribution (Echelard et al., 1993). *Shh* is expressed, for example, in the nervous system, in the limb bud and in many epithelial tissues, and has a vital role in early embryogenesis and patterning. Ihh is indispensable for endochondral ossification, while *Dhh* is expressed in the peripheral nervous system and reproductive organs.



Figure 4. Schematic view of the vertebrate Hedgehog (Hh) pathway depicting the Hh-receiving cell when Hh ligand is absent (Off) and present (On).

Off: In the absence of Hh ligand Ptch resides in the primary cilium and inhibits Smo from entering the ciliary membrane from the cytosol. Sufu retains the full-length (FL) forms of Glis in the cytosol. Kif7 is required to recruit PKA, GSK3β and CK1α, which then phosphorylate Gli2FL and Gli3FL. These FL-Glis are further processed proteolytically into repressor (R) forms, which enter the nucleus and actively inhibit Hh target gene transcription.

On: When Hh ligand binds to the receptor Ptch and to the co-receptors, Gas1, Cdo and Boc, Smo enters the ciliary membrane, forming a complex with Evc and Evc2. This complex relieves the inhibition of Gli proteins and Kif7 then transports Gli-Sufu complex to the tip of the cilium. GliFL proteins are processed into activators (GliA2/3), which enter the nucleus to activate transcription of Hh target genes. Modified from Briscoe and Thérond, 2013.

2.2.1 Hh signalling pathway

Hh ligands are secreted proteins. Following translation, Hh precursor peptides go through two independent lipid modifications, which are essential for normal Hh signalling. A cholesterol residue is first added to the C-terminus by cholesterol-dependent autocatalytic cleavage in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) lumen (Porter et al., 1996; Chen et al., 2011). The subsequently cleaved C-terminal fragment is degraded in the ER. Then Hh acyltransferase, called Skinny hedgehog (Ski), catalyses the attachment of palmitate to the N-terminal end of Hh ligand (Chamoun et al., 2001). This hydrophobic Hh ligand is membrane-associated, but the exact mechanism of Hh release is unknown. Multispanning membrane protein Dispatched (Disp) and secreted protein Scube are known to be essential for secretion and long-range Hh signalling (Burke et al., 1999; Ma et al., 2002; Tukachinsky et al., 2012). They recognise the cholesterol-moiety and affect the solubility of Hh ligand. Cholesterol and palmitate moieties are also required to form active multimeric Hh complexes enabling long-range spread (Zeng et al., 2001).

Hh is able to signal both short- and long-range. Recent evidence suggests that long-range activation of Hh signalling is mediated through direct receptor-ligand interaction between cell membranes that utilize specialized class of actin-based filopodia called cytonemes, which are long cytoplasmic extensions (Sanders et al., 2013). Hh ligand, together with its co-receptor CAM-related/downregulated by oncogenes (Cdo), is transported in exovesicles via these cytonemes (Gradilla et al., 2014). The spread of Hh proteins is also regulated by proteins responsible for Hh reception, which are situated on the membranes of the receiving cells. The receptor Patched 1 (Ptch) and the vertebrate-specific Hh-interacting protein 1 (Hip1) both limit diffusion of Hh ligands (Chuang et al., 2003; Chen and Struhl, 1996).

Primary cilia, microtubule-based, non-motile structures that protrude from the surface of most cells of the body, are essential for Hh signal transduction in vertebrates (Huangfu et al., 2003) (Figure 4). Intraflagellar transport (IFT) proteins are required for primary cilia production and maintenance, and facilitate transport of proteins into and out of the cilia (Pedersen and Rosenbaum, 2008). At the base of the ciliary shaft is the basal body from which the microtubules originate and in this transition zone cytoplasmic proteins are being loaded to the IFT system. Also what proteins enter the ciliary membrane is tightly controlled. Novel evidence indicates that primary cilia serve as signalling centres and other signalling pathways, including platelet-derived growth factor-, Notchand Wnt signalling, are also associated with primary cilia (Goetz and Anderson, 2010).

The Hh receptor Ptch is a transmembrane protein that has a dual role in Hh signalling serving as an inhibitor of Hh signalling in the absence of the ligand, as well as a receptor for the Hh ligands (Rohatgi et al., 2007). *Ptch1* is also a direct transcriptional target of Hh signalling. In the absence of the Hh ligand it resides in the primary cilium where it inhibits another transmembrane protein Smoothened (Smo) from entering the cilium (Taipale et al., 2002). Smo's structure resembles a G-protein-coupled receptor and it is a signal transducer of Hh signalling (Corbit et al., 2005).

Ptch requires Hh co-receptors: Cdo, Brother of Cdo (Boc), and Growth arrest-specific 1 (Gas1) for Hh ligand binding (Beachy et al., 2010). These co-receptors are situated on the cell membrane, where they form multimolecular complexes with Ptch and facilitate high-affinity Hh binding. These co-receptors, however, have an opposing role in pathway regulation compared to Ptch; the co-receptors promote Hh signalling while Ptch inhibits it.

2.2.1.1 Transcription factors Gli1, 2 and 3 mediate Hh signalling

GLI-Kruppel family members 1, 2 and 3 (Gli1, 2, 3) are zinc finger-containing transcription factors that mediate transcriptional output of Hh signalling (Buttitta et al., 2003; Motoyama et al., 2003). Gli proteins function as repressors (R) as well as activators. Gli1 contains only an activator domain in the C-terminal and functions solely as an amplifier of activation (Park et al., 2000). Gli2 and Gli3, on the

other hand, contain, in addition, N-terminal R-domains and can be cleaved into R-forms by removal of their carboxy-terminal trans-activation domains (Dai et al., 1999; Sasaki et al., 1999). *Gli1* and, to lesser extent, *Gli2* are direct targets of Hh signalling, while high concentration of Hh ligand downregulates transcription of *Gli3* (Marigo et al., 1996). Primary cilia are evidently mandatory for Gli-protein metabolism and transcriptional activity (Kim et al., 2009; Wen et al., 2010).

In the absence of the Hh ligand the full-length (FL) activator forms of Gli2 and Gli3 are kept in the cytosol by Suppressor of Fused (Sufu), which further promotes phosphorylation of the Cterminal residues of the FL Gli's by activating protein kinase A (PKA) (Figure 4). Sufu thus acts as a negative regulator of Hh signalling. GliFL is further phosphorylated by Gsk3 β and Ck1 α . The kinesin family member 7 (Kif7) is required to recruit PKA, Gsk3 β and Ck1 α (Jiang and Hui, 2008). E3 ubiquitin ligase, β TrCP, then degrades C-terminal peptides and the modified proteins are then partially proteolytically processed by the proteasome to generate the R-forms of Gli2 (Gli2R) and Gli3 (Gli3R). The processing of Gli3 is significantly more efficient compared to Gli2, and so the Gli3R, in particular, enters the nucleus and actively inhibits the translation of Hh target genes. Gli2FL is likely being completely degraded by the proteasome (Pan et al., 2006).

Binding of the Hh ligand causes Ptch to relieve its inhibition on Smo, which is then phosphorylated, allowing its' translocation into the ciliary membrane (Figure 4) (Corbit et al., 2005; Rohatgi et al., 2007; Goetz and Anderson, 2010). There Smo forms a complex with Evc2 and Evc in the EvC zone of the cilium (Dorn et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2012). This active Hh signalling complex relieves the inhibition of the Gli-proteins by PKA and Gli-Sufu complex is able to translocate to the tip of the cilium (Dorn et al., 2012). Kif7 is thought to act as an anterograde motor in the cilium that facilitates Gli-protein transport to the tip of the cilia. Kif7 is needed to form the Gli transcriptional activators in the presence of Hh ligand (He et al., 2014). Evc2 further regulates the dissociation of Gli and Sufu in the cilia. Gli-FLs then enter the nucleus where they are modified to transcriptional activators of the Hh target genes (Huangfu and Anderson, 2006; Varjosalo and Taipale, 2007). Gli2FL is more potent transcriptional activator compared to Gli3FL (Matise et al., 1998).

Dissociation from Sufu also results in an increased rate of Gli-protein degradation. In the nucleus, GliFL binds to the MATH-BTB-domain-containing E3-ubiquitin ligase called Speckle-type PDZ protein (Spop) that mediates its degradation. The balance between Gli-Sufu and Gli-Spop formation is indicated to be important in regulation of the amount and activity of Gli-proteins (Chen et al., 2009).

2.2.1.2 Syndromes caused by mutations in GLI3

Mutations in *GLI3* are responsible for five different autosomal dominant syndromes in humans depending on the location of the defect. GCPS is caused by N-terminal, loss-of-function mutations leading to haploinsufficiency of *GLI3*, which manifests as reduced amount of both GLI3R and GLI3FL, respectively (Kalff-Suske et al., 1999; Vortkamp et al., 1991). Features of GCPS include preaxial polydactyly in feet and postaxial polydactyly of hands, as well as variable cutaneous syndactyly and craniofacial abnormalities, such as hypertelorism, broad nasal bridge, macrocephaly with frontal bossing, and rarely craniosynostosis (Johnston et al., 2005). Central nervous system (CNS) anomalies, agenesis of the corpus callosum, and cognitive impairment have also occasionally been reported.

The extra-toes mouse (*Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J}) was originally introduced by D.R. Johnson already in 1967 (Johnson, 1967). It was later shown to represent a *Gli3* null allele, containing an intragenic deletion of *Gli3*, and to model GCPS (Vortkamp et al., 1992; Hui and Joyner, 1993). As the name implies, *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice show fore and hind limb polydactyly, as well as syndactyly. They die at birth having respiratory difficulties, kidney anomalies, severely abnormal brain morphology, rudimentary eyes, neural tube closure defects, and high incidence of exencephaly.

Pallister-Hall syndrome (PHS) is caused by mutations that lead to C-terminally truncated GLI3 (Kang et al., 1997). Repressor function of Gli3 is thus increased in relation to the activator function (Krauss et al., 2009). Common PHS features are central polydactyly, syndactyly, imperforated anus, gastrointestinal, epiglottis and larynx defects, abnormal kidney development, and absence of adrenal glands. Böse et al. have also generated a mouse model of PHS, which displays all of these features (Böse et al., 2002).

GLI3 is also the causative gene of Preaxial polydactyly type IV, as well as Postaxial polydactyly type A and B, which only present as digit abnormalities. Fifth syndrome, diagnosed in two patients with *GLI3* mutations, is Acrocallosal syndrome characterised by postaxial polydactyly, macrocephaly, agenesis of the corpus callosum, and severe developmental delay (Elson et al., 2002; Speksnijder et al., 2013).

2.2.2 Role of Hh signalling during calvarial development

Hh signalling has a significant role in development of the head. It is known to control the width of the face and the skull (Bergmann et al., 2010). Loss-of-function mutations in *SHH* cause holoprosencephaly in humans and mice, which is a cephalic disorder, where the forebrain does not divide to form bilateral cerebral hemispheres, and it is also associated with midline facial dysmorphism (Chiang et al., 1996). Humans and mice with inactivating mutations of the Hh signalling repressor, *GLI3*, on the other hand, exhibit wider faces. It has been proposed that excessive Hh signalling leads directly to increased proliferation of CNC cells, which contributes to the increase in facial width (Bergmann et al., 2010; Tabler et al., 2013).

2.2.2.1 Loss of Shh signalling causes holoprosencephaly

Shh is vital for the patterning of the face and Hh signalling plays a crucial role in CNS development. Decrease in Shh signalling has been associated with holoprosencephaly, cleft palate, and disrupted tooth development. *Shh* null allele mice have severe deficiencies in head structures due to early defects in the axial mesoderm (Chiang et al., 1996). This has prevented the analysis of possible later roles for Shh in the regulation of calvarial morphogenesis. Inactivation of *Shh* in the CNC derived cells leads to severe defect in the frontal bone development, and Shh was found to be essential for developmental steps involving postmigratory CNC cells (Jeong et al., 2004). Intriguing novel data also shows that significant population of the PM, from which calvarial mesenchyme is derived from, are Hh-responsive *Gli1*-expressing cells. These cells express *Gli1* transiently at E7.5 to E8.5. The frontal bones develop from the CNC, but they have also been shown to receive contribution from the Hh-responsive mesodermal lineage (Deckelbaum et al., 2012).

Deletion of *Disp1* in mice leads to similar phenotype as lack of *Shh*. In *Disp1* null allele mice Hh ligand accumulates in the Hh-secreting cell causing a weak activation of Hh target genes, but mice die already at E9.5 (Caspary et al., 2002; Kawakami et al., 2002). Tian et al. (2004) generated a hypomorphic *Disp1* mouse, which lacked parietal bone completely and also other skull bones derived from cephalic PM were truncated or misshapen. These findings suggest that Shh also contributes to patterning of the cephalic mesoderm.

Loss of Hh co-receptor *Gas1* also causes mild holoprosencephaly in mice. Calvarial bones of $Gas1^{-/-}$ mice were normal and sutures patent at birth. Interestingly, genetic reduction of *Shh* from $Gas1^{-/-}$ mice $(Gas1^{-/-};Shh^{+/-})$, not only caused more severe holoprosencephaly, as anticipated, but also craniosynostosis of the coronal suture was detected (Seppälä et al., 2007). Cause of this premature suture fusion was not investigated further, but the finding is intriguing considering the facts that

neither $Gas1^{-/-}$ nor $Shh^{+/-}$ mice bare coronal synostosis, and that Shh null allele mice die before the onset of calvarial development.

2.2.2.2 Role of lhh in calvarial development

The role of Ihh during endochondral ossification is well established, but the data on its functions during intramembranous ossification have been controversial. The original phenotype characterisation of *lhh* null allele mouse reported the surprising finding that although osteoblasts failed to differentiate in endochondral bones, normal, albeit truncated, calvarial bones developed (St-Jacques et al., 1999). Ihh is expressed in the OFs and it is known that loss of Ihh delays calvarial ossification resulting in widened sutures, but the mechanism is debated on (Jacob et al., 2007). Abzhanov et al. postulated that Ihh signals from more mature osteoblasts to preosteoblasts to repress osteogenic lineage differentiation. In the absence of *Ihh* the preosteoblasts would differentiate faster and the proliferation of preosteoblasts would decrease leading to smaller bones (Abzhanov et al., 2007). On the other hand, there is increasing amount of evidence to suggest that the role of Ihh in the calvaria is pro-osteogenic. Ihh has been shown to promote osteoblast differentiation of isolated calvarial mesenchymal cells by activating Gli2, which physically interacted with Runx2 leading to activation of Runx2 expression and function (Shimoyama et al., 2007). In the same study Gli3 was shown to inhibit Ihh-dependent osteoblastogenesis, but interaction between Runx2 and Gli3 was not detected. Ohba et al., however, revealed that Gli3R competes for the same binding site with Runx2 and so inhibits expression of Runx2 target genes and thus ossification (Ohba et al., 2008). Loss of *Ihh* has been shown to result in reduction of osteogenic marker expression in the calvaria. *Bmp2* and -4 expression was also downregulated, which indicates that Bmp2/4 lie downstream of Ihh in the developing calvaria (Lenton et al., 2011). In zebrafish Ihh regulates outgrowth and shaping of a craniofacial intramembranous bone called opercle by controlling location specific proliferation (Huycke et al., 2012).

2.2.2.3 Increased Hh signalling causes craniosynostosis

Mounting evidence links elevated Hh signalling with craniosynostosis in humans. Dominant mutations in *GLI3* cause Greig cephalopolysyndactyly syndrome (GCPS) characterised by frontal bossing of the skull, hypertelorism, and in some cases, premature metopic suture fusion (Hurst et al., 2011; McDonald-McGinn et al., 2010). Microduplication at the *IHH* locus is also associated with craniosynostosis of the sagittal suture and cloverleaf skull. The critical duplicated region serves as a long-range enhancer of *IHH*, specifically regulating *IHH* expression, causing increased Hh signalling (Klopocki et al., 2011). RAB23 is a membrane-associated protein that regulates intracellular trafficking. Rab23 has negative impact on Hh signalling, as it has been shown to promote Gli3R production (Eggenschwiler et al., 2006). Recessive mutations in *RAB23* cause Carpenter syndrome in humans and some patients present premature synostosis of the metopic and sagittal sutures. In severe cases cloverleaf skull has also been reported, where the lambdoid sutures are also fused (Jenkins et al., 2007). *Rab23* null allele mice are exencephalic and they die between E12.5-13.5 (Eggenschwiler et al., 2001).

Nevoid basal cell carcinoma syndrome (NBCCS), also known as Basal Cell Nevus Syndrome or Gorlin Syndrome, is caused by heterozygous mutation of *PTCH1*, which leads to increased activation of Hh pathway. Craniofacial features include macrocephaly, frontal and parietal bossing, hypertelorism, and intracranial ectopic calcification. Microdeletion causing NBCCS has also lead to metopic craniosynostosis, but the causative gene could be other than *PTCH1* (Muller et al., 2011). Mouse models of NBCCS have not been very informative on the role of Ptch1 in calvaria development, as *Ptch1* null allele mice die at E9 with failure of the neural tube closer (Goodrich et al., 1997; Hahn et al., 1998). Transgenic mice that overexpress *Shh* in the basal epithelium from early

stages of embryogenesis, on the other hand, have almost complete absence of skull vault. Frontal bones are very truncated due to neural crest cell sensitivity to abnormal Hh signalling levels. Complete failure of mesodermal derived parietal and interparietal bone development may be secondary to increased signalling in the dorsal neural tube and consequent brain overgrowth (Cobourne et al., 2009). Novel ENU-induced recessive mouse model, however, represents a hypomorphic allele of *Ptch1* and these mice have a dome shaped calvaria, widened interfrontal suture with heterotopic ossification and craniosynostosis of the lambdoid suture (Feng et al., 2013).

Ciliopathies entail pathological conditions caused by defects in primary ciliogenesis, which lead to abnormal processing of Gli proteins. One syndrome caused by mutations in genes encoding IFT proteins in humans is Sensenbrenner syndrome, and subpopulation of the patients have premature synostosis of the sagittal suture (Sensenbrenner et al., 1975; Arts et al., 2011). Several mouse models of ciliopathies have been generated with variable calvarial phenotypes. Partial disruption of *lft144* in mice enhances Hh signalling and causes exencephaly. Frontal bones fail to develop, and parietal, as well as interparietal bones are very truncated (Ashe et al., 2012). Deletion of IFT gene called *Kif3a* from neural crest cells causes truncation of primary cilia leading to gain of Hh signalling. The head of these mice are much wider in the frontal bone area; the frontal bones are truncated and the interfrontal suture is widened. In the anterior part of the interfrontal suture ectopic midline bones are detected (Bergmann et al., 2010).

Intriguing new evidence indicates that postnatally the role of Hh signalling in controlling suture patency is somewhat the opposite compared to the embryonic stage. Zhao et al. (2015) have recently shown that postnatally the calvarial sutures become a source of MSCs that express *Gli1*. Ihh, secreted from the OFs, is an important regulator of the differentiation of these *Gli1*-positive cells. Postnatal ablation of *Gli1* in mice from one month of age causes a severe reduction of MSCs that eventually leads to premature fusion of all of the calvarial sutures in two months. They also showed that in a mouse model of Saethre-Chotzen syndrome (*Twist*^{+/-} mice), in which the coronal suture fuses postnatally, the *Gli1*-positive cells were reduced in all of the calvarial sutures. These results implicate that postnatally occurring craniosynostosis may be caused by reduction of these MSCs, which are regulated by Hh signalling (Zhao et al., 2015).

2.2.3 Role of Hh signalling during endochondral ossification

In this thesis we have studied the role of Ihh and Gli3 during osteoblast differentiation in intramembranous bones. As the role of Hh signalling during osteoblast differentiation in the endochondral bone is well established, an overview is given here.

Most of the bones of the skeleton, including the long bones of the limbs, develop by endochondral ossification. During limb development, mesenchymal cells originating from the lateral plate mesoderm first condense and differentiate into chondrocytes, which form a cartilage anlage. These chondrocytes proliferate and secret the ECM. Fibroblast-like cells surrounding the anlage form the perichondrium. Initially all the chondrocytes in the anlage proliferate elongating the anlage. Then cells residing in the middle exit the cell cycle and undergo cellular hypertrophy forming the hypertrophic zone. After E14.5 three morphologically distinct groups of chondrocytes form the embryonic growth plate. Distally are the round, low-proliferating, periarticular chondrocytes, which differentiate into flat columnar chondrocytes that proliferate actively, while hypertrophic, nonproliferating chondrocytes reside centrally (Figure 5). Osteoblasts first appear in the perichondrium adjacent to the hypertrophic zone, where they form the bone collar. Vasculature from the surrounding tissue then invades and triggers the removal of hypertrophic cartilage. Vasculature also brings osteoblast precursors that initiate ossification and marrow formation form the primary ossification centres inside the bone, later forming a network of irregular spicules called the primary spongiosa (Erlebacher et al., 1995).



Figure 5. Schematic diagram of the role of Hedgehog (Hh) pathway during endochondral ossification of the limb. During endochondral ossification *lhh* is expressed by hypertrophic chondrocytes. It activates chondrocyte proliferation by stimulating the differentiation of distal chondrocytes into columnar chondrocytes by downregulating Gli3R, which prevents distal to columnar chondrocyte differentiation and proliferation. Ihh also signals to immature chondrocytes to inhibit the onset of chondrocyte hypertrophy by activating PTHrP in the distal periarticular chondrocytes again by inhibiting Gli3R formation. Gli3R is an inhibitor of PTHrP expression, while PTHrP, in turn, inhibits the proliferating columnar chondrocytes from differentiating further. Ihh later induces ossification in the overlying perichondrium. Ihh accomplishes this by repressing Gli3R formation, which inhibits *Runx2* expression, and by activating Gli2A, which facilitates further osteoblast differentiation. By activating Gli2A, Ihh also mediates vascularization of the hypertrophic cartilage. Modified from Joeng and Long, 2009.

Ihh is a key regulator of endochondral ossification mediating the linkage between chondrocyte maturation and osteoblast differentiation (Figure 5). *Ihh* null allele mice exhibit reduced chondrocyte proliferation, malposition of mature chondrocytes, and failure of osteoblast differentiation in the endochondral bones (St-Jacques et al., 1999). Runx2 induces *Ihh* expression in the prehypertrophic chondrocytes and the expression is sustained in hypertrophic chondrocytes (Yoshida et al., 2004). Firstly, Ihh activates chondrocyte proliferation by stimulating the differentiation of periarticular chondrocytes into columnar chondrocytes (Kobayashi et al., 2005). Secondly, Ihh signals to immature chondrocytes to inhibit the onset of chondrocyte hypertrophy by activating another secreted growth factor, Parathyroid hormone related protein (PTHrP), in the distal periarticular chondrocytes these two steps by downregulating Gli3R, which prevents distal to columnar chondrocyte differentiation and is also a strong inhibitor of *PTHrP* expression. *Gli3* is expressed by the distal and columnar chondrocytes. Genetic removal of *Gli3* from *Ihh*^{-/-} mutant mice rescues the chondrocyte proliferation and hypertrophy defects (Hilton et al., 2005; Koziel et al., 2005).

Thirdly, Ihh later induces ossification in the overlying perichondrium (Kronenberg, 2003). Both Gli3R and activator isoform of Gli2 (Gli2A) mediate this process. Activation of Gli2A in *Ihh* null allele mice is sufficient to rescue vascularization of the hypertrophic cartilage (Joeng and Long, 2009). Osteoblast differentiation in the perichondrium, on the other hand, requires both; repression of Gli3R formation by Ihh, as Gli3R inhibits *Runx2* expression, as well as activation of Gli2A, which facilitates further osteoblast differentiation (Joeng and Long, 2009; Kesper et al., 2010).

It is noteworthy that although *Runx2* fails to be expressed in the perichondrium in the absence of *Ihh*, forced expression of *Runx2* alone does not rescue the osteoblast differentiation in *Ihh^{-/-}* mutant mice (Tu et al., 2011). This indicates that Runx2 is not the only effector of Ihh. In effect, Ihh has also been shown to induce canonical Wnt signalling in perichondrial cells (Hu et al., 2005). Even though Gli2 and Gli3 evidently mediate all processes governed by Ihh during endochondral ossification, Gli-proteins are able to compensate for each other. Disruption of any one *Gli*-gene in mice has only minor consequences on endochondral ossification (Mo et al., 1997; Miao et al., 2004; Koziel et al., 2005).

2.3 Fibroblast growth factor signalling

In vertebrates at least 18 identified extracellular Fgf ligands and four Fgfrs have been implicated in numerous developmental processes from early embryonic stages onwards (reviewed by Ornitz and Itoh, 2015). Binding of Fgf ligand together with heparin sulphate activates these tyrosine kinase receptors through homodimerization (Figure 6). This results in phosphorylation of cytoplasmic tyrosine residues, which further activates three different cytoplasmic signal transduction pathways.

Ras/ERK pathway controls proliferation and differentiation, the Akt pathway is associated with cell survival, while the protein kinase C (PKC) pathway regulates cell morphology and migration. *Fgfrs* undergo alternative splicing in their extracellular domain to generate a wide variety of receptors with different affinities for their ligands (Zhang et al., 2006). The genes encoding Fgfr1, -2 and -3 use either exon IIIb or exon IIIc (Miki et al., 1992; Johnson and Williams, 1993). Cross talk between mesenchymal and epithelial cells is facilitated by the differential expression of 'b' and 'c' isoforms in epithelia versus mesenchyme (Ornitz et al., 1996). For example, *Fgfr2IIIb*, predominantly expressed in the epithelial cells, binds Fgfs 3, 7, 10 and 22, which are secreted by mesenchymal cells.



Figure 6. Schematic view of the Fgf pathway. Fgfr molecule is composed of an extracellular region harbouring two or three immunoglobulin-like domains, a transmembrane element and an intracytoplasmic tyrosine kinase domain, which become phosphorylated upon activation. Binding of Fgf ligand together with heparin sulphate dimerizes the Fgfr molecule and triggers Fgfr signalling, which is transduced cytoplasmically by PI3 kinase, PLC-pathways and Map kinases, which in turn regulate cell survival, cell morphology and migration, and proliferation and cell fate determination, respectively. Modified from Wagner and Siddiqui, 2007.

Fgfr2IIIc, on the other hand, is expressed by the mesenchymal cells and binds Fgfs 2, 4, 6, 9 and 18 that are synthesized by the epithelial cells. In general, Fgfrb isoforms are more selective compared to Fgfrc isoforms.

2.3.1 Role of Fgf signalling in calvarial development

The significance of Fgf signalling during calvarial development is undebated as elevated Fgf signalling causes craniosysnostosis. *FGFR*-related craniosynostosis syndromes are caused by dominantly acting mutations in *FGFR1*, 2 and 3 and affect specific regions of the proteins. *FGFR3* harbors the mutation underlying Muenke syndrome, the most common syndromic form of craniosynostosis, and a rare variant of Crouzon syndrome associated with skin manifestations. Thanatophoric dysplasia type II, also caused by mutations in *FGFR3*, is characterised by cloverleaf skull, which involves a trilobar skull deformity usually caused by synostosis of coronal, lambdoid, metopic, and sagittal sutures, as well as dwarfism (Langer et al., 1987). *FGFR1* mutations are associated with Pfeiffer syndrome. Mutations in different regions of *FGFR2*-gene cause Pfeiffer syndrome, Apert syndrome, Crouzon syndrome, Reare-Stevenson syndrome, *FGFR2*-related isolated coronal synostosis are characterised only by uni- or bicoronal craniosynostosis; the

remainder are characterised by bicoronal craniosynostosis or cloverleaf skull, distinctive facial features, and variable hand and foot findings, as well as CNS abnormalities (reviewed in Rice, 2008b).

The reciprocal epithelial-mesenchymal system of Fgf-Fgfr signalling described above, does not apply in the calvaria, as it is derived solely from mesenchyme. *Fgfrc* isoforms expressed in the calvaria are activated by a large number of Fgf ligands and all *Fgf* ligands, except *Fgf3*, -4, -5, -6 and -8 are expressed in mouse calvaria (Iseki et al., 1997; Hajihosseini and Heath, 2002). *Fgf2* and *Fgf9* are expressed in the sutural mesenchyme and in the OFs, while *Fgf18* and *Fgf20* are expressed solely in the OFs (Rice et al., 2000; Hajihosseini and Heath, 2002). Fgf2 is also secreted by the dura mater, which influences calvarial ossification (Warren et al., 2003). The receptors are expressed in the OFs. *Fgfr2* is expressed in the proliferating osteoprogenitors, while post-proliferative osteoblasts express *Fgfr1* (Iseki et al., 1999; Johnson et al., 2000). *Fgfr3* is expressed at low levels in the OF, overlapping with the expression domains of *Fgfr1* and *Fgfr2* (Johnson et al., 2000).

Fgf pathway has an early role in neural crest cell migration. It is also important in condensation formation and maintenance. Fgf ligands promote ossification in several ways. Fgf2 regulates cell fate decisions of mesenchymal stem cells between adipocyte and osteoblast differentiation (Xiao et al., 2010). Indeed, many Fgf ligands (Fgf2, -4, -8, -18) have been shown to stimulate *Runx2* expression through Fgfr activation (Zhou et al., 2000; Kim et al., 2003). Fgf2 and -18 also activate Runx2 protein through protein kinase C pathway (Kim et al., 2003). Fgf2 can also interact directly with Runx2 to influence osteoblast proliferation via effects on the ECM (Teplyuk et al., 2009; Marie, 2012). Fgf2 and Fgf18 enhance Bmp activity through modulation of *Runx2* expression and by suppressing expression of the Bmp antagonist *Noggin* (Warren et al., 2003; Reinhold et al., 2004; Choi et al., 2005). Fgf2 also stimulates osteoblasts differentiation in part by activating Wnt/β-catenin signalling (Fei et al., 2011).

Fgf2 is also proposed to have an inhibitory effect on calvarial ossification as implanting Fgf2soaked beads into calvarial explants have shown to induce *Twist1* expression (Rice et al., 2000). Relationship of Fgf signalling and Twist1 is complex as Twist1 also regulates the expression of *Fgfr2*. Twist1/E-protein heterodimers repress *Fgfr2* expression in the sutural mesenchyme, while Twist1 homodimers activate *Fgfr2* expression in the OFs (Connerney et al., 2006; Connerney et al., 2008).

Null allele Fgfr1 or Fgfr2 mice die before gastrulation (Arman et al., 1998; Yamagouchi et al., 1994). To investigate the function of these receptors during calvarial development Fgfr-genes have been conditionally disrupted. An Fgfr1 hypomorph revealed that mainly *IIIc* isoform of this gene is essential already at the initial stage of calvarial development, during paraxial mesoderm induction and patterning (Partanen et al., 1998). Deletion of the Fgfr2c isoform in mice causes a delay of calvarial bone differentiation and mineralization at E14.5, but somewhat incoherently these mice later show a premature fusion of medial part of the coronal suture at postnatal day 14 (Eswarakumar et al., 2002). Conditional inactivation of Fgfr2 in the osteoblast and chondrocyte lineages, on the other hand, did not lead to craniosynostosis (Yu et al., 2003). However, both of these studies came to the same conclusion as Iseki et al. (1999); Fgfr2 is essential for osteoblast proliferation but not differentiation. Low level of Fgf signalling activates Fgfr2 (Iseki et al., 1999).

Fgfr1 activation through increased level of Fgf signalling, on the other hand, is required for osteoblast differentiation. Mouse model of Pfeiffer syndrome, $Fgfr1^{250/+}$, supports these experimental findings by Iseki et al. (1999). Synostosis of the sagittal and coronal sutures in these mice is associated with accelerated osteoblast differentiation. Premature expression of *Runx2* suggests that Fgfr1 signalling is upstream of *Runx2* (Zhou et al., 2000). Hajihosseini et al. (2004) have demonstrated a dosage effect of *Fgfr1* expression on osteogenic differentiation in the calvarial sutures directly by introducing variable copy numbers of a hypermorphic *Fgfr1* mutation carried by a

bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC). They showed that increased severity of the sutural fusions correlated with increasing the BAC copy number. In conclusion, at the OFs is an Fgf gradient that at least in part controls the increasing maturation of osteoblasts from proliferating osteoprogenitors expressing Fgfr2 to post-proliferative osteoblasts expressing Fgfr1. Mature osteoblasts express neither receptor (Iseki et al., 1999; Johnson et al., 2000).

The prevailing hypothesis is that increased FGF signalling leads to craniosynostosis by triggering a switch from FGFR2 expression and proliferation to FGFR1 expression and differentiation (Morriss-Kay and Wilkie, 2005). Evidence from several studies has elucidated the mechanisms by which the mutations in FGFR-genes increase FGF signalling. Pfeiffer syndrome patients who have a mutation in exon IIIc acceptor splice site, as well as Apert syndrome patient with Alu insertions both show ectopic expression of the FGFR2IIIb isoform in the calvaria (Oldridge et al., 1999). Furthermore, mutant FGFR2IIIc splice form receptors acquired from Apert syndrome patients show novel binding to the FGFR2IIIb-specific ligand FGF10 (Yu et al., 2000). Hajihosseini et al. (2001) generated a mouse with heterozygous abrogation of Fgfr2 exon *IIIc* to model this splicing switch. Additional deletion of Fgf10 from these mice was able to rescue the coronal synostosis, which highlights the surprising role Fgf10 has in the calvaria in pathological situations (Hajihosseini et al., 2009).

In most mouse models of Fgfr-related craniosynostosis the coronal suture fusion is reported to occur postnatally. Holmes et al. (2009) used $Fgfr2^{S252W/+}$ mice to study the effects of increased Fgf signalling on earlier embryonic calvarial development. Coronal suture changes were detected already at E13.5. The mutated osteoprogenitor cells were shown to both proliferate and differentiate faster in the OF and invade the area where normally the presence of undifferentiated mesenchyme marks the coronal suture (Holmes et al., 2009).

The coronal suture and the OF of the frontal bone mark the PM/CNC boundary, respectively. Ectopic cell mixing causing disruption of this lineage border between mesoderm and neural crest has been proposed to be one mechanism of coronal suture fusion. However, Fgf signalling does not seem to have a role in maintaining this boundary. Holmes and Basilico (2012) generated mice that expressed the gain-of-function $Fgfr2^{S252W}$ allele solely in the mesoderm or neural crest, respectively. Interestingly, coronal synostosis only occurred when $Fgfr2^{S252W}$ was expressed in the mesoderm. (Holmes and Basilico, 2012)

Function of Fgfr3 signalling in the cranial sutures is not known. Fgfr3 null allele mice are viable. Although they show excessive growth of long bones, caused by increased proliferation of the growth plate chondrocytes, no calvarial abnormalities were detected (Colvin et al., 1996; Deng et al., 1996). A Muenke syndrome mouse model has a P244R mutation in Fgfr3. However, these mice very rarely bear craniosynostosis (Twigg et al., 2009).
3. AIMS OF THE STUDY

Hh signalling is known for its fundamental role in craniofacial development and in endochondral ossification, respectively. However, very little is known about the Hh pathway in the intramembranous ossification of the calvarial bones.

The aims of this thesis were to:

- 1. Study the role of Hh-Gli3 signalling during calvarial bone development.
- 2. Investigate the interaction of Fgf and Hh-Gli3 pathway in calvarial development.
- 3. Attempt to rescue craniosynostosis induced by loss of *Gli3* by downregulating *Runx2*.

4. MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.1 Mating and genotyping

All animal experiments were approved by the University of Helsinki, Helsinki University Hospital, and the Southern Finland Council animal welfare and ethics committees.

NMRI wild-type (Wt) mice (Jackson Laboratories, USA) were maintained in Helsinki University, Experimental animal unit.

Fgfr2b null allele mice were obtained from mating heterozygous Fgfr2b mice, maintained on a pure C57BL/6 background and supplied by Dr. Clive Dickson's laboratory, Cancer Research, UK (De Moerlooze et al., 2000). For genotyping see De Moerlooze et al. (2000).

 $Fgf10^{-/-}$ and Wt littermates were also kindly provided by Dr. Clive Dickson's laboratory, Cancer Research, UK (Min et al., 1998).

Gli3^{Xt-J} mice were obtained from The Jackson Laboratory (stock No. JR0026: The Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbour, ME) and maintained on a pure C57BL/6 background. Genotyping has been previously described by Maynard et al. (2002).

 $Runx2^{+/-}$ mice, maintained on mixed NMRI/C57BL/6 background, were provided by Prof. Irma Thesleff's laboratory (University of Helsinki, Finland). For maintenance and genotyping see Åberg et al. (2004). *Gli3;Runx2* compound mutant mice were generated by mating *Gli3*^{+/Xt-J}; *Runx2*^{+/-} mice.

The age of the embryos was determined by the day of the appearance of the vaginal plug (E0) and by morphological criteria.

4.2 Tissue culture and bead implantation assays

E15.5 calvaria were dissected from embryos, and the brain and the skin were removed. The explants were placed on Nucleopore polycarbonate filters supported by grids and cultured in Dulbecco's minimal essential medium (DMEM) (Sigma) supplemented with 10% bovine calf serum (Sigma), glutamax and penicillin/streptomycin (Sigma).

For bead assays heparin-coated acrylic beads (Sigma) were incubated in 25 ng/µl recombinant human FGF2, FGF10 (R&D Systems) or bovine serum albumin (BSA) at 37 °C for 40 minutes before being placed on the explant. Bead assays were cultured from 24 hours up to 4 days.

4.3 Histological analyses

For all the histologic staining embryonic tissue were fixed either in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) or 10% neutral buffered formalin (pH 6.8) at 4 °C overnight, embedded in paraffin and sectioned at 7 μ m intervals. Before staining according to specific protocol, slides were dewaxed with Xylene and rehydrated in ethanol series.

4.3.1 Haematoxylin and eosin staining

Slides were stained with Mayer's Haematoxylin (Merck) for 30 seconds, followed by running water for 15 minutes. Then slides were washed with 95% ethanol and stained for 90 seconds in 1% EosinY solution. Slides were then dehydrated and mounted.

4.3.2 Alizarin red

Slides were stained with 2% Alizarin red S solution (pH 4.2) for 2 minutes followed by dehydration and mounting.

4.3.3 Alcian blue

Sections were stained with 1% Alcian blue 8GX solution (pH 2.5) (Sigma) for 30 minutes at room temperature following counterstaining by nuclear fast red.

4.3.4 VonKossa

Slides were treated with 5% silver nitrate solution (AgNO₃) under 60W bulb until black stain appeared in the bone matrix (for approximately 1 hour), rinsed with distilled water followed by 5% sodium thiosulphate for 3 minutes and rinsed again. The slides were counterstained with nuclear fast red.

4.3.5 Toluidine blue

Slides were rinsed in distilled water followed by 10 minute staining with 1% Toluidine blue and rinsed again.

4.3.6 Alkaline phosphatase

Sections were washed first in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and circled with Dako pen (Dako). Slides were then washed three times with NTMT and then stained with NBT/BCIP (BM Purple, Roche) in the dark until the blue colour developed. The colour reaction was terminated by washing slides in PBS.

4.4 Skeletal staining

4.4.1 Alcian blue alizarin red skeletal staining

Prior to fixation in 95% ethanol (overnight) the skin is removed from the embryos. For cartilage staining the embryos were incubated overnight in alcian blue staining solution (1 volume glacial acetic acid, 4 volumes 95% ethanol and 150 μ g/ml of alcian blue 8GX (Sigma)). Samples were then washed in 95% ethanol for 1 hour and then cleared in 2% KOH for 1-4 hours depending on the age. Tissues were transferred into alizarin red staining solution (1% KOH, 75 μ g/ml alizarin red-S) for 2-15 hours to stain the bones. Samples were then cleared in 20% glycerol, 1% KOH and then stored in 50% glycerol, 50% ethanol.

4.4.2 Alizarin red staining for calvarial explants

Explants were fixed overnight in 95% ethanol and then bone was stained with 1% KOH with 75 μ g/ml alizarin red. Explants were then cleared in 1% KOH in 20% glycerol for up to 3 hours. The stained explants were stored in 50% glycerol 50% ethanol.

4.5 BrdU incorporation

Measurement of the incorporation of the modified nucleotide (BrdU) during DNA synthesis was used to assay cell proliferation. For BrdU incorporation, pregnant females were injected intraperitoneally with 1 ml/100 g body weight of undiluted BrdU solution (Zymed). After 2 hours the mothers were sacrificed and the embryos collected, fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin and embedded into paraffin.

For organ culture explants, BrdU solution was added to the medium (1:200) for 3 hours before fixation and paraffin embedding.

The BrdU staining kit (Invitrogen) was used, where BrdU incorporated cells were detected using biotinylated monoclonal anti-BrdU and visualized with streptavidin-biotin staining system according to the manufactures instructions. Sections were counterstained with haematoxylin. BrdU-positive cells were counted in an area defined by a grid.

4.6 In situ hybridisation

4.6.1 ³⁵S in situ hybridisation

Paraffin section (7 μ m) were deparaffinised in xylene and rehydrated in ethanol series. Tissue sections were permeabilised with 7 μ g/ml proteinase K and fixed with 4% PFA for 20 minutes. To prevent background and non-specific binding of probes to the slides, the slides were treated with acetic anhydride. Tissues were hybridised overnight at 52 °C with ³⁵S-UTP labelled riboprobes (Table 1). Hybridisation was followed by high stringency washes; 30 minute in Wash 1 (5xSSC, 10 nM DDT) at 50 °C and 1 hour in Wash 2 (50% deionised formamide, 2xSSC, 20 mM DTT) at 65 °C. Slides were then washed in NTE (500 nM NaCl, 10 mM Tris-HCl, 5 mM EDTA) at 37 °C and treated with ribonuclease A (20 ng/ml in NTE) to remove non-specifically bound and excess probe. Following 30 minutes in Wash 2, and then 2xSSC and 0.1xSSC 15 minutes each, the tissue was dehydrated in ethanol series. The slides were coated with autoradiography liquid emulsion NTB (Kodak) diluted 1:1 with H₂O and exposed in a dark box for 10-18 days at 4 °C. The slides were developed and fixed (Kodak) in a dark room and then counterstained with haematoxylin.

4.6.2 Whole mount in situ hybridisation

Calvaria were dissected from E15.5 aged embryos and fixed in 4% PFA overnight. Explants were bleached in 6% H₂O₂ for 1 hour and then treated with 10 µg/ml proteinase K (Sigma) in PBT for 10 minutes at 37 °C. Tissues were then washed in 2 mg/ml glycine in PBST followed by PBST and then fixed in 4% PFA for 20 minutes. Tissues were prehybridised in PBST and hybridisation buffer (1:1) and then in hybridisation buffer (50% deionised formamide, 5xSSC pH5, 1% SDS, 50 µl/ml yeast tRNA, 50 µg/ml heparin in sterile DEPC treated H₂O) for 2 hours. The aliquot of Digoxigeninlabelled probe was denatured at 80 °C for 5 minutes and chilled on ice before mixed with hybridisation buffer at a concentration of 1 µg/ml (Table 1). Tissues were hybridised at 64 °C overnight followed by stringency washes; first three times for 30 minutes at 70 °C in Wash 1 (50% deionised formamide, 5xSSC pH4.5, 1% SDS) and then three times for 30 minutes in Wash 2 (50% deionised formamide, 5xSSC pH4.5). Next, explants were washed three times in MABT for 5 minutes and pre-blocked with 2% BBR (Roche), 10% heat activated goat serum and 200 mM levamisole in MAB for 3 hours at room temperature. Then tissues were washed in 2% BBR, 1% goat serum, 200 mM levamisole and anti-Dig-antibody coupled to alkaline phosphatase (Roche) at a dilution of 1:2000 with MAB overnight at 4 °C. Tissues were washed in MABT for 3 x 5 minutes followed by 5 x 1 hour and then left in MABT at 4 °C overnight. The following day the explants were washed three times in NTMT (100 mM).

Probe	Reference	Used in
Bmp2	Åberg et al., 1997	IV
Dhh	Rice et al., 2006	Ι
Dlx5	Liu et al., 1997	IV
Fgf3	Kettunen et al., 2000	III
Fgf7	Kettunen et al., 2000	III
Fgf10	Kettunen et al., 2000	III
Fgfr2IIIb	Kettunen et al., 1998	III
Fgfr2IIIc	Kettunen et al., 1998	III
Gli1	Rice et al., 2006	V
Gli2	Rice et al., 2006	IV, V
Gli3	Rice et al., 2006	I, IV, V
Gli3_whole mount	Ι	Ι
Ibsp	Rice et al., 1999	I, II
Ihh	Rice et al., 2006	I, IV, V
Msx2	Rice D et al., 2003	IV
Noggin	McMahon et al., 1998	IV
Oc	Rice D et al., 2003	IV, V
Osx	Rice D et al., 2003	V
Ptch1	Rice et al., 2004	I, IV, V
Runx2	Rice D et al., 2003	I, II, IV, V
Runx2-I	IV	IV
Shh	Rice et al., 2004	Ι
Twist1	Rice et al., 2000	Ι

Table 1. Probes used in *in situ* hybridisations in Studies I-V.

4.7 Protein isolation and immunoblotting

Calvaria were dissected from E15.5 Wt embryos and tissue samples taken from OFs of the frontal bone and from interfrontal suture respectively. Tissue samples were pooled from three calvaria of the same litter. Brain tissue of same aged Wt and *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} embryos were used as controls. Samples were lysed in radio-immunoprecipitation assay buffer (RIPA, Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with Complete protease inhibitor mixture (Roche Diagnostics). Protein concentration was determined with Pierce BCA protein assay kit (Thermo) and 10 μ g of each sample was probed for anti-GLI3 polyclonal antibody (AF3690, R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN), anti-GLI1 monoclonal antibody (Cell Signalling) and anti- α -tubulin antibody (DM1A, Sigma-Aldrich). The signals were quantified by Odyssey detection system (LI-COR).

4.8 Immunohistochemistry

Whole heads of embryos aged E15.5 were dissected, fixed with 4% PFA at 4 °C overnight, and sectioned at 7 μ m intervals. Tissue sections were deparaffinised and rehydrated. Sections were heated in the microwave in citric acid (pH 6.0). Sections were then washed in PBS and endogenous

peroxidase activity was blocked with H_2O_2 in methanol for 30 minutes at room temperature. Sections were then incubated with primary antibody: Polyclonal anti-phospho-Smad1/Smad5/Smad8 (Ser463/465) antibody (Millipore, Temecula, CA) overnight at 4 °C followed by the secondary antibody: anti-rabbit biotinylated. Immunoreactivity was visualized with Vectastain ABC kit (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA) following the manufacturer's instructions. Sections were counterstained with haematoxylin.

4.9 Calvarial osteoblasts and siRNA treatment

E15 NMRI mouse calvaria were dissected and separated from the overlying skin and the underlying meninges. Calvarial cells were isolated by four sequential trypsin-treatments. After 15 minutes 0.25% trypsin incubation, the first patch of cells was discarded, and the cells from the following trypsin treatments were pooled and cultured in T75 cell culture bottles in DMEM (Lonza, supplemented with 100 M Na-pyruvate, 2 mg/l L-glutamine, 1% penicillin-streptomycine, 10% FBS). At passage 2 the cells were transfected with control siRNA (Ambion Silencer Select control #1 siRNA, 4390843) and anti-RUNX2 siRNAs (Ambion Runx2 Silencer Select Pre-designed siRNA, 4390771) using Lipofectamine RNAiMAX reagent (Life Technologies, 13778) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Cells were kept in the siRNA transfection complex for three days, after which the medium was changed to osteogenic medium (DMEM (Lonza) supplemented by 100 M Na-pyruvate (Lonza), 2 mg/l L-glutamine (Lonza), 10% FBS, 10 mM -glycerophosphate (Sigma), 50 g/ml ascorbic acid (Sigma), and 100 ng/ml BMP2 (R&D Systems)) for 24 hours. For western blotting the cell samples were lysed in radio-immunoprecipitation assay buffer (RIPA, Sigma-Aldrich) with Complete protease inhibitor mixture added (Roche Diagnostics).

4.10 Statistical analyses

One-way ANOVA and independent samples *t*-test were used for the statistical analysis of normally distributed samples. When ANOVA was used for multiple comparisons, in order to determine which groups were different from which, Post Hoc tests were performed using the Bonferroni corrections in order to adjust from an inflated probability of a type I error. Mann-Whitney tests were chosen for non-normal samples. A *p*-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Table 2. Methods used in this study.

Method	Used in
BrdU incorporation	I, III, IV
Calvarial osteoblasts and siRNA treatment	V
Histological analyses	
Alcian blue	Ι
Alizarin red	Ι
Alkaline phosphatase	II
Haematoxylin Eosin staining	I, III
Toluidine blue	II
VonKossa	Ι
In situ hybridisation	
Preparation of probes	I, IV
Radioactive	I, II, III, IV, V
Whole mount	I, IV, V
Immunohistochemistry	IV
Mating and genotyping	I, II, III, IV, V
Protein isolation and immunoblotting	IV, V
Skeletal staining	I, II, IV, V
Statistical analyses	I, II, III, IV, V
Tissue culture and bead implantation assays	Ι

5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

5.1 Expression of Hh signalling pathway members in the Wt mouse calvaria (I, IV, V)

The fundamental role of Hh signalling during endochondral ossification prompted us to investigate its role during intramembranous ossification of calvarial bones. We studied the expression of Hh pathway members during the embryonic development of the mouse calvaria by *in situ* hybridisation (I, III, IV) (Figure 7). *Ihh* was the only Hh ligand detected, *Shh* and *Dhh* were not expressed (I). At E13.5 expression patterns were investigated at the frontal bone primordia. *Ihh* expression was seen as a narrow strip at the medial edge of the frontal bone primordia.



Figure 7. Schematic diagram of the expression pattern of Hedgehog (Hh) pathway members E13.5 in the frontal bone primordia at E13.5 (A) and in the sagittal suture at E15.5 (B).

A: At E13.5 *Ihh* is expressed in the border of the frontal bone primordia. *Gli1* and *Ptch1* are detected across the frontal bone primordia, while *Gli2* and *Gli3* are expressed in the frontal bone primordia as well as in the undifferentiated mesenchyme apically.

B: At E15.5 *Ihh* is detected again at the border of osteogenic front by restricted group of cells. *Gli1* and *Ptch1* are expressed across the whole osteogenic front. *Gli2* and *Gli3* are detected in the osteogenic front, as well as across the whole sutural mesenchyme.

The transmembrane receptor *Ptch1* and transcription factor *Gli1* were intensely expressed across the whole frontal bone primordia. At E15.5 *Ihh* was expressed at the OFs of the calvarial bones. Compared to *Ptch1* and *Gli1*, also expressed in the OF, the expression domain was again restricted to a small group of cells.

mRNA levels of Hh pathway members that we detected are concise with results previously described by Abzhanov et al. (2007). They showed that in dermal bones/mandible *Ihh* is expressed by more mature osteoblasts, while *Ptch1* and *Gli1* are detected in preosteoblasts.

We also investigated expression of the important mediators of Hh signalling: *Gli2* and *Gli3*. Both *Gli2* and *Gli3* had a diffuse expression pattern. At E13.5 they were detected across the frontal bone primordia, but expression was also seen more apically, in the undifferentiated mesenchymal cells. Two days later *Gli2* and *Gli3* were detected in the OFs as well as in the suture mesenchyme, where *Gli3*'s expression was more intense. Furthermore, expression of *Gli3* was strongest in the interfrontal suture and at the lateral edges of the interparietal bone (I).

In conclusion, *Ihh* was expressed by restricted group of more mature osteoblasts, but Ihh protein affects preosteoblasts in the frontal bone primordia at E13.5 and in the OF at E15.5 as *Ptch1* and *Gli1*, the direct transcriptional targets of Hh signalling, are expressed by these cells. The expression of *Gli2* and *Gli3*, on the other hand, extends to a broader area indicating that they function in cells that are devoid of the Hh signal, in less differentiated mesenchymal cells. It is known that *Gli2* and *Gli3* are not direct targets of Hh signalling, but what activates their transcription remains ambiguous. There is evidence that Wnt signalling is able to activate *Gli3* transcription in the spinal cord and in the retina (Alvarez-Medina et al., 2008; Yu et al., 2008; Borday et al., 2012).

5.2 Loss of Gli3 causes craniosynostosis in mice (I, II, IV, V)

Elevated Hh signalling is associated with craniosynostosis in humans as loss-of-function mutations in Hh-repressor *RAB23* cause carpenter syndrome representing premature suture fusion as a feature (Jenkins et al., 2007). Recent evidence also indicates that GCPS caused by loss-of-function mutations in *GL13* occasionally features premature fusion of the metopic suture (McDonald-McGinn et al., 2010; Hurst et al., 2011). To investigate effects of disturbed Hh signalling in the calvaria we used *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mouse as a model (I, II, IV, V). Interestingly, on the contrary to the human patients, bilateral craniosynostosis of the lambdoid suture was a 100% penetrant feature of *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice. Premature fusion of this suture was detected from E16.5 onwards (I, IV, V). The interfrontal suture was also abnormal. Paradoxally, the frontal bone margins remained wider apart, but ectopic ossification was detected in the interfrontal suture from E16.5 onwards. In some specimens this lead to premature fusion of the interfrontal suture by E18.5 (II). As *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice die at birth we could not verify if additional high percentage of the interfrontal sutures would fuse later. The coronal suture remained patent in *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice. The sagittal suture was wider compared to Wt samples.

The morphology of all the calvarial bones was abnormal in *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice. The size of the interparietal bone was larger compared to the Wt sample and lateral margins of the bone extended more ventrally. The architecture of the frontal bones differed significantly, overall bone area being greater compared to the Wt sample. The shape of the parietal bones was also abnormal, the size being fractionally smaller. In conclusion the morphology of the whole calvaria was altered in *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice. The integrity of the lambdoid and interfrontal sutures was lost and the shape as well as the size of all the bones was abnormal.

In many aspects *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice model GCPS (Vortkamp et al., 1992). In regard to the calvarial development, recent evidence indicates that craniosynostosis of the metopic suture is an occasional feature of GCPS (McDonald-McGinn et al., 2010; Hurst et al., 2011). Craniosynostosis of the lambdoid suture, which is a fully penetrant feature of *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice, is not seen in GCPS

patients. This might be explained by the very early fusion of the intramembranous squamous part of the occipital bone (interparietal) with the endochondral supraoccipital bone. In study II we show that $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ mice present heterotopic ossification also in the interfrontal suture that in severe cases leads to its premature fusion. As in humans, the phenotype in mice varies; at E18.5 only part of the interfrontal sutures were fused. The phenotype in mice varies depending on the amount of heterotopic ossification in the interfrontal suture, but in all of the studied $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ mice the frontal bone morphology was abnormal and heterotopic ossification was seen in all samples at E18.5. Premature metopic suture fusion in GCPS patients may have also been underdiagnosed as metopic suture fuses early in humans, beginning already at 1 year of age.

Heterotopic ossification detected in the interfrontal suture of *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice resemble Wormian bones, which arise from abnormal ossification centres in the calvaria that develop in addition to those present normally. Recent evidence indicates that Wormian bones may be associated with craniosynostosis and it is thus possible that the heterotopic ossification seen in the interfrontal suture is secondary phenomenon caused by the lambdoid synostoses. Studies, however, suggest that that Wormian bones always develop in a specific site in relation to the synostosis. In case of unilateral lambdoid synostosis, for example, Wormian bones are detected on the contralateral side. In case of midline metopic synostosis, Wormian bones form along the midline of the calvaria (Sanchez-Lara et al., 2007).

5.2.1 Gli3 affects both proliferation and differentiation of osteoblasts (I, II, IV)

Osteoprogenitor proliferation affects the size of the calvarial bones. We found that loss of *Gli3* significantly increased proliferation of cells in the OFs as well as in the suture mesenchyme of the interfrontal and lambdoid sutures in mice at E15.5 (I, IV). In concordance, the size of the frontal as well as interparietal bones was also enlarged (V). Gli3 is thus needed to restrict proliferation in the calvaria and uncontrolled proliferation contributes to the abnormal calvarial bone size and shape.

Increased proliferation of CNC cells as well as PM cells already at the patterning stage may also contribute to the size of the bones in $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ mice and could be further investigated. Excessive Hh signalling has been shown to lead directly to uncontrolled proliferation of neural crest cells causing hypertelorism; widely set eyes (Brugmann et al., 2010). Hypertelorism is a feature of GCPS as well as Gorlin syndrome, caused by mutations in *PTCH1* or *SMO* leading to ectopic Hh pathway activation (Aszterbaum et al., 1998; Xie et al., 1998). In fact, during mouse limb development, Gli3 has been shown to directly restrict the expression of regulators of the G₁–S cell-cycle transition and constrain S phase entry (Lopez-Rios et al., 2012).

We detected ectopic osteoblast differentiation in the sutural mesenchyme of interfrontal and lambdoid sutures at all stages of ossification studied. During frontal bone development ALP; an early marker of ossification was ectopically detected apically in relation to the frontal bone primordia in *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice already at E13.5 (II). Later on at E15.5 *Runx2-II*, *Dlx5*, *Osx*, *Ibsp* and *Oc* were all expressed ectopically in the interfrontal suture (II, IV, V). In the lambdoid suture aberrant *Runx2-II* and *Dlx5* expression was also detected at E15.5, while *Twist1*, a repressor of Runx2, was downregulated (I, IV). Expression of *Runx2-I* was reduced especially in the interfrontal suture of *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice at E15.5 indicating that the process of forming ectopic bones had already started at E15.5, one day before ectopic bones appeared (IV).

5.2.2 Abnormal cartilage formation in *Gli3*^{Xt-J Xt-J}mice (I, IV)

We found abnormalities in cartilage formation to be associated with premature interfrontal and lambdoid suture fusion. Primary cartilage, ectocranial to the lambdoid suture, was thicker compared to the Wt specimens (I). Ectopic secondary cartilage was also detected in association with ectopic ossification of the interfrontal suture (II).

Transient cartilage formation has been associated previously with normal intramembranous ossification of calvarial bones, and chondrocyte markers Sox9 and type II collagen are normally detected in the calvaria (Markens, 1975; Åberg et al., 2005). Sahar et al. (2005) have shown that the posterior section of the interfrontal suture fuses postnatally by endochondral ossification. Posterior frontal suture fusion is not possible to study in $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ mice as they die at birth. Cartilage formation has, however, also been identified in pathological situations. Heterotopic cartilage has been reported in sagittal suture of Apert syndrome mouse model ($Fgfr2^{+/S252W}$) prior to premature suture fusion (Wang et al., 2005). Altered mechanical forces in the dura mater have also been related to transient secondary cartilage rod formation (Solem et al., 2011). However, Gli3 may directly affect chondrocyte differentiation in the calvaria as during endochondral ossification Gli3 represses chondrocyte differentiation by restricting the amount of proliferating chondrocytes (Koziel et al., 2005).

5.2.3 Abnormal brain morphology of *Gli3*^{Xt-J Xt-J} mice (II)

Gli3 has a well-established role in CNS development (Tole et al., 2000; Blaess et al., 2008). We investigated if the abnormal brain morphology correlated with the calvarial anomalies at E16.5 (II). Compared to the Wt brain we detected the following macroscopic morphological changes; the olfactory bulbs had failed to develop completely, the dorsomedial telencephalon was truncated and the diencephalon extended more anteriorly. The midbrain was expanded and the cerebellum was larger extending more ventrally.

We found the calvarial bone anomalies to correlate with the abnormal brain morphology. The frontal bones normally reside superior to the cerebral hemispheres and the interfrontal suture forms between the two frontal bones superior to the falx cerebri that separates the cerebral hemispheres. Frontal sections across the frontal bone area of $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ mice confirmed that the falx cerebri was absent from between the cerebral hemispheres. Frontal bones were developing lateral to the forebrain, but no clear interfrontal suture was detected and ossification was observed across the midline. The sutural architecture is completely lost in the interfrontal suture. The enlarged and ventrally further extending cerebellum also corresponds with the wider interparietal bone.

On one hand, initially it was thought that the CNS defects of craniosynostosis patients were ultimately caused by compression due to the premature suture fusion. On the other hand, it has been suggested that the craniosynostosis could be secondary to the brain defects and caused by mechanical pressure changes transmitted by the dura mater (Faro et al., 2006). Several recent studies have attempted to shed light to this controversy by looking at craniosynostosis syndromes caused by elevated activation of Fgfr mouse models. These syndromes are characterised by both craniosynostosis and CNS anomalies. Comparison of mouse models of the two major Apert mutations found no correlation between brain phenotypes and the extent or pattern of coronal suture fusion (Aldridge et al., 2010). Holmes and Basilico (2012) further showed that coronal suture synostosis occurs when Apert syndrome causing mutation is limited to the PM indicating aetiological independence from the CNC derived dura mater. These findings suggest surprisingly high level of independence in the development of these organelles. However, our findings indicate clear

correlation between these structures. This tempts us to speculate that the development of the brain and the skull are synchronised at a very early stage during patterning of the tissues. Ablating *Gli3* conditionally either from the CNS or the calvarial mesenchyme by using *Gli3*^{flox} mutant mice that harbour *loxP* sites flanking exon 8 of *Gli3* (*Gli3*^{tm1Alj/J}) would provide us with a valuable tool in studying the role of these individual organelles in calvarial development (Blaess et al., 2008).

Novel findings on the role of Gli3R in the midbrain during palatal development reveal an early link between brain and face development. Fuzzy (Fuz) is responsible for normal trafficking of the retrograde intraflagellar transport, carried out by IFT43, for example (Gray et al., 2009; Brooks and Wallingford, 2012). Fuz null allele (Fuz^{-/-}) mice obtain a high-arched-palate. The palate develops from the first branchial arch formed by the CNC that arises from the posterior mesencephalon and rhombomere 1, where Fgf8 controls neural crest cell number (Osumi-Yamashita et al., 1994; Creuzet et al., 2004). Distal tip of the primary cilia is lost in $Fuz^{-/-}$ mice leading to attenuated Gli3 processing and subsequently to absence of Gli3R (Tabler et al., 2013). Gli3R is necessary to suppress Fgf8 expression in the midbrain (Aoto et al., 2002). Loss of Gli3R disturbs palate development in Fuz^{-/-} mice from the initial stage onwards as hindbrain fates and Fgf8 expression domain are expanded. Consequently, elevated numbers of neural crest cells migrate to the BA1, and subsequently form enlarged maxillae. Furthermore, Fuz^{-/-} mice display craniosynostosis, which is also linked to increased Fgf signalling (Tabler et al., 2013). Fuz^{-/-} mice are reported to have fusion of the coronal suture as do mice and humans with hyperactive Fgf signalling. Interestingly, although calvarial phenotype was not the focus of Zhang et al. (2011) study of the on Fuz^{-/-} mice, they published an image of the skeletal stained E18.5 aged calvaria, where the interparietal bone and lambdoid suture area show high resemblance to Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice. Excessive Fgf8 transcription and increased amount of neural crest cells may also have an effect in Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice. Specifically the bones that arise from the CNC, the frontal and interparietal bones, showed increased ossification in Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice.

Koyabu et al. noted that in many species the interparietal bone fuses early to adjacent bones; either the supraoccipital or the parietal (Koyabu et al., 2012). Furthermore, they suggested that enlargement of the brain in relation to the body size among species coupled to the earlier fusion of the interparietal bone may be caused by changes in Tgf β and/or Fgf signalling. Both pathways contribute to brain development and increased signalling of both pathways cause premature suture fusion. The same criteria apply for Hh signalling. Mounting evidence suggests that increasing Hh signalling by disruption of Hh-repressors causes suture fusion and, interestingly, in mice this specifically affects the interparietal bone.

5.3 Interaction of Gli3 and Fgf signalling during calvarial development (I, III)

Gli3 participates in tissue patterning and differentiation by regulating Fgf pathway. Gli3 controls patterning of the isthmus and cerebellum by restricting *Fgf*8 expression domain (Blaess et al., 2008). During mammary gland development Gli3 induces and patterns the mammary placodes by activating Fgf10, which in turn stimulates canonical Wnt signalling through Fgfr2IIIb. Veltmaat et al. were able to rescue abnormal mammogenesis in *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice by application of exogenous Ffg10 (Veltmaat et al., 2006). We therefore investigated if Fgf signalling acted downstream of Gli3 in the developing calvaria.

5.3.1 Role of Fgf signalling pathway in the calvaria (III)

Fgf signalling is involved in several stages of calvarial ossification. Activating mutations of *FGFR1*, -2 and -3 cause premature fusion of the coronal suture (reviewed by Passos-Bueno et al., 2008). Several Fgf ligands are expressed in the calvaria. In study III we investigated the role of Fgfr2 splice variants; Fgfr2IIIb and Fgfr2IIIc, during craniofacial development. Fgfr2IIIb and its ligand Fgf10 govern tooth and palate development, while Fgfr2IIIc and an important ligand Fgf2 have a role in calvarial development. We show in study III that both receptor variants of Fgfr2 and their ligands *Fgf2* and *Fgf10* are, however, all expressed in the frontal bone primordia of Wt calvaria at E13.5. Although, in physiological situation Fgf2 is the predominant ligand in the calvaria, which signals through the receptor Fgfr2IIIc, in pathological situations Fgf10 is present and can utilize the ectopically expressed receptor Fgfr2IIIb.

5.3.2 Fgf2 rescues craniosynostosis in the Gli3Xt-JXt-J calvaria (I)

To examine if Fgf signalling acted downstream of Gli3 in the developing calvaria we applied Fgf2 and Fgf10 impregnated beads in the lambdoid suture of $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ mice aged E15.5 in tissue culture. Fgf2 was, indeed, able to prevent the lambdoid suture synostoses of $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ mice, while Fgf10 or BSA-control beads had no effect. Fgf2 was able to reduce elevated osteoblastic progenitor proliferation in $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ lambdoid suture to a normal level. We also showed by *in situ* hybridization that Fgf2 additionally prevented osteoblastic differentiation by restoring *Twist1* expression in the lambdoid suture. Our results suggest that in the lambdoid suture Gli3 inhibits osteoblast differentiation by activating Fgf2, which in turn represses Runx2 activation by inducing *Twist1* expression.

The effects of Fgf signalling on osteoblast differentiation depend on the differentiation stage targeted. In immature calvarial osteoblasts Fgf2 decreases calvarial mesenchymal proliferation and inhibits osteoblastic differentiation, while Fgf applied on OFs, on the other hand, accelerates suture closure as the cells targeted are already partially differentiated into osteoblasts. Rice et al. (2000) have previously shown that Fgf2 has an inhibitory effect on calvarial ossification by activating *Twist1* expression.

We suggest that in the lambdoid suture Gli3 interacts, either directly or indirectly, with Twist1 to inhibit osteoblastic differentiation as Twist1 binds to the Runt DNA-binding domain of the Runx2 protein to inhibit its function (Bialek et al., 2004). Gli3 and Twist1 are known to co-operate also during limb patterning as $Twist1^{+/-}$; $Gli3^{+/Xt-J}$ compound mutant mice display a more severe polydactyly than that seen in either $Twist1^{+/-}$ or $Gli3^{+/Xt-J}$ single mutant mice (O Rourke et al., 2002). Furthermore, Twist1 is also required to inhibit *Shh* expression in the anterior limb bud (Zhang et al., 2010). This suggests that Twist1 may also have a role in restricting Hh ligand (Ihh) activation during calvarial ossification.

5.4 Genetically reducing *Runx2* expression from *Gli3*^{Xt-J Xt-J} mice prevents premature suture fusion (IV)

Abnormal expression pattern of *Runx2* was identified in the lambdoid suture of $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ mice in the study I. $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ calvaria is characterised by excess ossification, while $Runx2^{+/-}$ mice have truncated calvarial bones. Runx2 and Gli family proteins are also known to interact during ossification. Runx2 has been shown to physically interact with Gli2, and Ihh promotes osteoblast

differentiation by initiating *Runx2* expression, which is mediated by Gli2 (Shimoyama et al., 2007). Gli3R, on the other hand, has also been shown to inhibit the function of Runx2 by competing for the same DNA binding site (competitive inhibition) (Ohba et al., 2008).

This prompted us to investigate if Gli3 is necessary in restraining Runx2 function in the calvaria, and if Runx2 dosage is important in maintaining the correct balance of osteogenesis in OFs of calvarial bones. We generated $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$; $Runx2^{+/-}$ compound mutant mice to reduce the dosage of Runx2 in the calvaria. Interestingly, lambdoid as well as interfrontal sutures remained patent in these mice at E18.5. The frontal, parietal and interparietal bones all showed more hypoplasia compared to $Runx2^{+/-}$ calvaria (IV). As anticipated, osteoblasts failed to differentiate in $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$; $Runx2^{-/-}$ mice, similar to $Runx2^{-/-}$ mice.

Runx2 has a fundamental role in controlling lineage-specification as well as cell proliferation during ossification (Young, et al. 2007). We found that increased proliferation detected in $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ lambdoid and interfrontal sutures was indeed reduced to a normal level in corresponding $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$; *Runx2*^{+/-} sutures. Furthermore, ectopic expression of genes related to osteoblast differentiation: *Runx2*, *Dlx5* and *Oc*, seen in $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ lambdoid and interfrontal sutures, was also absent in $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ [*Xunx2*^{+/-} mice (IV).

It is noteworthy that premature activation of *Runx2* expression in cranial mesenchyme using the paired related homeobox 1 promoter, which directs the transgene expression to limb bud and cranial mesenchyme from E9.5 onwards, causes early onset of mineralization, as well as complete destruction of the calvarial morphology and craniosynostoses of multiple sutures and fontanelles by E18.5 (Maeno et al., 2011). Increased number of *RUNX2* alleles also in humans has been reported to cause multiple craniosynostoses involving the coronal, sagittal and lambdoid sutures (Varvagiannis et al., 2013; Greives et al., 2013).

5.4.1 Gli3 acts as a gatekeeper to control the differentiation of osteoprogenitors by regulating Bmp signalling cascade (IV)

Elevating Bmp signalling in the calvaria, either by deleting *Noggin* or by constitutively activating *BMP type IA receptor* in the CNC, causes craniosynostosis (Warren et al., 2003, Komatsu et al., 2013). Gli3R, on the other hand, has been shown to directly repress *Bmp2* transcription during osteoblast differentiation (Garrett et al., 2003). Evidently, Bmp2 and Bmp4 specifically induce activation of Dlx5, which in turn activates *Runx2-II* expression. As we found *Dlx5*, as well as *Runx2-II*, to be ectopically expressed in the affected sutures of $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ calvaria, and removal of one allele of *Runx2* from $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ mice normalized expression of both of these genes, we next investigated Bmp signalling in these mice (IV). We found *Bmp2* and *Bmp4* to be also ectopically expressed in the interfrontal and lambdoid sutures of $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ mice. Furthermore, higher phosphorylation of Smad1/5/8, which indicates elevated Bmp signalling, was detected in the corresponding locations. Ectopic *Bmp* expression, as well as elevated phosphorylation of Smad1/5/8, was normalized in $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$;*Runx2^{+/-}* sutures (IV).

Mounting evidence indicates that Gli3 is able to restrict Runx2 function, but the question that remains is how is *Runx2-II* isoform ectopically activated in *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} calvaria? Our results indicate that Gli3 acts as a gatekeeper to restrict the progenitors of osteoblasts from differentiating in the calvaria by regulating Bmp-dependent activation of *Dlx5* and *Runx2-II*. Bmp signalling is required for CNC derived mesenchyme to commit to osteogenic pathway (Abzhanov et al., 2007). Dlx5 also regulates determination of CNC cell fate and in the calvaria CNC contributes to the affected frontal and interparietal bones. Although $Dlx5^{-l-}$ mice develop truncated calvarial bones in which *Runx2* is expressed, if both *Dlx5* and *Dlx6* are deleted, calvarial bones fail to form indicating redundancy in

Dlx-gene function (Depew et al., 2005). Just recently, Dlx5 has been shown to bind directly to an enhancer that specifically directs *Runx2-II* expression to osteoblast lineage cells. Furthermore, Smad1 as well as Dlx5 are part of the enhanceosome that activate this enhancer (Kawane et al., 2014). It is noteworthy that expression of *Dlx5* and *Bmp2* are both downregulated in the *Runx2^{+/-}* calvaria and *Runx2^{-/-}* mouse does not express *Dlx5* nor *Bmp2*, which could affect decreased expression of these genes in *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J};*Runx2^{+/-}* mice. However, the significant finding is that ectopic activation of Runx2-II corresponds with the *Gli3* expression pattern. In study I we showed that *Gli3* expression is strongest in the interfrontal suture and at the lateral edges of the interparietal bone, and in study IV ectopic *Runx2-II* activation was specifically detected at these locations in *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice. Furthermore, by genetically reducing *Runx2* from *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice we were able to specifically prevent the ectopic expression of *Runx2-II* at the interfrontal and lambdoid sutures.

Increasing evidence indicates that Hh signalling controls Bmp signalling. Lenton et al. (2011) have showed that loss of *Ihh* leads to a reduction of Bmp signalling in the calvaria. This is in concordance with our results concerning the increased Bmp signalling in the absence of *Gli3*, as when Ihh is not present the amount of Gli3R compared to Gli3FL is increased, and so Bmp signalling is hindered. In the limb bud Gli3 also regulates digit patterning by influencing Bmp signalling pathway. Gli3 inhibits the expression of the Bmp antagonist *Gremlin1* to allow the proliferating progenitors to exit toward Bmp-dependent chondrogenic differentiation (Lopez-Rios et al., 2012).

5.5 Evidence that Gli3R – Runx2 – Ihh –feedback loop controls intramembranous ossification of calvarial bones (V)

We and others have identified Ihh as the only Hh ligand present during embryonic calvarial bone development (I; Jacob et al., 2007; Kim et al., 1998). We thus wanted to study the interaction of Ihh and Gli3 during calvarial development.

5.5.1 Genetically reducing the dose of *Ihh* does not alter the *Gli3*^{Xt-J Xt-J}calvarial phenotype (V)

Absence of *Ihh* causes delayed calvarial ossification (Abzhanov et al., 2007; Lenton et al., 2011). Ihh has been shown to activate *Runx2* expression during ossification (Shimoyama et al., 2007), while in study IV we were able to rescue craniosynostosis in $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ mice by reducing *Runx2* dosage. This prompted us to investigate whether by deleting *Ihh* from $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ mice we could mimic the effect of partial *Runx2* deletion. We performed skeletal staining on $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$, *Ihh*^{-/-} and $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$;*Ihh*^{-/-} mice aged E16.6, E17.5 and E18.5. Calvarial bones of *Ihh*^{-/-} mice were smaller and the calvarial sutures wider compared to the Wt samples at all stages studied. Surprisingly, additional deletion of *Ihh* from $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ mice had no effect on the calvarial phenotype. Lambdoid and interfrontal sutures fused prematurely in $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$;*Ihh*^{-/-} mice and morphology as well as size of calvarial bones was similar to that in $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ mice (V).

We also studied osteoblast differentiation in the frontal bones at a tissue level by looking at expression patterns of early osteoblast markers; *Runx2* and *Osx* and late osteoblast markers; *Ibsp* and *Oc* in *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J}, *Ihh*^{-/-} and *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J};*Ihh*^{-/-} mice at E15.5. Osteoblasts differentiated normally in all of these mice as all markers were expressed. All of the markers were also detected in the ectopic bones of *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} and *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J};*Ihh*^{-/-} mice already at this early stage. This also infers that the molecular toolbox used to control osteoblast development and therefore bone development of the

heterotopic bone is normal (V). These sections also confirmed that the frontal bones of $Ihh^{-/-}$ mice were small and interfrontal suture was wide compared to the Wt sample.

The analogous phenotype of $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ and $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$; $Ihh^{-/-}$ mice prompted us to examine *Ptch1* and *Gli1* expression in the calvaria of $Ihh^{-/-}$, $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ and $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$; $Ihh^{-/-}$ mice to establish the level of Hh signalling (V). Expression of *Ptch1* and *Gli1* is considered the read-out of Hh signalling. mRNA of *Ptch1* and *Gli1* was detected in the frontal bones of Wt mouse at E15.5. In *Ihh*^{-/-} calvaria *Ptch1* and *Gli1* were not expressed, confirming that Ihh is the only Hh ligand present in the calvaria at this stage. In $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ mice *Ptch1* and Gli1 expression was comparable to the Wt, although they were ectopically expressed also in the ectopic bones seen in the interfrontal suture. Interestingly, in the double mutant mice, *Ptch1* and *Gli1* mRNA were not detected indicating that Hh signalling does not have a role in the aetiology of craniosynostosis during the stage of osteoblast differentiation.

Shh has a fundamental role in patterning of the head. Although *Shh* is not expressed in the calvarial tissue during the foetal period of the ossification phase, it is known that Shh affects early events of calvarial development as deletion of *Shh* from neural crest cells disrupts frontal bone development (Jeong et al., 2004). Furthermore, an interesting recent finding indicates that calvarial mesenchymal progenitor cells express *Gli1* transiently from E7.5 to E8.5 (Deckelbaum et al., 2010). It is thus probable, that calvarial development of *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice is also affected by reduced repression of molecular pathways regulated by Shh signalling during early stages of head development. Calvarial phenotype of *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J};*Shh^{-/-}* mice has not been published, but additional deletion of *Gli3* from *Shh^{-/-}* mice has a considerable, positive impact on head development (Rallu et al., 2002; Litingtung and Chiang, 2000). Interestingly, additional deletion of the Hh co-receptor *Gas1* from *Shh^{+/-}* mice (*Gas1^{-/-};Shh^{+/-}* mice) causes premature fusion of the coronal suture, which is not seen in *Gas1^{-/-}* mice (Seppälä et al., 2007), indicating that reduction of *Shh* activity may also have an effect on suture patency. Heterozygous *Shh* mice have not been reported to have calvarial abnormalities.

Gli1 is a direct transcriptional target of Hh signalling. Our results indicate that absence of *Gli1* from the calvaria during prenatal calvarial ossification has no effect on embryonic suture patency as neither *Ihh*-^{*I*-} nor *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J};*Ihh*-^{*I*-} mice express *Gli1* in the embryonic calvaria (V). Interestingly, recent data by Zhao et al. (2015) show that ablation of *Gli1* in mice at one month of age postnatally leads to fusion of all calvarial sutures in two months. This is evidently due to the loss of MSCs originating from the postnatal sutures. From one month of age *Gli1* expression is restricted to the midsutural cells and Ihh, secreted from the OFs, regulate differentiation of these *Gli1*-positive MSCs. They further propose that craniosynostosis is caused by loss of these MSCs from the calvarial suture (Zhao et al., 2015). These data indicate that embryonic and postnatal regulation of suture patency differs profoundly, which further highlights the diverse aetiology of craniosynostosis.

5.5.2 Gli3R regulates osteogenic fate at the periphery of the osteogenic front (IV, V)

During endochondral ossification Gli3R does not function in physiological situation as Ihh has an indispensable role in inhibiting Gli3R formation. In pathological situations, i.e. in the absence of *Ihh*, Gli3R is responsible for many aspects of endochondral ossification defects (Koziel et al., 2005). During limb patterning, on the other hand, Gli3R functions independently, prior to Shh activation (te Welscher et al., 2002). The fact that additional deletion of *Ihh* from *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice did not affect the calvarial phenotype as well as absence of Hh signalling in *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J};*Ihh*^{-/-} mice corresponded to the findings concerning the limb bud patterning in *Shh*^{-/-};*Gli3*^{-/-} mice (te Welscher et al., 2002; Hill et al., 2009), prompted us to hypothesise that Gli3R has a significant role in the calvaria. Furthermore,

in the mouse model of PHS, a syndrome caused by mutations in *GLI3*, where only the level of Gli3FL is reduced, while Gli3R is unaffected, calvarial sutures remain patent (Böse et al., 2002).

As Gli3 isoform switching occurs at a post-transcriptional level the distribution of the isoforms is not possible to study at mRNA level. In study IV we found Gli3R to be the predominant isoform present in the calvaria by Western blot analysis using an antibody that recognises both the R-and the FL-isoforms. The presence of Hh ligand determines Gli3 isoform distribution and the expression pattern of *Ptch1* and *Gli1*, considered the read-out of Hh signalling, indicated that Gli3 is in the FL-form in the OFs. Early preosteoblasts that reside further away from *Ptch1/Gli1* expression domain, in the sutural mesenchyme, also expressed *Gli3* (I, V). These cells should obtain Gli3 in the R-isoform. In study V we confirmed this by comparing Gli3-isoform distribution in explants obtained from frontal bone OFs and interfrontal sutural mesenchyme, respectively, by Western blot analysis. Gli3R was present in higher levels in the sutural mesenchyme of the interfrontal suture compared to the OFs of the frontal bones (V).

Our results suggest that Gli3R functions prior to *Ihh* activation in the primary stage of osteoblast differentiation at the very edge of the mesenchymal condensations, where mesenchymal cells are committed to an osteogenic fate, in the periphery of the OFs. In these initial, very early preosteoblasts Gli3R restricts proliferation and refrains further differentiation possibly by activating *Fgf2* expression (I), repressing *Bmp2* expression (IV), as well as by restraining Runx2-I isoform from binding to DNA (Ohba et al., 2008).

Ihh, on the other hand, is expressed in the OFs of calvarial bones, but only by a subpopulation of cells: in more mature osteoblasts (Abzhanov et al., 2007; V). Ihh acts as a gatekeeper at the boarder of mature bone and the OF, like Abzhanov et al. (2007) postulated, from where it signals to the cells of the OF to allow them to differentiate into osteoblasts (Jacob et al., 2007; Lenton et al., 2011). We propose that Ihh does this ultimately by inhibiting the processing of Gli3 into the R-isoform. Our findings draw individual and somewhat contradicting findings together in building a unifying model of the role of Ihh during calvarial ossification.

Hh controls cell patterning and cell differentiation in many embryonic tissues by acting as a long-range morphogen. Briscoe and Thérond state in a recent review that Gli activity, controlled by Hh signalling, is responsible for patterning many tissues. It is necessary to regulate both the level and the timing of Gli activity to influence when and where genes are activated. Different Hh ligand concentrations result in a Gli activity gradient, which has been postulated to contribute to tissue patterning activity. The level of the R to FL ratio of Gli proteins activates different genes. The duration of Hh signalling is also important (Briscoe and Thérond, 2013).

Several mouse models that have recently been published also underline the fundamental role of Gli3R in calvarial morphogenesis. Feng et al. (2013) introduced an ENU-induced recessive mouse model, $Ptch1^{DL}$, in which DL represents a hypomorphic allele of Ptch1. These mice show very similar calvarial phenotype as $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ mice. Reduction of Ptch1 function leads to decrease in Gli3R as Hh signalling is activated in the absence of Hh ligand. Fuz^{-f-} mouse is another example of reduced production of Gli3R causing craniosynostosis (Tabler et al., 2013). Loss-of-function mutations in *RAB23* also cause craniosynostosis in humans (Jenkins et al., 2007). Rab23 is a negative regulator of Hh signalling possibly by precisely promoting the generation of Gli3R (Eggenschwiler et al., 2006). Regard et al. (2013) have shown that deletion of Gnas from mice causes heterotopic ossification. *Gnas* encodes $G\alpha_s$, which is a physiological activator of PKA, also an inhibitor of Hh signalling. They show that Hh signalling activation due to loss of $G\alpha_s$ signalling is both necessary and sufficient for heterotopic ossification through the intramembranous mechanism and also speculate that intramembranous bone formation in the calvaria may be promoted by ligand-independent activation of Hh signalling (Regard et al., 2013).

Transcriptional control of *Gli3* in the calvaria remains elusive. In the spinal cord as well as the retina Wnt signalling has been shown to repress Hh signalling by activating *Gli3* expression (Alvarez-Medina et al., 2008; Yu et al., 2008; Borday et al., 2012). Furthermore, primary cilia have also been linked to Wnt signalling. Brugmann et al. (2010) found that the loss of *Kif3a* caused truncated primary cilia on CNC cells associated with downregulated β-catenin-dependent Wnt signalling, as well as reduced *Gli3* expression levels. They further speculated if primary cilia would integrate Wnt and Hh signals, thereby regulating *Gli* expression (Brugmann et al., 2010). Interestingly, it has also been proposed that Wnt activation is required for calvarial suture patency, while Wnt inhibition results in ectopic bone formation within the suture mesenchyme and suture closure (Behr et al., 2010).

5.5.3 Runx2 is able to activate Ihh expression in the calvaria (V)

During chondrocyte maturation Runx2 enhances chondrocyte proliferation by directly inducing *Ihh* expression (Yoshida et al., 2004). Gli3R, on the other hand, interacts with Runx2 at many levels to inhibit its function (Ohba et al., 2008; I; IV). This prompted us to examine the possibility that Runx2 would activate *Ihh* expression also during calvarial intramembranous ossification as *Runx2* expression precedes *Ihh* expression in the differentiating osteoblast lineage. We isolated E15.5 calvarial primary osteoblasts and restricted *Runx2* expression in these cells by anti-Runx2 siRNA while inducing osteoblast differentiation. We found Ihh protein levels significantly downregulated in these cells compared to the control group (V).

We propose that in the OFs of calvarial bones Ihh-Gli3-Bmp2-Dlx5-Runx2-Ihh feedback loop regulates ossification. Gli3R restricts osteoblast differentiation in the sutural margin of the OF by repressing bone specific *Runx2-II* by inhibiting *Bmp2* expression. Mature osteoblasts at the border of mature bone and the OF express *Ihh*, which acts as a morphogen to the cells of the OF. Ihh reduces the amount of Gli3R in these cells and thus allows *Bmp2* expression that further activates Runx2-II by Dlx5-dependent manner, while also activates proliferation. Runx2-II, on the other hand, activates *Ihh* expression in the final stages of osteoblast differentiation.

As osteoblasts differentiate normally in the absence of *Ihh*, it is clear that other parallel pathways control osteoblast differentiation in the OF. Our model also fails to explain what sustains Gli3R function once the OFs of the opposing bones have come close enough so that Ihh can diffuse across the suture. Is suture patency maintained simply by many parallel inhibitory factors, such as Gli3R, Twist1, Axin2, Noggin that all act in integrated fashion? Or is suture mesenchyme non-osteogenic and completely independent from the OFs that need to be apoptopically eliminated prior suture fusion? Is this suture mesenchyme missing from sutures that fuse prematurely?

It is noteworthy that Msx2 also controls *Ihh* expression during chondrocyte maturation (Amano et al., 2008). *Msx2* is expressed in the OFs of calvarial bones and may co-operate with Runx2 in regulating *Ihh* expression. Increased activation of *Msx2* in humans and mice also causes craniosynostosis (Liu et al., 1995; Liu et al., 1999).

6. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The aim of this thesis was to unravel the role of Hh signalling, specifically of the transcription factor Gli3 and Hh ligand Ihh in the regulation of calvarial bone development. In addition, we also set out to reveal interactions of Hh signalling pathway with other molecular regulators of calvarial development.

We found that Hh signalling pathway participates in calvaria development and elevated Hh signalling causes craniosynostosis in mice. Recent findings indicate that specifically Gli3R has a critical role in calvarial development (IV; V; Tabler et al., 2013). We have shown that deletion of Gli3 in mice causes craniosynostosis of the lambdoid as well as the interfrontal suture (I and II). Gli3R maintains suture patency by several mechanisms (Figure 8). Gli3 is expressed in differentiating osteoblasts from early until late maturation stages. At the edge of osteogenic condensation, between the sutural mesenchymal cells and the OF, the mesenchymal progenitor cells and early preosteoblasts express Gli3. As Ihh, expressed by more mature osteoblasts, does not reach these cells, Gli3 is in the R-isoform. Gli3R inhibits osteoblast differentiation from proceeding by activating Fgf2, which further activates *Twist1* expression (I). Twist1 inhibits Runx2 function in early preosteoblasts (Bialek et al., 2004). Obba et al. have also shown that Gli3R is able to inhibit Runx2 function directly by competing for the same DNA binding site on the osteocalcin promoter (Ohba et al., 2008). Gli3R also inhibits *Bmp2* expression in these cells, which leads to attenuation of Dlx5 and osteoblasts specific Runx2-II expression in the early stages of osteoblast differentiation (II). Ihh, expressed at the border of mature bone and OF, acts as a long-range morphogen and reaches the cells of the OF, confirmed by *Ptch1* and *Gli1* expression. Gli3 is in the FL-form in these cells and Gli3R is not there to inhibit osteoblast differentiation from proceeding further (V). Our results also suggest that Runx2 activates Ihh expression in the mature osteoblasts (V) and Ihh-Gli3-Bmp2-Dlx5-Runx2-Ihh feedback loop regulates ossification of calvarial bones in the OFs.



Figure 8. Schematic diagram of the role of Hedgehog signalling during calvarial intramembranous ossification (refer to the text for details).

The studies included in this thesis have focused on the role of Hh signalling in the stages of calvarial intramembranous ossification from E12.5 onwards when osteoblastic markers are first detected. We have provided evidence as to why calvarial bones of $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ mice are large in size and how Hh signalling regulates ossification in the OFs. During this thesis project new intriguing findings concerning the earlier role of Hh signalling in determining calvarial mesodermal cells, as well as the effect of Gli3R in cranial neural crest cell population size point to an earlier role of Gli3 in calvarial patterning. Possibly we could find answers to questions that this thesis did not address: Why do only certain sutures fuse in $Gli3^{Xt-J/Xt-J}$ mice? Our data indicate that Gli3 expression is stronger in the interfrontal suture and at the lateral edges of the interparietal bone at E15.5 compared to other calvarial sutures, which may of course have an effect. It is, however, also noteworthy that the lambdoid and interfrontal sutures are the only sutures where all the components that form the suture are exclusively derived either from PM or CNC, respectively (Jiang et al., 2002; Yoshida et al., 2008; Figure 1). The coronal and sagittal sutures that remain patent are composed of both PM and CNC derived tissues.

Gli3 mutant mouse could serve as a good model to clarify more universal questions concerning craniosynostosis. What happens to the sutural mesenchymal tissue in craniosynostosis? Is the pressure of the overgrowing calvarial bones enough to eliminate the sutural mesenchyme or does the sutural mesenchymal tissue fail to differentiate in the first place? What makes two bones fuse? Do they fuse simply when two bone ends come into close enough proximity? Research on calvarial bone development has also focused, to a large extent, on frontal and parietal bones and the coronal suture that unites them. The details on interparietal bone development and how lambdoid suture is established are scarce. *Gli3* mutant mouse provides an excellent model to study earlier stages of interparietal bone development in more detail.

Head development involves the integrated formation of the calvaria, facial skeleton, cranial base, and the brain, all of which express *Gli3*. Furthermore, all of these tissues suffer varying degree of malformation in craniosynostotic syndromes as well as in *Gli3*^{Xt-J/Xt-J} mice. It is not, however, known how craniosynostosis may depend on changes elsewhere in the affected skull, and how changes in the major subdivisions of the skull contribute to the final dysmorphic phenotype. Lineage-specific or developmental stage-specific expression of *Gli3* would allow us to assess the influence of these separate regions on calvarial suture fusion during embryonic development. This would also circumvent the lethality of *Gli3* null allele mice at birth and would allow assessment of postnatal growth. Thorough understanding of how development of different tissues of the head is integrated could have a huge impact on management of pathological conditions involving the head, such as craniosynostosis.

In study V we found new evidence that Runx2 would regulate expression of *Ihh* during calvarial development. Our data is preliminary and requires more thorough investigation, but if this is the case, it is interesting as during endochondral osteoblast differentiation the situation is exactly the opposite: Ihh governs transcriptional control of *Runx2* (Kronenberg, 2003). On the other hand, during earlier stage of endochondral ossification, during chondrogenesis, Runx2 specifically activates *Ihh* expression (Yoshida et al., 2004). In fact, intramembranous ossification may relate to endochondral chondrogenesis more intimately than yet realised and comparison of these processes could entail interesting novel findings concerning intramembranous ossification.

Results of this thesis have provided valuable knowledge on the role of Gli3 and Hh signalling during calvarial intramembranous ossification. Increasing evidence shows that aberrant Hh signalling is behind human craniosynostosis and specifically Gli3R plays a pivotal role. Basic research on understanding the cause of the disease is a vital first step in creating more elaborate treatment options for patients in the future.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out in Biomedicum Helsinki, in the University of Helsinki, in the Institute of Dentistry. I wish to thank the director of Biomedicum, Professor Olli A. Jänne, the Institute of Dentistry, and MSc Kirsti Kari for providing excellent research facilities. This study was financially supported by Finnish Doctoral Program in Oral Sciences, Finnish Dental Society Apollonia, Helsinki Biomedical Graduate School, Academy of Finland, and Sigrid Juselius Foundation. I am very grateful for your generosity.

My deepest gratitude goes to my supervisor, Professor David Rice, for his endless support and patience during this project. I appreciate your wide knowledge and perspective, your neverending optimism, and for always having the door open for discussion. I am also grateful that you let me pursue my other dream of becoming an orthodontist, which prolonged my thesis project, but made these years very fulfilling.

I warmly thank Professor Irma Thesleff and Dr. Tiina Immonen for being members of my follow-up group and for all your valuable advice. In addition, I thank Dr. Tiina Immonen and Docent Satu Kuure for reviewing my thesis. I greatly appreciate your time and your thoughtful comments. I kindly thank the collaborators of the study: Professor Jacqueline Veltmaat, Professor Saverio Bellusci, Professor Andrea Vortkamp and Dr. Dörthe Kesper.

Past and present members of David's lab are warmly thanked for all the advice and support during these years. I especially wish to thank Dr. Ritva Rice, Dr. Eva Lana-Elola, Dr. Elaine Connor, Dr. Thomas Åberg, Dr. Yukiho Kobayashi (nee Tanimoto), Dr. Maarit Takatalo-Laine, Dr. Kirsi Alakurtti, Dr. Tuija Mustonen, Dr. Hongqiang Ma, and Rakibul Hasan for valuable collaboration in this study. A special thank you also goes to Maarit and Kirsi for being the big sisters I never had and always wished for. I sincerely thank Airi Sinkko and Marjatta Kivekäs for all the indispensable help and advice in the lab. I am also very grateful to Merja Mäkinen for teaching me the secrets of *in situ* hybridisation, to Agnès Viherä for providing me with NMRI mice, and to Saija Kotola for the excellent *in situ* hybridisation facilities.

I wish to thank Dr. Eija Salmela, Dr. Suvi-Tuuli Vilén, Dr. Emilia Marttila, Dr. Laura Mikkonen, Dr. Emma Juuri, Dr. Juho Suojanen, Elina Luonsi, and Laura Lammi for your friendship and invaluable peer support during all these years spent in the lab. Without you, I think I would have given up ages ago.

I am deeply grateful to all my dear friends outside the research world for all your support and great times shared, for taking my mind off this thesis at times.

The biggest thank you goes to my family: my late dad, my mum, my sister Annastiina and brother Taneli, for always having faith in me, and for always being there for me. I kindly thank my mother-in-law, Irma Kinnunen, for babysitting Minttu during these last months.

Finally, with all my heart, I thank Mikko and Minttu, without whom nothing would matter.

Lotta Veistinen Helsinki, May 2015

REFERENCES

Abzhanov A, Rodda SJ, McMahon AP, Tabin CJ (2007). Regulation of skeletogenic differentiation in cranial dermal bone. *Development*. 134, 3133-3144.

Acampora D, Merlo GR, Paleari L, Zerega B, Postiglione MP, Mantero S, Bober E, Barbieri O, Simeone A, Levi G (1999). Craniofacial, vestibular and bone defects in mice lacking the Distal-less-related gene Dlx5. *Development*. 126, 3795-3809.

Akiyama H, Kim JE, Nakashima K, Balmes G, Iwai N, Deng JM, Zhang Z, Martin JF, Behringer RR, Nakamura T, de Crombrugghe B (2005). Osteo-chondroprogenitor cells are derived from Sox9 expressing precursors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 102, 14665-14670.

Aldridge K, Hill CA, Austin JR, Percival C, Martinez-Abadias N, Neuberger T, Wang Y, Jabs EW, Richtsmeier JT (2010). Brain phenotypes in two FGFR2 mouse models for Apert syndrome. *Dev Dyn.* 239, 987-997.

Alvarez-Medina R, Cayuso J, Okubo T, Takada S, Marti E (2008). Wnt canonical pathway restricts graded Shh/Gli patterning activity through the regulation of Gli3 expression. *Development*. 135, 237 – 247.

Amano K, Ichida F, Sugita A, Hata K, Wada M, Takigawa Y, Nakanishi M, Kogo M, Nishimura R, Yoneda T (2008). MSX2 stimulates chondrocyte maturation by controlling Ihh expression. *J Biol Chem.* 283, 29513-29521.

Andersson ER, Sandberg R, Lendahl U (2011). Notch signaling: simplicity in design, versatility in function. *Development*. 138, 3593-3612.

Ang BU, Spivak RM, Nah HD, Kirschner RE (2010). Dura in the pathogenesis of syndromic craniosynostosis: fibroblast growth factor receptor 2 mutations in dural cells promote osteogenic proliferation and differentiation of osteoblasts. *J Craniofac Surg.* 21, 462-467.

Aoto K, Nishimura T, Eto K, Motoyama J (2002). Mouse GLI3 regulates Fgf8 expression and apoptosis in the developing neural tube, face, and limb bud. *Dev Biol*. 251, 320-332.

Arman E, Haffner-Krausz R, Chen Y, Heath JK, Lonai P (1998). Targeted disruption of fibroblast growth factor (FGF) receptor 2 suggests a role for FGF signaling in pregastrulation mammalian development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 95, 5082-5087.

Arts HH, Bongers EM, Mans DA, van Beersum SE, Oud MM, Bolat E, Spruijt L, Cornelissen EA, Schuurs-Hoeijmakers JH, de Leeuw N, Cormier-Daire V, Brunner HG, Knoers NV, Roepman R (2011). C14ORF179 encoding IFT43 is mutated in Sensenbrenner syndrome. *J Med Genet*. 48, 390-395.

Ashe A, Butterfield NC, Town L, Courtney AD, Cooper AN, Ferguson C, Barry R, Olsson F, Liem KF Jr, Parton RG, Wainwright BJ, Anderson KV, Whitelaw E, Wicking C (2012). Mutations in mouse Ift144 model the craniofacial, limb and rib defects in skeletal ciliopathies. *Hum Mol Genet*. 21, 1808-1823.

Aszterbaum M, Rothman A, Johnson RL, Fisher M, Xie J, Bonifas JM, Zhang X, Scott MP, Epstein EH Jr. (1998). Identification of mutations in the human PATCHED gene in sporadic basal cell carcinomas and in patients with the basal cell nevus syndrome. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 110, 885-888.

Beachy PA, Hymowitz SG, Lazarus RA, Leahy DJ, Siebold C (2010). Interactions between Hedgehog proteins and their binding partners come into view. *Genes Dev.* 24, 2001-2012.

Behr B, Longaker MT, Quarto N (2010). Differential activation of canonical Wnt signaling determines cranial sutures fate: a novel mechanism for sagittal suture craniosynostosis. *Dev Biol.* 344, 922-940.

Behr B, Longaker MT, Quarto N (2013). Absence of endochondral ossification and craniosynostosis in posterior frontal cranial sutures of Axin2(-/-) mice. *PLoS One*. 8, e70240.

Bei M, Maas R (1998). FGFs and BMP4 induce both Msx1-independent and Msx1-dependent signaling pathways in early tooth development. *Development*. 125, 4325-4333.

Bendall AJ, Abate-Shen C (2000). Roles for Msx and Dlx homeoproteins in vertebrate development. Gene. 247, 17-31.

Bialek P, Kern B, Yang X, Schrock M, Sosic D, Hong N, Wu H, Yu K, Ornitz DM, Olson EN, Justice MJ, Karsenty G (2004). A twist code determines the onset of osteoblast differentiation. *Dev Cell.* 6, 423-435.

Bildsoe H, Loebel DA, Jones VJ, Chen YT, Behringer RR, Tam PP (2009). Requirement for Twist1 in frontonasal and skull vault development in the mouse embryo. *Dev Biol.* 331, 176-188.

Bildsoe H, Loebel DA, Jones VJ, Hor AC, Braithwaite AW, Chen YT, Behringer RR, Tam PP (2013). The mesenchymal architecture of the cranial mesoderm of mouse embryos is disrupted by the loss of Twist1 function. *Dev Biol.* 374, 295-307.

Blaess S, Stephen D, Joyner AL (2008). Gli3 coordinates three-dimensional patterning and growth of the tectum and cerebellum by integrating Shh and Fgf8 signaling. *Development*. 135, 2093-103.

Bonewald LF (2011). The amazing osteocyte. J Bone Miner Res. 26, 229-238.

Bonilla-Claudio M, Wang J, Bai Y, Klysik E, Selever J, Martin JF (2012). Bmp signaling regulates a dose-dependent transcriptional program to control facial skeletal development. *Development*. 139, 709-719.

Borday C, Cabochette P, Parain K, Mazurier N, Janssens S, Tran HT, Sekkali B, Bronchain O, Vleminckx K, Locker M, Perron M (2012). Antagonistic cross-regulation between Wnt and Hedgehog signalling pathways controls post-embryonic retinal proliferation. *Development*. 139, 3499-3509.

Bourgeois P, Bolcato-Bellemin AL, Danse JM, Bloch-Zupan A, Yoshiba K, Stoetzel C, Perrin-Schmitt F (1998). The variable expressivity and incomplete penetrance of the twist-null heterozygous mouse phenotype resemble those of human Saethre-Chotzen syndrome. *Hum Mol Genet.* 7, 945-957.

Bradley JP, Levine JP, Roth DA, McCarthy JG, Longaker MT (1996). Studies in cranial suture biology: IV. Temporal sequence of posterior frontal cranial suture fusion in the mouse. *Plast Reconstr Surg.* 98, 1039-1045.

Brault V, Moore R, Kutsch S, Ishibashi M, Rowitch DH, McMahon AP, Sommer L, Boussadia O, Kemler R (2001). Inactivation of the beta-catenin gene by Wnt1-Cre-mediated deletion results in dramatic brain malformation and failure of craniofacial development. *Development*. 128, 1253-1264.

Briscoe J, Thérond PP (2013). The mechanisms of Hedgehog signalling and its roles in development and disease. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 14, 416-429.

Brooks ER, Wallingford JB (2012). Control of vertebrate intraflagellar transport by the planar cell polarity effector Fuz. *J Cell Biol*. 198, 37-45.

Brugmann SA, Allen NC, James AW, Mekonnen Z, Madan E, Helms JA (2010). A primary cilia-dependent etiology for midline facial disorders. *Hum Mol Genet*. 19, 1577-1592.

Burke R, Nellen D, Bellotto M, Hafen E, Senti KA, Dickson BJ, Basler K (1999). Dispatched, a novel sterol-sensing domain protein dedicated to the release of cholesterol-modified hedgehog from signaling cells. *Cell*. 99, 803-815.

Buttitta L, Mo R, Hui CC, Fan CM (2003). Interplays of Gli2 and Gli3 and their requirement in mediating Shh-dependent sclerotome induction. *Development*. 130, 6233-6243.

Böse J, Grotewold L, Rüther U (2002). Pallister-Hall syndrome phenotype in mice mutant for Gli3. *Hum Mol Genet*. 11, 1129-1135.

Carver EA, Oram KF, Gridley T (2002). Craniosynostosis in Twist heterozygous mice: a model for Saethre-Chotzen syndrome. *Anat Rec.* 268, 90-92.

Case N, Ma M, Sen B, Xie Z, Gross TS, Rubin J (2008). Beta-catenin levels influence rapid mechanical responses in osteoblasts. *J Biol Chem.* 283, 29196-29205.

Caspary T, García-García MJ, Huangfu D, Eggenschwiler JT, Wyler MR, Rakeman AS, Alcorn HL, Anderson KV (2002). Mouse Dispatched homolog1 is required for long-range, but not juxtacrine, Hh signaling. *Curr Biol.* 12, 1628-1632.

Chamoun Z, Mann RK, Nellen D, von Kessler DP, Bellotto M, Beachy PA, Basler K (2001). Skinny hedgehog, an acyltransferase required for palmitoylation and activity of the hedgehog signal. *Science*. 293, 2080-2084.

Chang C, Hemmati-Brivanlou A (1999). Xenopus GDF6, a new antagonist of noggin and a partner of BMPs. *Development*. 126, 3347-3357.

Chen ZF, Behringer RR (1995). twist is required in head mesenchyme for cranial neural tube morphogenesis. *Genes Dev.* 9, 686-699.

Chen Y, Struhl G (1996). Dual roles for patched in sequestering and transducing Hedgehog. Cell. 87, 553-563.

Chen MH, Wilson CW, Li YJ, Law KK, Lu CS, Gacayan R, Zhang X, Hui CC, Chuang PT (2009). Ciliumindependent regulation of Gli protein function by Sufu in Hedgehog signaling is evolutionarily conserved. *Genes Dev.* 23, 1910-1928.

Chen X, Tukachinsky H, Huang CH, Jao C, Chu YR, Tang HY, Mueller B, Schulman S, Rapoport TA, Salic A (2011). Processing and turnover of the Hedgehog protein in the endoplasmic reticulum. *J Cell Biol*. 192, 825-838.

Chiang C, Litingtung Y, Lee E, Young KE, Corden JL, Westphal H, Beachy PA (1996). Cyclopia and defective axial patterning in mice lacking Sonic hedgehog gene function. *Nature*. 383, 407-413.

Chimal-Monroy J, Díaz de León L (1999). Expression of N-cadherin, N-CAM, fibronectin and tenascin is stimulated by TGF-beta1, beta2, beta3 and beta5 during the formation of precartilage condensations. *Int J Dev Biol.* 43, 59-67.

Choi KY, Lee SW, Park MH, Bae YC, Shin HI, Nam S, Kim YJ, Kim HJ, Ryoo HM (2002). Spatio-temporal expression patterns of Runx2 isoforms in early skeletogenesis. *Exp Mol Med.* 34, 426-433.

Choi KY, Kim HJ, Lee MH, Kwon TG, Nah HD, Furuichi T, Komori T, Nam SH, Kim YJ, Kim HJ, Ryoo HM (2005). Runx2 regulates FGF2-induced Bmp2 expression during cranial bone development. *Dev Dyn.* 233, 115-121.

Chuang PT, Kawcak T, McMahon AP (2003). Feedback control of mammalian Hedgehog signaling by the Hedgehogbinding protein, Hip1, modulates Fgf signaling during branching morphogenesis of the lung. *Genes Dev.* 17, 342-347.

Chung IH, Han J, Iwata J, Chai Y (2010). Msx1 and Dlx5 function synergistically to regulate frontal bone development. *Genesis.* 48, 645-655.

Clendenning DE, Mortlock DP (2012). The BMP ligand Gdf6 prevents differentiation of coronal suture mesenchyme in early cranial development. *PLoS One.* 7, e36789.

Cobourne MT, Xavier GM, Depew M, Hagan L, Sealby J, Webster Z, Sharpe PT (2009). Sonic hedgehog signalling inhibits palatogenesis and arrests tooth development in a mouse model of the nevoid basal cell carcinoma syndrome. *Dev Biol.* 331, 38-49.

Cohen MM Jr, MacLean R (2000). Craniosynostosis: Diagnosis, Evaluation, and Management. 2. New York: Oxford University Press.

Collins JM, Ramamoorthy K, Da Silveira A, Patston P, Mao JJ (2005). Expression of matrix metalloproteinase genes in the rat intramembranous bone during postnatal growth and upon mechanical stresses. *J Biomech.* 38, 485-492.

Colvin JS, Bohne BA, Harding GW, McEwen DG, Ornitz DM (1996). Skeletal overgrowth and deafness in mice lacking fibroblast growth factor receptor 3. *Nat Genet*. 12, 390-397.

Connerney J, Andreeva V, Leshem Y, Muentener C, Mercado MA, Spicer DB (2006). Twist1 dimer selection regulates cranial suture patterning and fusion. *Dev Dyn.* 235, 1345-1357.

Connerney J, Andreeva V, Leshem Y, Mercado MA, Dowell K, Yang X, Lindner V, Friesel RE, Spicer DB (2008). Twist1 homodimers enhance FGF responsiveness of the cranial sutures and promote suture closure. *Dev Biol.* 318, 323-334.

Corbit KC, Aanstad P, Singla V, Norman AR, Stainier DY, Reiter JF (2005). Vertebrate Smoothened functions at the primary cilium. *Nature*. 437, 1018-1021.

Couly GF, Coltey PM, le Douarin NM (1993). The triple origin of skull in higher vertebrates: a study in quail-chick chimeras. *Development*. 117, 409-429.

Creuzet S, Couly G, Vincent C, Le Douarin NM (2002). Negative effect of Hox gene expression on the development of the neural crest-derived facial skeleton. *Development*. 129, 4301-4313.

Creuzet S, Schuler B, Couly G, Le Douarin NM (2004). Reciprocal relationships between Fgf8 and neural crest cells in facial and forebrain development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 101, 4843-4847.

Dai P, Akimaru H, Tanaka Y, Maekawa T, Nakafuku M, Ishii S (1999). Sonic Hedgehog-induced activation of the Gli1 promoter is mediated by GLI3. *J Biol Chem.* 274, 8143-8152.

Day TF, Guo X, Garrett-Beal L, Yang Y (2005). Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in mesenchymal progenitors controls osteoblast and chondrocyte differentiation during vertebrate skeletogenesis. *Dev Cell*. 8, 739-750.

Deckelbaum RA, Majithia A, Booker T, Henderson JE, Loomis CA (2006). The homeoprotein engrailed 1 has pleiotropic functions in calvarial intramembranous bone formation and remodeling. *Development*. 133, 63-74.

Deckelbaum RA, Holmes G, Zhao Z, Tong C, Basilico C, Loomis CA (2012). Regulation of cranial morphogenesis and cell fate at the neural crest-mesoderm boundary by engrailed 1. *Development*. 139, 1346-1358.

De Moerlooze L, Spencer-Dene B, Revest JM, Hajihosseini M, Rosewell I, Dickson C (2000). An Important Role for the IIIb Isoform of Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptor 2 (FGFR2) in Mesenchymal-Epithelial Signalling during Mouse Organogenesis. *Development*. 127, 483-492.

Deng C, Wynshaw-Boris A, Zhou F, Kuo A, Leder P (1996). Fibroblast growth factor receptor 3 is a negative regulator of bone growth. *Cell.* 84, 911-921.

Depew MJ, Liu JK, Long JE, Presley R, Meneses JJ, Pedersen RA, Rubenstein JL (1999). Dlx5 regulates regional development of the branchial arches and sensory capsules. *Development*. 126, 3831-3846.

Depew MJ, Lufkin T, Rubenstein JL (2002). Specification of jaw subdivisions by Dlx genes. Science. 298, 381-385.

Depew MJ, Simpson CA, Morasso M, Rubenstein JL (2005). Reassessing the Dlx code: the genetic regulation of branchial arch skeletal pattern and development. *J Anat.* 207, 501-561.

Derynck R, Akhurst RJ (2007). Differentiation plasticity regulated by TGF-beta family proteins in development and disease. *Nat Cell Biol.* 9, 1000-1004.

Dodig M, Tadic T, Kronenberg MS, Dacic S, Liu YH, Maxson R, Rowe DW, Lichtler AC (1999). Ectopic Msx2 overexpression inhibits and Msx2 antisense stimulates calvarial osteoblast differentiation. *Dev Biol*. 209, 298-307.

Dorn KV, Hughes CE, Rohatgi R (2012). A Smoothened-Evc2 complex transduces the Hedgehog signal at primary cilia. *Dev Cell*. 23, 823-835.

Echelard Y, Epstein DJ, St-Jacques B, Shen L, Mohler J, McMahon JA, McMahon AP (1993). Sonic hedgehog, a member of a family of putative signaling molecules, is implicated in the regulation of CNS polarity. *Cell.* 75, 1417-1430.

Eggenschwiler JT, Espinoza E, Anderson KV (2001). Rab23 is an essential negative regulator of the mouse Sonic hedgehog signalling pathway. *Nature*. 412, 194-198.

Eggenschwiler JT, Bulgakov OV, Qin J, Li T, Anderson KV (2006). Mouse Rab23 regulates hedgehog signaling from smoothened to Gli proteins. *Dev Biol.* 290, 1-12.

el Ghouzzi V, Le Merrer M, Perrin-Schmitt F, Lajeunie E, Benit P, Renier D, Bourgeois P, Bolcato-Bellemin AL, Munnich A, Bonaventure J (1997). Mutations of the TWIST gene in the Saethre-Chotzen syndrome. *Nat Genet.* 15, 42-46.

Elson E, Perveen R, Donnai D, Wall S, Black GC (2002). De novo GLI3 mutation in acrocallosal syndrome: broadening the phenotypic spectrum of GLI3 defects and overlap with murine models. *J Med Genet*. 39, 804-806.

Eswarakumar VP, Monsonego-Ornan E, Pines M, Antonopoulou I, Morriss-Kay GM, Lonai P (2002). The IIIc alternative of Fgfr2 is a positive regulator of bone formation. *Development*. 129, 3783-3793.

Erlebacher A, Filvaroff EH, Gitelman SE, Derynck R (1995). Toward a molecular understanding of skeletal development. *Cell*. 80, 371-378.

Faro C, Chaoui R, Wegrzyn P, Levaillant JM, Benoit B, Nicolaides KH (2006). Metopic suture in fetuses with Apert syndrome at 22-27 weeks of gestation. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol.* 27, 28-33.

Fei Y, Xiao L, Doetschman T, Coffin DJ, Hurley MM (2011). Fibroblast growth factor 2 stimulation of osteoblast differentiation and bone formation is mediated by modulation of the Wnt signaling pathway. *J Biol Chem.* 286, 40575-40583.

Feng W, Choi I, Clouthier DE, Niswander L, Williams T (2013). The Ptch1(DL) mouse: a new model to study lambdoid craniosynostosis and basal cell nevus syndrome-associated skeletal defects. *Genesis.* 51, 677-689.

Flück CE, Tajima T, Pandey AV, Arlt W, Okuhara K, Verge CF, Jabs EW, Mendonça BB, Fujieda K, Miller WL (2004). Mutant P450 oxidoreductase causes disordered steroidogenesis with and without Antley-Bixler syndrome. *Nat Genet.* 36, 228-230.

Garrett IR, Chen D, Gutierrez G, Zhao M, Escobedo A, Rossini G, Harris SE, Gallwitz W, Kim KB, Hu S, Crews CM, Mundy GR (2003). Selective inhibitors of the osteoblast proteasome stimulate bone formation in vivo and in vitro. *J Clin Invest*. 111, 1771-1782.

Gaur T, Lengner CJ, Hovhannisyan H, Bhat RA, Bodine PV, Komm BS, Javed A, van Wijnen AJ, Stein JL, Stein GS, Lian JB (2005). Canonical WNT signaling promotes osteogenesis by directly stimulating Runx2 gene expression. *J Biol Chem.* 280, 33132-33140.

Glaser RL, Jiang W, Boyadjiev SA, Tran AK, Zachary AA, Van Maldergem L, Johnson D, Walsh S, Oldridge M, Wall SA, Wilkie AO, Jabs EW (2000). Paternal origin of FGFR2 mutations in sporadic cases of Crouzon syndrome and Pfeiffer syndrome. *Am J Hum Genet.* 66, 768-777.

Glass DA 2nd, Bialek P, Ahn JD, Starbuck M, Patel MS, Clevers H, Taketo MM, Long F, McMahon AP, Lang RA, Karsenty G (2005). Canonical Wnt signaling in differentiated osteoblasts controls osteoclast differentiation. *Dev Cell*. 8, 751-764.

Goetz SC, Anderson KV (2010). The primary cilium: a signalling centre during vertebrate development. *Nat Rev Genet*. 11, 331-344.

Goodnough LH, Chang AT, Treloar C, Yang J, Scacheri PC, Atit RP (2012). Twist1 mediates repression of chondrogenesis by β -catenin to promote cranial bone progenitor specification. *Development*. 139, 4428-4438.

Goodrich LV, Milenković L, Higgins KM, Scott MP (1997). Altered neural cell fates and medulloblastoma in mouse patched mutants. *Science*. 277, 1109-1113.

Gradilla AC, González E, Seijo I, Andrés G, Bischoff M, González-Mendez L, Sánchez V, Callejo A, Ibáñez C, Guerra M, Ortigão-Farias JR, Sutherland JD, González M, Barrio R, Falcón-Pérez JM, Guerrero I (2014). Exosomes as Hedgehog carriers in cytoneme-mediated transport and secretion. *Nat Commun.* 5, 5649.

Gray RS, Abitua PB, Wlodarczyk BJ, Szabo-Rogers HL, Blanchard O, Lee I, Weiss GS, Liu KJ, Marcotte EM, Wallingford JB, Finnell RH (2009). The planar cell polarity effector Fuz is essential for targeted membrane trafficking, ciliogenesis and mouse embryonic development. *Nat Cell Biol*. 11, 1225-1232.

Greenwald JA, Mehrara BJ, Spector JA, Chin GS, Steinbrech DS, Saadeh PB, Luchs JS, Paccione MF, Gittes GK, Longaker MT (2000a). Biomolecular mechanisms of calvarial bone induction: immature versus mature dura mater. *Plast Reconstr Surg.* 105, 1382-1392.

Greenwald JA, Mehrara BJ, Spector JA, Fagenholz PJ, Saadeh PB, Steinbrech DS, Gittes GK, Longaker MT (2000b). Immature versus mature dura mater: II. Differential expression of genes important to calvarial reossification. *Plast Reconstr Surg.* 106, 630-638, discussion 639.

Greives MR, Odessey EA, Waggoner DJ, Shenaq DS, Aradhya S, Mitchell A, Whitcomb E, Warshawsky N, He TC, Reid RR (2013). RUNX2 Quadruplication: Additional Evidence Toward a New Form of Syndromic Craniosynostosis. *J Craniofac Surg.* 24, 126-129.

Gripp KW, Zackai EH, Stolle CA (2000). Mutations in the human TWIST gene. Hum Mutat. 15, 150-155.

Hahn H, Wojnowski L, Zimmer AM, Hall J, Miller G, Zimmer A (1998). Rhabdomyosarcomas and radiation hypersensitivity in a mouse model of Gorlin syndrome. *Nat Med.* 4, 619-622.

Hajihosseini MK, Wilson S, De Moerlooze L, Dickson C (2001). A splicing switch and gain-of-function mutation in FgfR2-IIIc hemizygotes causes Apert/Pfeiffer-syndrome-like phenotypes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 98, 3855-3860.

Hajihosseini MK, Heath JK (2002). Expression patterns of fibroblast growth factors-18 and -20 in mouse embryos is suggestive of novel roles in calvarial and limb development. *Mech Dev.* 113, 79-83.

Hajihosseini MK, Lalioti MD, Arthaud S, Burgar HR, Brown JM, Twigg SR, Wilkie AO, Heath JK (2004). Skeletal development is regulated by fibroblast growth factor receptor 1 signalling dynamics. *Development*. 131, 325-335.

Hajihosseini MK, Duarte R, Pegrum J, Donjacour A, Lana-Elola E, Rice DP, Sharpe J, Dickson C (2009). Evidence that Fgf10 contributes to the skeletal and visceral defects of an Apert syndrome mouse model. *Dev Dyn.* 238, 376-385.

Hall BK (1981). The induction of neural crest-derived cartilage and bone by embryonic epithelia: an analysis of the mode of action of an epithelial-mesenchymal interaction. *J Embryol Exp Morphol*. 64, 305-320.

Hall BK, Miyake T (2000). All for one and one for all: condensations and the initiation of skeletal development. *Bioessays*. 22, 138-147.

Han J, Ishii M, Bringas P Jr, Maas RL, Maxson RE Jr, Chai Y (2007). Concerted action of Msx1 and Msx2 in regulating cranial neural crest cell differentiation during frontal bone development. *Mech Dev.* 124, 729-745.

Hassan MQ, Tare RS, Lee SH, Mandeville M, Morasso MI, Javed A, van Wijnen AJ, Stein JL, Stein GS, Lian JB (2006). BMP2 commitment to the osteogenic lineage involves activation of Runx2 by DLX3 and a homeodomain transcriptional network. *J Biol Chem.* 281, 40515-40526.

He M, Subramanian R, Bangs F, Omelchenko T, Liem KF Jr, Kapoor TM, Anderson KV (2014). The kinesin-4 protein Kif7 regulates mammalian Hedgehog signalling by organizing the cilium tip compartment. *Nat Cell Biol.* 16, 663-672.

Henderson JH, Chang LY, Song HM, Longaker MT, Carter DR (2005). Age-dependent properties and quasi-static strain in the rat sagittal suture. *J Biomech*. 38, 2294-2301.

Hilton MJ, Tu X, Cook J, Hu H, Long F (2005). Ihh controls cartilage development by antagonizing Gli3, but requires additional effectors to regulate osteoblast and vascular development. *Development*. 132, 4339-4351.

Hilton MJ, Tu X, Wu X, Bai S, Zhao H, Kobayashi T, Kronenberg HM, Teitelbaum SL, Ross FP, Kopan R, Long F (2008). Notch signaling maintains bone marrow mesenchymal progenitors by suppressing osteoblast differentiation. *Nat Med.* 14, 306-314.

Hirano A, Akita S, Fujii T (1995). Craniofacial deformities associated with juvenile hyperthyroidism. *Cleft Palate Craniofac J.* 32, 328-333.

Holleville N, Quilhac A, Bontoux M, Monsoro-Burq AH (2003). BMP signals regulate Dlx5 during early avian skull development. *Dev Biol*. 257, 177-189.

Holmen SL, Zylstra CR, Mukherjee A, Sigler RE, Faugere MC, Bouxsein ML, Deng L, Clemens TL, Williams BO (2005). Essential role of beta-catenin in postnatal bone acquisition. *J Biol Chem.* 280, 21162-21168.

Holmes G, Rothschild G, Roy UB, Deng CX, Mansukhani A, Basilico C (2009). Early onset of craniosynostosis in an Apert mouse model reveals critical features of this pathology. *Dev Biol*. 328, 273-284.

Holmes G, Basilico C (2012). Mesodermal expression of Fgfr2S252W is necessary and sufficient to induce craniosynostosis in a mouse model of Apert syndrome. *Dev Biol.* 368, 283-293.

Howard TD, Paznekas WA, Green ED, Chiang LC, Ma N, Ortiz de Luna RI, Garcia Delgado C, Gonzalez-Ramos M, Kline AD, Jabs EW (1997). Mutations in TWIST, a basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor, in Saethre-Chotzen syndrome. *Nat Genet.* 15, 36-41.

Hu G, Lee H, Price SM, Shen MM, Abate-Shen C (2001). Msx homeobox genes inhibit differentiation through upregulation of cyclin D1. *Development*. 128, 2373-2384.

Hu H, Hilton MJ, Tu X, Yu K, Ornitz DM, Long F (2005). Sequential roles of Hedgehog and Wnt signaling in osteoblast development. *Development*. 132, 49-60.

Huangfu D, Liu A, Rakeman AS, Murcia NS, Niswander L, Anderson KV (2003). Hedgehog signalling in the mouse requires intraflagellar transport proteins. *Nature*. 426, 83-87.

Huangfu D, Anderson KV (2006). Signaling from Smo to Ci/Gli: conservation and divergence of Hedgehog pathways from Drosophila to vertebrates. *Development*. 133, 3-14.

Hui CC, Joyner AL (1993). A mouse model of greig cephalopolysyndactyly syndrome: the extra-toesJ mutation contains an intragenic deletion of the Gli3 gene. *Nat Genet.* 3, 241-246.

Hurst JA, Jenkins D, Vasudevan PC, Kirchhoff M, Skovby F, Rieubland C, Gallati S, Rittinger O, Kroisel PM, Johnson D, Biesecker LG, Wilkie AO (2011). Metopic and sagittal synostosis in Greig cephalopolysyndactyly syndrome: five cases with intragenic mutations or complete deletions of GLI3. *Eur J Hum Genet*. 19, 757-762.

Huycke TR, Eames BF, Kimmel CB (2012). Hedgehog-dependent proliferation drives modular growth during morphogenesis of a dermal bone. *Development*. 139, 2371-2380.

Ingber DE (2003). Tensegrity I. Cell structure and hierarchical systems biology. J Cell Sci. 116, 1157–1173.

Iseki S, Wilkie AO, Heath JK, Ishimaru T, Eto K, Morriss-Kay GM (1997). Fgfr2 and osteopontin domains in the developing skull vault are mutually exclusive and can be altered by locally applied FGF2. *Development*. 124, 3375-3384.

Iseki S, Wilkie AO, Morriss-Kay GM (1999). Fgfr1 and Fgfr2 have distinct differentiation- and proliferation-related roles in the developing mouse skull vault. *Development*. 126, 5611-5620.

Ishii M, Merrill AE, Chan YS, Gitelman I, Rice DP, Sucov HM, Maxson RE Jr. (2003). Msx2 and Twist cooperatively control the development of the neural crest-derived skeletogenic mesenchyme of the murine skull vault. *Development*. 130, 6131-6142.

Ito Y, Yeo JY, Chytil A, Han J, Bringas P Jr, Nakajima A, Shuler CF, Moses HL, Chai Y (2003). Conditional inactivation of Tgfbr2 in cranial neural crest causes cleft palate and calvaria defects. *Development*. 130, 5269-5280.

Jacob S, Wu C, Freeman TA, Koyama E, Kirschner RE (2007). Expression of Indian Hedgehog, BMP-4 and Noggin in craniosynostosis induced by fetal constraint. *Ann Plast Surg.* 58, 215-221.

Jenkins D, Seelow D, Jehee FS, Perlyn CA, Alonso LG, Bueno DF, Donnai D, Josifova D, Mathijssen IM, Morton JE, Orstavik KH, Sweeney E, Wall SA, Marsh JL, Nurnberg P, Passos-Bueno MR, Wilkie AO (2007). RAB23 mutations in Carpenter syndrome imply an unexpected role for hedgehog signaling in cranial-suture development and obesity. *Am J Hum Genet.* 80, 1162-1170.

Jeong J, Mao J, Tenzen T, Kottmann AH, McMahon AP (2004). Hedgehog Signaling in the Neural Crest Cells Regulates the Patterning and Growth of Facial Primordia. *Genes Dev.* 18, 937-951.

Jiang J, Hui CC (2008). Hedgehog signaling in development and cancer. Dev Cell. 15, 801-812.

Jiang X, Iseki S, Maxson RE, Sucov HM, Morriss-Kay GM (2002). Tissue Origins and Interactions in the Mammalian Skull Vault. *Dev Biol* 241, 106-116.

Joeng KS, Long F (2009). The Gli2 transcriptional activator is a crucial effector for Ihh signaling in osteoblast development and cartilage vascularization. *Development*. 136, 4177-4185.

Johnson D, Iseki S, Wilkie AO, Morriss-Kay GM (2000). Expression patterns of Twist and Fgfr1, -2 and -3 in the developing mouse coronal suture suggest a key role for twist in suture initiation and biogenesis. *Mech Dev.* 91, 341-345.

Johnson DE, Williams LT (1993). Structural and functional diversity in the FGF receptor multigene family. *Adv Cancer Res.* 60, 1-41.

Johnson DR (1967). Extra-toes: anew mutant gene causing multiple abnormalities in the mouse. J Embryol Exp Morphol. 17, 543-581.

Johnston JJ, Olivos-Glander I, Killoran C, Elson E, Turner JT, Peters KF, Abbott MH, Aughton DJ, Aylsworth AS, Bamshad MJ, Booth C, Curry CJ, David A, Dinulos MB, Flannery DB, Fox MA, Graham JM, Grange DK, Guttmacher AE, Hannibal MC, Henn W, Hennekam RC, Holmes LB, Hoyme HE, Leppig KA, Lin AE, Macleod P, Manchester DK, Marcelis C, Mazzanti L, McCann E, McDonald MT, Mendelsohn NJ, Moeschler JB, Moghaddam B, Neri G, Newbury-Ecob R, Pagon RA, Phillips JA, Sadler LS, Stoler JM, Tilstra D, Walsh Vockley CM, Zackai EH, Zadeh TM, Brueton L, Black GC, Biesecker LG (2005). Molecular and clinical analyses of Greig cephalopolysyndactyly and Pallister-Hall syndromes: robust phenotype prediction from the type and position of GLI3 mutations. *Am J Hum Genet.* 76, 609-622.

Kalff-Suske M, Wild A, Topp J, Wessling M, Jacobsen EM, Bornholdt D, Engel H, Heuer H, Aalfs CM, Ausems MG, Barone R, Herzog A, Heutink P, Homfray T, Gillessen-Kaesbach G, König R, Kunze J, Meinecke P, Müller D, Rizzo R, Strenge S, Superti-Furga A, Grzeschik KH (1999). Point mutations throughout the GLI3 gene cause Greig cephalopolysyndactyly syndrome. *Hum Mol Genet*. 8, 1769-1777.

Kamath BM, Stolle C, Bason L, Colliton RP, Piccoli DA, Spinner NB, Krantz ID (2002). Craniosynostosis in Alagille syndrome. *Am J Med Genet*. 112, 176-180.

Kang S, Graham JM Jr, Olney AH, Biesecker LG (1997). GLI3 frameshift mutations cause autosomal dominant Pallister-Hall syndrome. *Nat Genet.* 15, 266-268.

Karsenty G, Wagner EF (2002). Reaching a genetic and molecular understanding of skeletal development. *Dev Cell*. 2, 389-406.

Kawakami T, Kawcak T, Li YJ, Zhang W, Hu Y, Chuang PT (2002). Mouse dispatched mutants fail to distribute hedgehog proteins and are defective in hedgehog signaling. *Development*. 129, 5753-5765.

Kawane T, Komori H, Liu W, Moriishi T, Miyazaki T, Mori M, Matsuo Y, Takada Y, Izumi S, Jiang Q, Nishimura R, Kawai Y, Komori T (2014). Dlx5 and mef2 regulate a novel runx2 enhancer for osteoblast-specific expression. *J Bone Miner Res.* 29, 1960-1969.

Kesper DA, Didt-Koziel L, Vortkamp A (2010). Gli2 activator function in preosteoblasts is sufficient to mediate Ihhdependent osteoblast differentiation, whereas the repressor function of Gli2 is dispensable for endochondral ossification. *Dev Dyn.* 239, 1818-1826.

Kettunen P, Karavanova I, Thesleff I (1998). Responsiveness of developing dental tissues to fibroblast growth factors: expression of splicing alternatives of FGFR1, -2, -3, and of FGFR4; and stimulation of cell proliferation by FGF-2, -4, -8, and -9. *Dev Genet*. 22, 374-385.

Kettunen P, Laurikkala J, Itäranta P, Vainio S, Itoh N, Thesleff I (2000). Associations of FGF-3 and FGF-10 with signaling networks regulating tooth morphogenesis. *Dev Dyn.* 219, 322-332.

Kim HJ, Rice DP, Kettunen PJ, Thesleff I (1998). FGF-, BMP- and Shh-mediated signalling pathways in the regulation of cranial suture morphogenesis and calvarial bone development. *Development*. 125, 1241-1251.

Kim HJ, Kim JH, Bae SC, Choi JY, Kim HJ, Ryoo HM (2003). The protein kinase C pathway plays a central role in the fibroblast growth factor-stimulated expression and transactivation activity of Runx2. *J Biol Chem.* 278, 319-326.

Kim J, Kato M, Beachy PA (2009). Gli2 trafficking links Hedgehog-dependent activation of Smoothened in the primary cilium to transcriptional activation in the nucleus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 106, 21666-21671.

Kim YJ, Lee MH, Wozney JM, Cho JY, Ryoo HM (2004). Bone morphogenetic protein-2-induced alkaline phosphatase expression is stimulated by Dlx5 and repressed by Msx2. *J Biol Chem.* 279, 50773-50780.

Klopocki E, Lohan S, Brancati F, Koll R, Brehm A, Seemann P, Dathe K, Stricker S, Hecht J, Bosse K, Betz RC, Garaci FG, Dallapiccola B, Jain M, Muenke M, Ng VC, Chan W, Chan D, Mundlos S (2011). Copy-number variations involving the IHH locus are associated with syndactyly and craniosynostosis. *Am J Hum Genet*. 88, 70-75.

Kmita M, Duboule D (2003). Organizing axes in time and space; 25 years of colinear tinkering. Science. 301, 331-333.

Kobayashi T, Soegiarto DW, Yang Y, Lanske B, Schipani E, McMahon AP, Kronenberg HM (2005). Indian hedgehog stimulates periarticular chondrocyte differentiation to regulate growth plate length independently of PTHrP. *J Clin Invest*. 115, 1734-1742.

Komatsu Y, Yu PB, Kamiya N, Pan H, Fukuda T, Scott GJ, Ray MK, Yamamura K, Mishina Y (2013). Augmentation of Smad-dependent BMP signaling in neural crest cells causes craniosynostosis in mice. *J Bone Miner Res.* 28, 1422-1433.

Komori T, Yagi H, Nomura S, Yamaguchi A, Sasaki K, Deguchi K, Shimizu Y, Bronson RT, Gao YH, Inada M, Sato M, Okamoto R, Kitamura Y, Yoshiki S, Kishimoto T (1997). Targeted disruption of Cbfa1 results in a complete lack of bone formation owing to maturational arrest of osteoblasts. *Cell*. 89, 755-764.

Komori T (2005). Regulation of skeletal development by the Runx family of transcription factors. *J Cell Biochem.* 95, 445-453.

Kopher RA, Mao JJ (2003). Suture growth modulated by the oscillatory component of micromechanical strain. *J Bone Miner Res.* 18, 521-528.

Koziel L, Wuelling M, Schneider S, Vortkamp A (2005). Gli3 acts as a repressor downstream of Ihh in regulating two distinct steps of chondrocyte differentiation. *Development*. 132, 5249-5260.

Koyabu D, Maier W, Sánchez-Villagra MR (2012). Paleontological and developmental evidence resolve the homology and dual embryonic origin of a mammalian skull bone, the interparietal. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 109, 14075-14080.

Krauss S, So J, Hambrock M, Köhler A, Kunath M, Scharff C, Wessling M, Grzeschik KH, Schneider R, Schweiger S (2009). Point mutations in GLI3 lead to misregulation of its subcellular localization. *PLoS One*. 4, e7471.

Krispin S, Nitzan E, Kassem Y, Kalcheim C (2010). Evidence for a dynamic spatiotemporal fate map and early fate restrictions of premigratory avian neural crest. *Development*. 137, 585-595.

Kronenberg HM (2003). Developmental regulation of the growth plate. Nature. 423, 332-336.

Lana-Elola E, Rice R, Grigoriadis AE, Rice DP (2007). Cell fate specification during calvarial bone and suture development. *Dev Biol.* 311, 335-346.

Langer LO Jr, Yang SS, Hall JG, Sommer A, Kottamasu SR, Golabi M, Krassikoff N (1987). Thanatophoric dysplasia and cloverleaf skull. *Am J Med Genet Suppl.* 3, 167-179.

Lattanzi W, Bukvic N, Barba M, Tamburrini G, Bernardini C, Michetti F, Di Rocco C (2012). Genetic basis of single-suture synostoses: genes, chromosomes and clinical implications. *Childs Nerv Syst.* 28, 1301–1310.

Lee MH, Javed A, Kim HJ, Shin HI, Gutierrez S, Choi JY, Rosen V, Stein JL, van Wijnen AJ, Stein GS, Lian JB, Ryoo HM (1999). Transient upregulation of CBFA1 in response to bone morphogenetic protein-2 and transforming growth factor beta1 in C2C12 myogenic cells coincides with suppression of the myogenic phenotype but is not sufficient for osteoblast differentiation. *J Cell Biochem.* 73, 114-125.

Lee MH, Kim YJ, Kim HJ, Park HD, Kang AR, Kyung HM, Sung JH, Wozney JM, Kim HJ, Ryoo HM (2003a). BMP-2-induced Runx2 expression is mediated by Dlx5, and TGF-beta 1 opposes the BMP-2-induced osteoblast differentiation by suppression of Dlx5 expression. *J Biol Chem.* 278, 34387-34394.

Lee MH, Kwon TG, Park HS, Wozney JM, Ryoo HM (2003b). BMP-2-induced Osterix expression is mediated by Dlx5 but is independent of Runx2. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 309, 689-694.

Lee MH, Kim YJ, Yoon WJ, Kim JI, Kim BG, Hwang YS, Wozney JM, Chi XZ, Bae SC, Choi KY, Cho JY, Choi JY, Ryoo HM (2005). Dlx5 specifically regulates Runx2 type II expression by binding to homeodomain-response elements in the Runx2 distal promoter. *J Biol Chem.* 280, 35579-35587.

Lenton KA, Nacamuli RP, Wan DC, Helms JA, Longaker MT (2005). Cranial suture biology. *Curr Top Dev Biol*. 66, 287–328.

Lenton K, James AW, Manu A, Brugmann SA, Birker D, Nelson ER, Leucht P, Helms JA, Longaker MT (2011). Indian hedgehog positively regulates calvarial ossification and modulates bone morphogenetic protein signaling. *Genesis*. 49, 784-796.

Levine JP, Bradley JP, Roth DA, McCarthy JG, Longaker MT (1998). Studies in cranial suture biology: regional dura mater determines overlying suture biology. *Plast Reconstr Surg.* 101, 1441-1447.

Lisabeth EM, Falivelli G, Pasquale EB (2013). Eph receptor signaling and ephrins. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* 1, 5.

Litingtung Y, Chiang C (2000). Specification of ventral neuron types is mediated by an antagonistic interaction between Shh and Gli3. *Nat Neurosci.* 3, 979-985.

Liu B, Yu HM, Hsu W (2007). Craniosynostosis caused by Axin2 deficiency is mediated through distinct functions of beta-catenin in proliferation and differentiation. *Dev Biol.* 301, 298-308.

Liu JK, Ghattas I, Liu S, Chen S, Rubenstein JL (1997). Dlx genes encode DNA-binding proteins that are expressed in an overlapping and sequential pattern during basal ganglia differentiation. *Dev Dyn.* 210, 498-512.

Liu W, Toyosawa S, Furuichi T, Kanatani N, Yoshida C, Liu Y, Himeno M, Narai S, Yamaguchi A, Komori T (2001). Overexpression of Cbfa1 in osteoblasts inhibits osteoblast maturation and causes osteopenia with multiple fractures. *J Cell Biol.* 155, 157-166.

Liu YH, Kundu R, Wu L, Luo W, Ignelzi MA Jr, Snead ML, Maxson RE Jr (1995). Premature suture closure and ectopic cranial bone in mice expressing Msx2 transgenes in the developing skull. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 92, 6137-6141.

Liu YH, Tang Z, Kundu RK, Wu L, Luo W, Zhu D, Sangiorgi F, Snead ML, Maxson RE (1999). Msx2 gene dosage influences the number of proliferative osteogenic cells in growth centers of the developing murine skull: a possible mechanism for MSX2-mediated craniosynostosis in humans. *Dev Biol*. 205, 260-274.

Loeys BL, Chen J, Neptune ER, Judge DP, Podowski M, Holm T, Meyers J, Leitch CC, Katsanis N, Sharifi N, Xu FL, Myers LA, Spevak PJ, Cameron DE, De Backer J, Hellemans J, Chen Y, Davis EC, Webb CL, Kress W, Coucke P, Rifkin DB, De Paepe AM, Dietz HC (2005). A syndrome of altered cardiovascular, craniofacial, neurocognitive and skeletal development caused by mutations in TGFBR1 or TGFBR2. *Nat Genet*. 37, 275-281.

Logan CY, Nusse R (2004). The Wnt signaling pathway in development and disease. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 20:781-810.

Loomis CA, Harris E, Michaud J, Wurst W, Hanks M, Joyner AL (1996). The mouse Engrailed-1 gene and ventral limb patterning. *Nature*. 382, 360-363.

Lopez-Rios J, Speziale D, Robay D, Scotti M, Osterwalder M, Nusspaumer G, Galli A, Holländer GA, Kmita M, Zeller R (2012). GLI3 constrains digit number by controlling both progenitor proliferation and BMP-dependent exit to chondrogenesis. *Dev Cell*. 22, 837-848.

Ma Y, Erkner A, Gong R, Yao S, Taipale J, Basler K, Beachy PA (2002). Hedgehog-mediated patterning of the mammalian embryo requires transporter-like function of dispatched. *Cell*. 111, 63-75.

MacDonald BT, Tamai K, He X (2009). Wnt/beta-catenin signaling: components, mechanisms, and diseases. *Dev Cell*. 17, 9-26.

Maeno T, Moriishi T, Yoshida CA, Komori H, Kanatani N, Izumi S, Takaoka K, Komori T (2011). Early Onset of Runx2 Expression Caused Craniosynostosis, Ectopic Bone Formation, and Limb Defects. *Bone*. 49, 673-682.

Mao JJ, Nah HD (2004). Growth and development: hereditary and mechanical modulations. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop.* 125, 676-89.

Marie PJ (2012). Fibroblast growth factor signaling controlling bone formation: an update. Gene. 498, 1-4.

Marigo V, Johnson RL, Vortkamp A, Tabin CJ (1996). Sonic hedgehog differentially regulates expression of GLI and GLI3 during limb development. *Dev Biol.* 180, 273-283.

Markens IS (1975). Embryonic development of the coronal suture in man and rat. Acta Anat. 93, 257-273.

Massagué J, Chen YG (2000). Controlling TGF-beta signaling. Genes Dev. 14, 627-644.

Matise MP, Epstein DJ, Park HL, Platt KA, Joyner AL (1998). Gli2 is required for induction of floor plate and adjacent cells, but not most ventral neurons in the mouse central nervous system. *Development*. 125, 2759-2770.

Mavrogiannis LA, Antonopoulou I, Baxová A, Kutílek S, Kim CA, Sugayama SM, Salamanca A, Wall SA, Morriss-Kay GM, Wilkie AO (2001). Haploinsufficiency of the human homeobox gene ALX4 causes skull ossification defects. *Nat Genet*. 27, 17-18.

Maynard TM, Jain MD, Balmer CW, LaMantia AS (2002). High-resolution mapping of the Gli3 mutation extra-toes reveals a 51.5-kb deletion. *Mamm Genome*. 13, 58-61.

McCarthy JG, Reid CA (1980). Craniofacial synostosis in association with vitamin D-resistant rickets. *Ann Plast Surg.* 4, 149-153.

McDonald-McGinn DM, Feret H, Nah HD, Bartlett SP, Whitaker LA, Zackai EH (2010). Metopic craniosynostosis due to mutations in GLI3: A novel association. *Am J Med Genet A*. 152A, 1654-1660.

McGee-Lawrence ME, Li X, Bledsoe KL, Wu H, Hawse JR, Subramaniam M, Razidlo DF, Stensgard BA, Stein GS, van Wijnen AJ, Lian JB, Hsu W, Westendorf JJ (2013). Runx2 protein represses Axin2 expression in osteoblasts and is required for craniosynostosis in Axin2-deficient mice. *J Biol Chem.* 288, 5291-5302.

McKinney MC, Fukatsu K, Morrison J, McLennan R, Bronner ME, Kulesa PM (2013). Evidence for dynamic rearrangements but lack of fate or position restrictions in premigratory avian trunk neural crest. *Development*. 140, 820-830.

McMahon JA, Takada S, Zimmerman LB, Fan CM, Harland RM, McMahon AP (1998). Noggin-mediated antagonism of BMP signaling is required for growth and patterning of the neural tube and somite. *Genes Dev.* 12, 1438-1452.

Mead TJ, Yutzey KE (2012). Notch pathway regulation of neural crest cell development in vivo. *Dev Dyn.* 241, 376-389.

Merlo GR, Paleari L, Mantero S, Genova F, Beverdam A, Palmisano GL, Barbieri O, Levi G (2002). Mouse model of split hand/foot malformation type I. *Genesis*. 33, 97-101.

Merrill AE, Bochukova EG, Brugger SM, Ishii M, Pilz DT, Wall SA, Lyons KM, Wilkie AO, Maxson RE Jr (2006). Cell mixing at a neural crest-mesoderm boundary and deficient ephrin-Eph signaling in the pathogenesis of craniosynostosis. *Hum Mol Genet.* 15, 1319-1328.

Miao D, Liu H, Plut P, Niu M, Huo R, Goltzman D, Henderson JE (2004). Impaired endochondral bone development and osteopenia in Gli2-deficient mice. *Exp Cell Res.* 294, 210-222.

Miki T, Bottaro DP, Fleming TP, Smith CL, Burgess WH, Chan AM, Aaronson SA (1992). Determination of ligand-binding specificity by alternative splicing: two distinct growth factor receptors encoded by a single gene. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 89, 246-250.

Min H, Danilenko DM, Scully SA, Bolon B, Ring BD, Tarpley JE, DeRose M, Simonet WS (1998). Fgf-10 is Required for both Limb and Lung Development and Exhibits Striking Functional Similarity to Drosophila Branchless. *Genes Dev.* 12, 3156-3161.

Mirando AJ, Maruyama T, Fu J, Yu HM, Hsu W (2010). β-catenin/cyclin D1 mediated development of suture mesenchyme in calvarial morphogenesis. *BMC Dev Biol.* 10:116.

Mirzayans F, Lavy R, Penner-Chea J, Berry FB (2012). Initiation of early osteoblast differentiation events through the direct transcriptional regulation of Msx2 by FOXC1. *PLoS One*. 7, e49095.

Mo R, Freer AM, Zinyk DL, Crackower MA, Michaud J, Heng HH, Chik KW, Shi XM, Tsui LC, Cheng SH, Joyner AL, Hui C (1997). Specific and redundant functions of Gli2 and Gli3 zinc finger genes in skeletal patterning and development. *Development*. 124, 113-123.

Moloney DM, Slaney SF, Oldridge M, Wall SA, Sahlin P, Stenman G, Wilkie AO (1996). Exclusive paternal origin of new mutations in Apert syndrome. *Nat Genet.* 13, 48-53.

Moon RT, Kohn AD, De Ferrari GV, Kaykas A (2004). WNT and beta-catenin signalling: diseases and therapies. *Nat Rev Genet.* 5, 691-701.

Morasso MI, Mahon KA, Sargent TD (1995). A Xenopus distal-less gene in transgenic mice: conserved regulation in distal limb epidermis and other sites of epithelial-mesenchymal interaction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 92, 3968-3972.

Morriss-Kay GM, Wilkie AO (2005). Growth of the normal skull vault and its alteration in craniosynostosis: insights from human genetics and experimental studies. *J Anat.* 207, 637-653.

Moss M (1962). The functional matrix. In: Kraus B, Reidel R (eds) Vistas in orthodontics. Lea and Febiger, Philadelphia, pp 85–98.

Motoyama J, Milenkovic L, Iwama M, Shikata Y, Scott MP, Hui CC (2003). Differential requirement for Gli2 and Gli3 in ventral neural cell fate specification. *Dev Biol*. 259, 150-161.

Muller EA, Aradhya S, Atkin JF, Carmany EP, Elliott AM, Chudley AE, Clark RD, Everman DB, Garner S, Hall BD, Herman GE, Kivuva E, Ramanathan S, Stevenson DA, Stockton DW, Hudgins L (2012). Microdeletion 9q22.3 syndrome includes metopic craniosynostosis, hydrocephalus, macrosomia, and developmental delay. *Am J Med Genet A*. 158A, 391-399.

Mundlos S, Otto F, Mundlos C, Mulliken JB, Aylsworth AS, Albright S, Lindhout D, Cole WG, Henn W, Knoll JH, Owen MJ, Mertelsmann R, Zabel BU, Olsen BR (1997). Mutations involving the transcription factor CBFA1 cause cleidocranial dysplasia. *Cell*. 89, 773-779.

Nakashima K, Zhou X, Kunkel G, Zhang Z, Deng JM, Behringer RR, de Crombrugghe B (2002). The novel zinc finger-containing transcription factor osterix is required for osteoblast differentiation and bone formation. *Cell*. 108:17-29.

Newberry EP, Latifi T, Towler DA (1998). Reciprocal regulation of osteocalcin transcription by the homeodomain proteins Msx2 and Dlx5. *Biochemistry*. 37, 16360-16368.

Nieman BJ, Blank MC, Roman BB, Henkelman RM, Millen KJ (2012). If the skull fits: magnetic resonance imaging and microcomputed tomography for combined analysis of brain and skull phenotypes in the mouse. *Physiol Genomics*. 44, 992-1002.

Nusse R (2012). Wnt signaling. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 1, 4.

Ohba S, Kawaguchi H, Kugimiya F, Ogasawara T, Kawamura N, Saito T, Ikeda T, Fujii K, Miyajima T, Kuramochi A, Miyashita T, Oda H, Nakamura K, Takato T, Chung UI (2008). Patched1 haploinsufficiency increases adult bone mass and modulates Gli3 repressor activity. *Dev Cell*. 14, 689-699.

Oldridge M, Zackai EH, McDonald-McGinn DM, Iseki S, Morriss-Kay GM, Twigg SR, Johnson D, Wall SA, Jiang W, Theda C, Jabs EW, Wilkie AO (1999). De novo alu-element insertions in FGFR2 identify a distinct pathological basis for Apert syndrome. *Am J Hum Genet*. 64, 446-461.

Opperman LA, Sweeney TM, Redmon J, Persing JA, Ogle RC (1993). Tissue interactions with underlying dura mater inhibit osseus obliteration of developing cranial sutures developmental dynamics. *Dev Dyn.* 198, 312–322.

Opperman LA, Passarelli RW, Morgan EP, Reintjes M, Ogle RC (1995). Cranial sutures require tissue interactions with dura mater to resist osseous obliteration in vitro. *J Bone Miner Res.* 10, 1978–1987.

Opperman LA (2000). Cranial sutures as intramembranous bone growth sites. Dev Dyn. 219, 472-485.

Opperman LA, Fernandez CR, So S, Rawlins JT (2006). Erk1/2 signaling is required for Tgf-beta2-induced suture closure. *Dev Dyn.* 235, 1292–1299.

Ornitz DM, Itoh N (2015). The Fibroblast Growth Factor signaling pathway. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol. Mar 13.

Ornitz DM, Xu J, Colvin JS, McEwen DG, MacArthur CA, Coulier F, Gao G, Goldfarb M (1996). Receptor specificity of the fibroblast growth factor family. *J Biol Chem.* 271, 15292-15297.

O'Rourke MP, Soo K, Behringer RR, Hui CC, Tam PP (2002). Twist plays an essential role in FGF and SHH signal transduction during mouse limb development. *Dev Biol.* 248, 143-156.

Osumi-Yamashita N, Ninomiya Y, Doi H, Eto K (1994). The contribution of both forebrain and midbrain crest cells to the mesenchyme in the frontonasal mass of mouse embryos. *Dev Biol.* 164, 409-419.

Otto F, Thornell AP, Crompton T, Denzel A, Gilmour KC, Rosewell IR, Stamp GW, Beddington RS, Mundlos S, Olsen BR, Selby PB, Owen MJ (1997). Cbfa1, a candidate gene for cleidocranial dysplasia syndrome, is essential for osteoblast differentiation and bone development. *Cell*. 89, 765-771.

Pan Y, Bai CB, Joyner AL, Wang B (2006). Sonic hedgehog signaling regulates Gli2 transcriptional activity by suppressing its processing and degradation. *Mol Cell Biol*. 26, 3365-3377.

Park HL, Bai C, Platt KA, Matise MP, Beeghly A, Hui CC, Nakashima M, Joyner AL (2000). Mouse Gli1 mutants are viable but have defects in SHH signaling in combination with a Gli2 mutation. *Development*. 127, 1593-1605.

Park MH, Shin HI, Choi JY, Nam SH, Kim YJ, Kim HJ, Ryoo HM (2001). Differential expression patterns of Runx2 isoforms in cranial suture morphogenesis. *J Bone Miner Res.* 16, 885-892.

Partanen J, Schwartz L, Rossant J (1998). Opposite phenotypes of hypomorphic and Y766 phosphorylation site mutations reveal a function for Fgfr1 in anteroposterior patterning of mouse embryos. *Genes Dev.* 12, 2332-2344.

Passos-Bueno MR, Serti Eacute AE, Jehee FS, Fanganiello R, Yeh E (2008). Genetics of craniosynostosis: genes, syndromes, mutations and genotype-phenotype correlations. *Front Oral Biol.* 12, 107–143.

Pedersen LB, Rosenbaum JL (2008). Intraflagellar transport (IFT) role in ciliary assembly, resorption and signalling. *Curr Top Dev Biol.* 85, 23-61.

Porter JA, Ekker SC, Park WJ, von Kessler DP, Young KE, Chen CH, Ma Y, Woods AS, Cotter RJ, Koonin EV, Beachy PA (1996). Hedgehog patterning activity: role of a lipophilic modification mediated by the carboxy-terminal autoprocessing domain. *Cell*. 86, 21-34.

Quarto N, Wan DC, Kwan MD, Panetta NJ, Li S, Longaker MT (2010). Origin matters: differences in embryonic tissue origin and Wnt signaling determine the osteogenic potential and healing capacity of frontal and parietal calvarial bones. *J Bone Miner Res.* 25, 1680-1694.

Rallu M, Machold R, Gaiano N, Corbin JG, McMahon AP, Fishell G (2002). Dorsoventral patterning is established in the telencephalon of mutants lacking both Gli3 and Hedgehog signaling. *Development*. 129, 4963-4974.

Regard JB, Malhotra D, Gvozdenovic-Jeremic J, Josey M, Chen M, Weinstein LS, Lu J, Shore EM, Kaplan FS, Yang Y (2013). Activation of Hedgehog signaling by loss of GNAS causes heterotopic ossification. *Nat Med.* 19, 1505-1512.

Reinhold MI, Abe M, Kapadia RM, Liao Z, Naski MC (2004). FGF18 represses noggin expression and is induced by calcineurin. *J Biol Chem.* 279, 38209-38219.

Rice DP, Kim HJ, Thesleff I (1999). Apoptosis in murine calvarial bone and suture development. *Eur J Oral Sci.* 107, 265-275.

Rice DP, Åberg T, Chan Y, Tang Z, Kettunen PJ, Pakarinen L, Maxson RE, Thesleff I (2000). Integration of FGF and TWIST in calvarial bone and suture development. *Development*. 127, 1845-1855.

Rice DP, Rice R, Thesleff I (2003). Molecular mechanisms in calvarial bone and suture development, and their relation to craniosynostosis. *Eur J Orthod*. 25,139-148.

Rice DP (2008a). Craniofacial sutures. Development, disease and treatment. Preface. Front Oral Biol. 12:xi.

Rice DP (2008b). Clinical features of syndromic craniosynostosis. Front Oral Biol. 12, 91-106.

Rice R, Rice DP, Olsen BR, Thesleff I (2003). Progression of calvarial bone development requires Foxc1 regulation of Msx2 and Alx4. *Dev Biol.* 262, 75-87.

Rice R, Spencer-Dene B, Connor EC, Gritli-Linde A, McMahon AP, Dickson C, Thesleff I, Rice DP (2004). Disruption of Fgf10/Fgfr2b-coordinated epithelial-mesenchymal interactions causes cleft palate. *J Clin Invest.* 113, 1692-1700.

Rice R, Rice DP, Thesleff I (2005). Foxc1 integrates Fgf and Bmp signalling independently of twist or noggin during calvarial bone development. *Dev Dyn.* 233, 847-852.

Rice R, Connor E, Rice DP (2006). Expression patterns of Hedgehog signalling pathway members during mouse palate development. *Gene Expr Patterns*. 6, 206-212.

Richtsmeier JT, Flaherty K (2013). Hand in glove: brain and skull in development and dysmorphogenesis. *Acta Neuropathol.* 125, 469-489.

Robledo RF, Rajan L, Li X, Lufkin T (2002). The Dlx5 and Dlx6 homeobox genes are essential for craniofacial, axial, and appendicular skeletal development. *Genes Dev.* 16, 1089-1101.

Rohatgi R, Milenkovic L, Scott MP (2007). Patched1 regulates hedgehog signaling at the primary cilium. *Science*. 317, 372-376.

Ross S, Hill CS (2008). How the Smads regulate transcription. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 40, 383-408.

Roth DA, Bradley JP, Levine JP, McMullen HF, McCarthy JG, Longaker MT (1996). Studies in cranial suture biology: part II. Role of the dura in cranial suture fusion. *Plast Reconstr Surg*. 97, 693-699.

Roth DA, Gold LI, Han VK, McCarthy JG, Sung JJ, Wisoff JH, Longaker MT (1997). Immunolocalization of transforming growth factor beta 1, beta 2, and beta 3 and insulin-like growth factor I in premature cranial suture fusion. *Plast Reconstr Surg.* 99, 300-309, discussion 310-316.

Roybal PG, Wu NL, Sun J, Ting MC, Schafer CA, Maxson RE (2010). Inactivation of Msx1 and Msx2 in neural crest reveals an unexpected role in suppressing heterotopic bone formation in the head. *Dev Biol.* 343, 28-39.

Ryoo HM, Hoffmann HM, Beumer T, Frenkel B, Towler DA, Stein GS, Stein JL, van Wijnen AJ, Lian JB (1997). Stage-specific expression of Dlx-5 during osteoblast differentiation: involvement in regulation of osteocalcin gene expression. *Mol Endocrinol.* 11, 1681-1694.

Ryoo HM, Lee MH, Kim YJ (2006). Critical molecular switches involved in BMP-2-induced osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal cells. *Gene*. 366, 51-57.

Sahar DE, Longaker MT, Quarto N (2005). Sox9 neural crest determinant gene controls patterning and closure of the posterior frontal cranial suture. *Dev Biol.* 280, 344-361.

Sakou T, Onishi T, Yamamoto T, Nagamine T, Sampath T, Ten Dijke P (1999). Localization of Smads, the TGFbeta family intracellular signaling components during endochondral ossification. *J Bone Miner Res.* 14, 1145–1152.

Sanchez-Lara PA, Graham JM Jr, Hing AV, Lee J, Cunningham M (2007). The morphogenesis of wormian bones: a study of craniosynostosis and purposeful cranial deformation. *Am J Med Genet A*. 143A, 3243-3251.

Sanders TA, Llagostera E, Barna M (2013). Specialized filopodia direct long-range transport of SHH during vertebrate tissue patterning. *Nature*. 497, 628-632.

Sasaki H, Nishizaki Y, Hui C, Nakafuku M, Kondoh H (1999). Regulation of Gli2 and Gli3 activities by an aminoterminal repression domain: implication of Gli2 and Gli3 as primary mediators of Shh signaling. *Development*. 126, 3915-3924.

Sasaki T, Ito Y, Bringas P Jr, Chou S, Urata MM, Slavkin H, Chai Y (2006). TGFbeta-mediated FGF signaling is crucial for regulating cranial neural crest cell proliferation during frontal bone development. *Development*. 133, 371-381.

Satokata I, Ma L, Ohshima H, Bei M, Woo I, Nishizawa K, Maeda T, Takano Y, Uchiyama M, Heaney S, Peters H, Tang Z, Maxson R, Maas R (2000). Msx2 deficiency in mice causes pleiotropic defects in bone growth and ectodermal organ formation. *Nat Genet*. 24, 391-395.

Sensenbrenner JA, Dorst JP, Owens RP (1975). New syndrome of skeletal, dental and hair anomalies. *Birth Defects Orig Artic Ser.* 11, 372-379.

Seppälä M, Depew MJ, Martinelli DC, Fan CM, Sharpe PT, Cobourne MT (2007). Gas1 is a modifier for holoprosencephaly and genetically interacts with sonic hedgehog. *J Clin Invest*. 117, 1575-1584.

Settle SH Jr, Rountree RB, Sinha A, Thacker A, Higgins K, Kingsley DM (2003). Multiple joint and skeletal patterning defects caused by single and double mutations in the mouse Gdf6 and Gdf5 genes. *Dev Biol.* 254, 116-130.

Shimoyama A, Wada M, Ikeda F, Hata K, Matsubara T, Nifuji A, Noda M, Amano K, Yamaguchi A, Nishimura R, Yoneda T (2007). Ihh/Gli2 signaling promotes osteoblast differentiation by regulating Runx2 expression and function. *Mol Biol Cell*. 18, 2411-2418.

Solem RC, Eames BF, Tokita M, Schneider RA (2011). Mesenchymal and mechanical mechanisms of secondary cartilage induction. *Dev Biol.* 356, 28-39.

Sood S, Eldadah ZA, Krause WL, McIntosh I, Dietz HC (1996). Mutation in fibrillin-1 and the Marfanoidcraniosynostosis (Shprintzen-Goldberg) syndrome. *Nat Genet*. 12, 209-211.

Spagnoli A, O'Rear L, Chandler RL, Granero-Molto F, Mortlock DP, Gorska AE, Weis JA, Longobardi L, Chytil A, Shimer K, Moses HL (2007). TGF-beta signaling is essential for joint morphogenesis. *J Cell Biol*. 177, 1105-1117.

Speksnijder L, Cohen-Overbeek TE, Knapen MF, Lunshof SM, Hoogeboom AJ, van den Ouwenland AM, de Coo IF, Lequin MH, Bolz HJ, Bergmann C, Biesecker LG, Willems PJ, Wessels MW (2013). A de novo GLI3 mutation in a patient with acrocallosal syndrome. *Am J Med Genet A*. 161A, 1394-1400.

Stevens HE, Smith KM, Maragnoli ME, Fagel D, Borok E, Shanabrough M, Horvath TL, Vaccarino FM (2010). Fgfr2 is required for the development of the medial prefrontal cortex and its connections with limbic circuits. *J Neurosci*. 30, 5590-5602.

St-Jacques B, Hammerschmidt M, McMahon AP (1999). Indian hedgehog signaling regulates proliferation and differentiation of chondrocytes and is essential for bone formation. *Genes Dev.* 13, 2072-2086.

Stock M, Otto F (2005). Control of RUNX2 isoform expression: the role of promoters and enhancers. *J Cell Biochem*. 95: 506–517.

Sun J, Ishii M, Ting MC, Maxson R (2013). Foxc1 controls the growth of the murine frontal bone rudiment by direct regulation of a Bmp response threshold of Msx2. *Development*. 140, 1034-1044.

Tabler JM, Barrell WB, Szabo-Rogers HL, Healy C, Yeung Y, Perdiguero EG, Schulz C, Yannakoudakis BZ, Mesbahi A, Wlodarczyk B, Geissmann F, Finnell RH, Wallingford JB, Liu KJ (2013). Fuz mutant mice reveal shared mechanisms between ciliopathies and FGF-related syndromes. *Dev Cell*. 25, 623-635.

Taipale J, Cooper MK, Maiti T, Beachy PA (2002). Patched acts catalytically to suppress the activity of Smoothened. *Nature*. 418, 892-897.

Takahashi N, Udagawa U, Takami M, Suda T (2002). Cells of bone: osteoclast generation. *Principles of Bone Biology, Vol.1* (ed. J. P. Bilezikian, L. G. Raisz and G. A. Rodan), pp. 109-126. New York: Academic Press.

Temiyasathit S, Jacobs CR (2010). Osteocyte primary cilium and its role in bone mechanotransduction. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 1192, 422-428.

Teplyuk NM, Haupt LM, Ling L, Dombrowski C, Mun FK, Nathan SS, Lian JB, Stein JL, Stein GS, Cool SM, van Wijnen AJ (2009). The osteogenic transcription factor Runx2 regulates components of the fibroblast growth factor/proteoglycan signaling axis in osteoblasts. *J Cell Biochem.* 107, 144-154.

te Welscher P, Zuniga A, Kuijper S, Drenth T, Goedemans HJ, Meijlink F, Zeller R (2002). Progression of vertebrate limb development through SHH-mediated counteraction of GLI3. *Science*. 298, 827-830.
Tian H, Tenzen T, McMahon AP (2004). Dose dependency of Disp1 and genetic interaction between Disp1 and other hedgehog signaling components in the mouse. *Development*. 131, 4021-4033.

Ting MC, Wu NL, Roybal PG, Sun J, Liu L, Yen Y, Maxson RE Jr. (2009). EphA4 as an effector of Twist1 in the guidance of osteogenic precursor cells during calvarial bone growth and in craniosynostosis. *Development*. 136, 855-864.

Tran TH, Jarrell A, Zentner GE, Welsh A, Brownell I, Scacheri PC, Atit R (2010). Role of canonical Wnt signaling/β-catenin via Dermo1 in cranial dermal cell development. *Development*. 137, 3973-3984.

Tu X, Joeng KS, Long F (2011). Indian hedgehog requires additional effectors besides Runx2 to induce osteoblast differentiation. *Dev Biol.* 362, 76-82.

Tukachinsky H, Kuzmickas RP, Jao CY, Liu J, Salic A (2012). Dispatched and scube mediate the efficient secretion of the cholesterol-modified hedgehog ligand. *Cell Rep.* 2, 308-320.

Twigg SR, Kan R, Babbs C, Bochukova EG, Robertson SP, Wall SA, Morriss-Kay GM, Wilkie AO (2004). Mutations of ephrin-B1 (EFNB1), a marker of tissue boundary formation, cause craniofrontonasal syndrome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 101, 8652-8657.

Twigg SR, Healy C, Babbs C, Sharpe JA, Wood WG, Sharpe PT, Morriss-Kay GM, Wilkie AO (2009). Skeletal analysis of the Fgfr3(P244R) mouse, a genetic model for the Muenke craniosynostosis syndrome. *Dev Dyn.* 238, 331-342.

Tyler MS, Hall BK (1977). Epithelial influences on skeletogenesis in the mandible of the embryonic chick. *Anat Rec.* 188, 229-239.

Tyler MS (1983). Development of the frontal bone and cranial meninges in the embryonic chick: an experimental study of tissue interactions. *Anat Rec.* 206, 61-70.

van Amerongen R, Fuerer C, Mizutani M, Nusse R (2012). Wnt5a can both activate and repress Wnt/β -catenin signaling during mouse embryonic development. *Dev Biol*. 369, 101-114.

Varjosalo M, Taipale J (2007). Hedgehog signaling. J Cell Sci. 120, 3-6.

Varvagiannis K, Stefanidou A, Gyftodimou Y, Lord H, Williams L, Sarri C, Pandelia E, Bazopoulou-Kyrkanidou E, Noakes C, Lester T, Wilkie AO, Petersen MB (2013). Pure De Novo Partial Trisomy 6p in a Girl with Craniosynostosis. *Am J Med Genet A*. 161A, 343-351.

Veltmaat JM, Relaix F, Le LT, Kratochwil K, Sala FG, van Veelen W, Rice R, Spencer-Dene B, Mailleux AA, Rice DP, Thiery JP, Bellusci S (2006). Gli3-mediated somitic Fgf10 expression gradients are required for the induction and patterning of mammary epithelium along the embryonic axes. *Development*. 133, 2325-2335.

Vij K, Mao JJ (2006). Geometry and cell density of rat craniofacial sutures during early postnatal development and upon in vivo cyclic loading. *Bone*. 38, 722-730.

Vivatbutsiri P, Ichinose S, Hytonen M, Sainio K, Eto K, Iseki S (2008). Impaired meningeal development in association with apical expansion of calvarial bone osteogenesis in the Foxc1 mutant. *J Anat.* 212, 603–611.

Vortkamp A, Gessler M, Grzeschik KH (1991). GLI3 zinc-finger gene interrupted by translocations in Greig syndrome families. *Nature*. 352, 539-540.

Vortkamp A, Franz T, Gessler M, Grzeschik KH (1992). Deletion of GLI3 supports the homology of the human Greig cephalopolysyndactyly syndrome (GCPS) and the mouse mutant extra toes (Xt). *Mamm Genome*. 3, 461-463.

Wagner M, Siddiqui MA (2007). Signal transduction in early heart development (I): cardiogenic induction and heart tube formation. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)*. 232, 852-865.

Wang Y, Xiao R, Yang F, Karim BO, Iacovelli AJ, Cai J, Lerner CP, Richtsmeier JT, Leszl JM, Hill CA, Yu K, Ornitz DM, Elisseeff J, Huso DL, Jabs EW (2005). Abnormalities in cartilage and bone development in the Apert syndrome FGFR2(+/S252W) mouse. *Development*. 132, 3537-3548.

Warren SM, Brunet LJ, Harland RM, Economides AN, Longaker MT (2003). The BMP antagonist noggin regulates cranial suture fusion. *Nature*. 422, 625-629.

Wen X, Lai CK, Evangelista M, Hongo JA, de Sauvage FJ, Scales SJ (2010). Kinetics of hedgehog-dependent fulllength Gli3 accumulation in primary cilia and subsequent degradation. *Mol Cell Biol*. 30, 1910-1922.

Whitman M (1998). Smads and early developmental signaling by the TGFbeta superfamily. Genes Dev. 12, 2445–2462.

Wieland I, Jakubiczka S, Muschke P, Cohen M, Thiele H, Gerlach KL, Adams RH, Wieacker P (2004). Mutations of the ephrin-B1 gene cause craniofrontonasal syndrome. *Am J Hum Genet*. 74, 1209-1215.

Wilkie AO, Tang Z, Elanko N, Walsh S, Twigg SR, Hurst JA, Wall SA, Chrzanowska KH, Maxson RE Jr (2000). Functional haploinsufficiency of the human homeobox gene MSX2 causes defects in skull ossification. *Nat Genet.* 24, 387-390.

Wilkie AO, Morriss-Kay GM (2001). Genetics of craniofacial development and malformation. *Nat Rev Genet.* 2, 458–468.

Wurst W, Auerbach AB, Joyner AL (1994). Multiple developmental defects in Engrailed-1 mutant mice: an early midhindbrain deletion and patterning defects in forelimbs and sternum. *Development*. 120, 2065-2075.

Xiao L, Sobue T, Esliger A, Kronenberg MS, Coffin JD, Doetschman T, Hurley MM (2010). Disruption of the Fgf2 gene activates the adipogenic and suppresses the osteogenic program in mesenchymal marrow stromal stem cells. *Bone*. 47, 360-370.

Xiao ZS, Thomas R, Hinson TK, Quarles LD (1998). Genomic structure and isoform expression of the mouse, rat and human Cbfa1/Osf2 transcription factor. *Gene*. 214, 187-197.

Xie J, Murone M, Luoh SM, Ryan A, Gu Q, Zhang C, Bonifas JM, Lam CW, Hynes M, Goddard A, Rosenthal A, Epstein EH Jr, de Sauvage FJ (1998). Activating Smoothened mutations in sporadic basal-cell carcinoma. *Nature*. 391, 90-92.

Yamaguchi TP, Harpal K, Henkemeyer M, Rossant J (1994). fgfr-1 is required for embryonic growth and mesodermal patterning during mouse gastrulation. *Genes Dev.* 8, 3032-3044.

Yang C, Chen W, Chen Y, Jiang J (2012). Smoothened transduces Hedgehog signal by forming a complex with Evc/Evc2. *Cell Res.* 22, 1593-1604.

Yen HY, Ting MC, Maxson RE (2010). Jagged1 functions downstream of Twist1 in the specification of the coronal suture and the formation of a boundary between osteogenic and non-osteogenic cells. *Dev Biol.* 347, 258-270.

Yoshida CA, Yamamoto H, Fujita T, Furuichi T, Ito K, Inoue K, Yamana K, Zanma A, Takada K, Ito Y, Komori T (2004). Runx2 and Runx3 are essential for chondrocyte maturation, and Runx2 regulates limb growth through induction of Indian hedgehog. *Genes Dev.* 18, 952-963.

Yoshida T, Vivatbutsiri P, Morriss-Kay G, Saga Y, Iseki S (2008). Cell lineage in mammalian craniofacial mesenchyme. *Mech Dev.* 125, 797-808.

Young DW, Hassan MQ, Pratap J, Galindo M, Zaidi SK, Lee SH, Yang X, Xie R, Javed A, Underwood JM, Furcinitti P, Imbalzano AN, Penman S, Nickerson JA, Montecino MA, Lian JB, Stein JL, van Wijnen AJ, Stein GS (2007). Mitotic Occupancy and Lineage-Specific Transcriptional Control of rRNA Genes by Runx2. *Nature*. 445, 442-446.

Yu HM, Jerchow B, Sheu TJ, Liu B, Costantini F, Puzas JE, Birchmeier W, Hsu W (2005). The role of Axin2 in calvarial morphogenesis and craniosynostosis. *Development*. 132, 1995-2005.

Yu K, Herr AB, Waksman G, Ornitz DM (2000). Loss of fibroblast growth factor receptor 2 ligand-binding specificity in Apert syndrome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 97, 14536-14541.

Yu K, Xu J, Liu Z, Sosic D, Shao J, Olson EN, Towler DA, Ornitz DM (2003). Conditional inactivation of FGF receptor 2 reveals an essential role for FGF signaling in the regulation of osteoblast function and bone growth. *Development*. 130, 3063-3074.

Yu W, McDonnell K, Taketo MM, Bai CB (2008). Wnt signaling determines ventral spinal cord cell fates in a timedependent manner. *Development*. 135, 3687-3696.

Zeng X, Goetz JA, Suber LM, Scott WJ Jr, Schreiner CM, Robbins DJ (2001). A freely diffusible form of Sonic hedgehog mediates long-range signalling. *Nature*. 411, 716-720.

Zhang P, Greendorfer JS, Jiao J, Kelpke SC, Thompson JA (2006). Alternatively spliced FGFR-1 isoforms differentially modulate endothelial cell activation of c-YES. *Arch Biochem Biophys.* 450, 50-62.

Zhang Z, Sui P, Dong A, Hassell J, Cserjesi P, Chen YT, Behringer RR, Sun X (2010). Preaxial polydactyly: interactions among ETV, TWIST1 and HAND2 control anterior-posterior patterning of the limb. *Development*. 137, 3417-3426.

Zhang Z, Wlodarczyk BJ, Niederreither K, Venugopalan S, Florez S, Finnell RH, Amendt BA (2011). Fuz regulates craniofacial development through tissue specific responses to signaling factors. *PLoS One*. 6, e24608.

Zhao H, Feng J, Ho TV, Grimes W, Urata M, Chai Y (2015). The suture provides a niche for mesenchymal stem cells of craniofacial bones. *Nat Cell Biol.* 17, 386-396.

Zhou H, Zou S, Lan Y, Fei W, Jiang R, Hu J (2014). Smad7 modulates TGFβ signaling during cranial suture development to maintain suture patency. *J Bone Miner Res.* 29, 716-724.

Zhou YX, Xu X, Chen L, Li C, Brodie SG, Deng CX (2000). A Pro250Arg substitution in mouse Fgfr1 causes increased expression of Cbfa1 and premature fusion of calvarial sutures. *Hum Mol Genet*. 9, 2001-2008.

Åberg T, Wozney J, Thesleff I (1997). Expression patterns of bone morphogenetic proteins (Bmps) in the developing mouse tooth suggest roles in morphogenesis and cell differentiation. *Dev Dyn.* 210, 383-396.

Åberg T, Cavender A, Gaikwad JS, Bronckers AL, Wang X, Waltimo-Sirén J, Thesleff I, D'Souza RN (2004). Phenotypic changes in dentition of Runx2 homozygote-null mutant mice. *J Histochem Cytochem*. 52, 131-139.

Åberg T, Rice R, Rice D, Thesleff I, Waltimo-Sirén J (2005). Chondrogenic potential of mouse calvarial mesenchyme. *J Histochem Cytochem*. 53, 653-663.